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now be read.
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Official Transcript of the International
¥litary Tribunal in the matter of the

United States of America, the French Republic
the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern
Ireland, and the Union of Soviet Socialist Re-
publics, against Hermun ./ilhelm Goering et al,
Defendants, sitting at Nurnberg, Germany, on

31 August 1946, 1000-1830, Lord Justice lawrence,
presiding,

DENT: The judgment of the International lMilitary Tribunal will

I shall not read the title and the formal narts,
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JUDGMENT

On the 8th August 1945, the Government of the United Kingdom of
Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the Government of the United States
of America, the Provisional Government of the French Republic, and the
Government of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics entered into an
agrecerent establishing this Tribunal for the trial of lar Criminals
whose offences have no particular geographical location. In accordance
with Article 5, the fcllowing Governments of the United Naticns have
expressed their adherence to the Agreement:

Greece, Denmark, Yugoslavia, the Netherlands,

Czechoslovakia, Poland, Belgium, Ethiopia, Australia
3 > (= J I 5 3

Honduras, Noerway, Panama, Luxenburg, Haiti, New Zealand,
India, Venczuela, Uruguay, and Paraguay.

By the Charter énnexed to the Agreement, the constitution,
jurisdiction and functions of the Tribunal were defined.

The Tribunal was invested with power to try and punish persons who
had committed crimes against peace, war crimes and crimes against humanity
as defined in the Charter,

The Charter also provided tlat at the trial of any individ:al member
of any group or organization the Tribunal ray declare (in connecticn with
any act of which the individual may be convicted) that the groun or

organization of which the individual w s a member was s crimin 1 or- aniration
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In Berlin, on the 18th October 1945, in accordance with Article %I

l';'

of the Charter, an indictment was lodged against the defendants named
in the caption above, who had been designated by the Committee of the
Chief Prosecutors of the signatory Powers as major war criminals,
A copy ¢f the indictment in the German language was served 17on
each defendant in custody at least thirty days before the Trial opened.
This indictment charges the defendants with crimes against peace by
the planning, preparation, initiation and waging of wars of agz;ression,
which were also wars in violation of international treaties, agrcements
and assurances: with war crines: and with crimes against humanity.
The defendants are alsc charged with participating in the formulation or
execution of a common pl.n cr conspiracy to ccmmit all these crimes. The
Tribunal was further asked by the Prosecution to declare all the named
groups or organizations to be criminal within the meaning of the Charter,
The defendant Robert Ley committed suicide in prison on the 25th
October 1945. On the 15th November 1945 the Tribunal decided that the
defendant Gustav Krupp von Bohlen and Halback could not then be tried
because of his physical and mental condition, but that the charges against
him in the indictment should be retained for trial there:fter, if the
phusical and mental condition of the defendant should permit. Cn the
17th November 1945 the Tribunal cccided to try the defendant Bormann
in his absence under the provisions of Article 12 of the Ch .rter. After
argument, and consideration of full medical reports, und a statement from
the defendant himself, the Tribunal decided on the lst December 1945 that

no grounds existed for a postponement of the trial against the defendart

._r;



Hess because of his mental condition. A similar dgcis-

ion wes made in the ease of the defendant Strelicher,

In sccordance with isrticles 16 and 23 of the Charter,
Counsel were either chosen by the defendants in custody then-
selves, or at thelr request were appointed by the Tribunal.
In his absence the Tribunsl appointeé Counsel for the defen-
dant Bormenn, and also assigned Counsel to represent the
named g¢roups oxr orgenizations.

The Trial which was conducted in four lan;uages - Znglishy
Russian, French and Gerian - begun on the 20th November 1945,
and pleas oi "ot Guilty® were made by all the defendents ex-
cept bormann,

The heuring: of evidence ané the speceches of Ccunsel
cornicluded on 3lst august 1946,

L03 open sessions of the Tribunsl have been held. 33

0
ct

witnesses ¢ave evidence orally for the Prosecution azgain
the individusl defendants, «nd 61 : itnesses, in addition to

19 of the defendants, geve evidesnce 10r the Defense.

()

» further 143 witnesses geve evidence for the Defense by
meens of written answers to interrogetories.
The Tribunal appointed Commnissioners to hear evidernce |

relating to the orgenisations, and 101 witnesses were heard

for the Defense beiore the Commissioners, and 1,809 affidavits

froa other witnesses were submitted. Six reports were also

subiitted, summarizing the contents of a great number of
iurther affidevits.

38,000 affidavits, signed by 155,000 people, were sub-
mitted on behali oi the Political Leaders, 136,213 on behalf

of the 538, 10,00C on behalf of the 34, 7,000 on behelf
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® .
of the 3D, 3,000 on behalf of the CGeneral Staff and 0K/, and
2,000 on behalf of the Gestapo.

The Tribunsl itself heard 22 witnesses for the organiza-
tions. The documents tendered in evidence for the presecution
of the individucl defendcnts wnd the orpenizations nuvbered
several thousgnds. a coiiplete stenograplh:ic record oi' every-

thing said in court hes been iiade, as well as an electrical

scording of ell the proceedings.

H

Copises of @ll the docunents put in evidence by the
Prosecution nave been supnlicd to the Defense in the Gernan
language. The applications nade by the defendents for the
procuction of vitnesses andé docuwients reise¢ serious problems

in some instances, on account of the unsettled state of the

country. It was etlso necessary to linit the nwiber of witnesses

to be ¢called, in order to have an expeditious hearing, in
accordance with srticle 18 (c) of the Charter. The Tribunal,
after exanination, ¢ranted 2ll those applications which in
their opinion were relevant to the defense of sny defendant
or named group or orgenization, and were not cunulative.
Facilities were provided for obtaining those Witnesses and
documents grented througsh the office of the General Sscretary
established by the “rivunal.

Much oi the evidence presented to the Trivunal on behalf
of the Prosecution was docu.entary evidence, captured by the
Allied armies in Geraan army headquarters, Covernment buildings,
ané elsevhere. Some 0i the docuwients were found in salt mines,
buried in the ground, hidden behind felse walls and in other
places thouyht to be secure from discovery. The cese, there-
fore, sgeinst the defendants rests 1in a large measure on

cocuinents -
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of their own making, the authenticity of which has not been challenged

except in one or two cases,

The Charter Provisions
The individual defendants are indicted under Article 6 of the

Charter, which is as follows:

"Article 6, The Tribunal established b y the Agreement
referred t o in Article 1 hereof for the trial and punishemmt
of the major war criminals of the European Axis countries
shall have the power to try and punish persons who, acting
in the interests of the European Axis countries, whether

as individuals or as members of organizations, committed
any of the following crimes:

"The following acts, or any of them, are crimes coming
within the jurisdiction of the Tribunal for which there
shall be individual responsibility:

\ "(a) Crimes Against Peace: namely, planning, prenaration,
initiation or waging of a war of aggression, or a war in
violation of ihtermational treaties, agreements or assurances,
or participation in a common plan or conspiracy for the
accomplishment of any of thc foregoing:

"(b) War Crimes: namely, violations of the laws or customs
of war, Such violations shall include, but not be limited

to murder, ill-treatment or deportation to slave labor or

for any other purpose of civilian population eof or in occupied
territory, murder or ill-treatment of prisoners of war or
persons on the seas, killing of hostages, plunder of public

or private property, wanton destruction of cities, towns or
villages, or devastation not justified by military necessity:

"(c) Crimes Against Humanity: namely, murder, extermination,
enslavement, deportation; and other inhumane acts committed
against any civilian population, before or during the war,

or persecutions on political, racial or religious grounds in
execution of or in connection with any crime within the
jurisdiction of the Tribunal, whether or not in violation of the
domestic law of the country where perpetrated.

"Teaders, organizers, instigators and accomplices participating
in the formulation or execution of a common plan or consniracy
to commit any of the foregoing crimes are responsible for all
acts performed by any perscns in execution of sich plan,"

These provisions are binding upon the Tribunal as the law to be

applied to the case. The Tribunal will later disciss them in more



detull; but, before deing so, it is necessary to review the

facis. For the purpose of showing the background of the
aggressive war and war crimes charged in the incdictment,

the Uribunal will begin by reviewing some of the events

that followed the first world wer, end in particulsr, by
tr.cing thcAgrOMth of the Nezi Paerty under Hitler's leaderskip
to = position of supreme power from which it controlled the
destiny oi the whole Ger.ian people, and peved the way for

the alleged commission of all the crimes cherged ageinst

the defendants,

e e |



THE NAZI REGIME IN GERMANY

THE ORIGIN AND ATM CE THE NAZI PARTY

On 5th Janvary 1919, not two months after the conclusion of the
Armistice which ended the first World War, and six months before the
signing of the Peace Treaties at Versailles, ‘there came into being in
Germany a small political party czlled the German Labor Party. On
the 12th September 1919 Adolph Hitler became a member of this party, and
at the first public meeting held in Munich, on 24th Febr:ary 1920, he
announced the party's »rogram, That program, which remained unsltered
until the pariy was dissolved in 1945, consisted of twenty-five points, of
which the following fiwve are of particular interest on account of the light
they throw on the matters with which the Tribunal is concerned:

"Point 1. We demand the unification of all Germans in the

Greater Germany, on the basis of the right of sclf-determination

of peoples.

Point 2, Wec demand cquality of rights for the Geraan people in

respcet to the other nations; abrogation of the peace treaties of

Versailles and Saint Germain.

Point 3., We demand land and territory for the sustenance of our

pcople, and the colonization of ocur surplus population.

Point 4. Only a member of the race can be a citizen. A member

of the race can only be one who is of German blood, without

consideration of crecd., Consequently no Jew can be a member of

The race 5. o s

FPoint 22. We dermand abolition of the mercerary troops and form-

ation of a national arnmy."




Of these aims, the one *hich seems to have bheen regerded
as the most importaent, and which figured in almost every
public speech, was the removcl of the "disgrace™ of the
Armistice, and the restrictions of the peace treaties of

Saint Germaip. In a typical speech at
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yunich on the 13%th &pril 1923, fo6F example, Hitler seid
with regard to the Tireaty of Versailles:

ifhe treaty was maede in order to bring twenty

million Geriians to their decthis, and to ruin the

Germen nation ... st its foundation our movement

fornulated three deasands,

"1, Setting aside of the Peacy Treaty

2. Unifiestion of =ll Germans.
3. Lend and soil to feed our nation.

The demand for the unificction of &ll Germans in the
Greater Geriany weas to play a large part in the events
preceding the seizurc of nustria end Czechoslovakiaj; the
abrogation of the Treety of Vers.illes was to become a
decisive motive in atitempting to justify the policy of the
German Government; the demend foxr land was to be ths

=

justification for the secquisition of "liwing space"™ at the

e¢xpense of other nations; the expulsion of the Jews from
;- 3

acmbersliip of the race of CGerman blood was to lead to the
atrocities aguinst the Jewish people; and the demand for a

national aray was to result in mecsures of rearmament on the
largest possible scale, and ultimately to war.

On the 29th July 1921, the Party which had changed its
neme o National So0ziclistische Deutsche arbeiter Partei
(NoDaP) was reorgunized, Hitler becoming the first "Chairman™
It was in this year thet the Sturiabteilung or SA was

r at its head, &s & private

C)

founded, with Hitls
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para-military force, which allegedly was to be used for the purpose of
protecting NSDAP leaders from attack by rival political parties, and
preserving order at NSDAF meetings, but in reality was used for fighting
political opponents on the streets. In larch 1¢23 the defendant Goering
was appointed head of the SA.

The procedure within the Tarty was governed in the most absolte way
by the "leadership principle" (Fuehrerprinzipj.

.

According to the principle, each Fuehrer has the right to govern,
adndnister or decree, subject toc no control of any kind and at his complete
discretion, subject only to the orders he received from above,

This principle applied in the first instance to Hitler himself as the
Ieader of the Party, and ih 2 lesser degree to all other party officials,
All members of the Party swore an oath of "eternal allegiance" to the
Leader,

There were only two ways in which Germany could achieve the three
main aims above-mentioned, by negotiation, or by force. The twenty-five
points of the NSDAP prograrme do not specifically mention the methods on
which the leaders of the party proposed to rely, but the history of the
Nazi regime shows that Hitler and his followers were only nrevared to
negotiate on the terms thaﬁ their demands were conceded, and that force
would be used if they were not,

On the night of the 8th November 1923, an abortive nutsch took -lace
in Munich. Hitler and some of his followers burst into a meeting in the
Bargerbrau Cellar, which was being addressed by the Bavarian Prime lfinister

Kehr, with the intention of obtaining from him a decision to march forth-



with on Berlin. On the morning oi the 9th November, however,

no Bavarien support was i10rthcoming, and Hitler's denonstration

wes met by the armed forces oi the Relchswehr and the Polics.
Only & few volleys were fired; and after a dozen of his
followers had been killed, Hitler fled for his life, and the

demonstration was over. The defendants Streicher, Frick and

Hess all took part in the atte.ipted rising. Hitler was later
tricd for high treason, ané was convicted and sentenced to

imprisonment. The Sa was outlswed., Hitler was releaseC from
prison in 1924 and ip 1925 the Schutzstaffel, or SS, was
crcated, nominally to sct as his personal bodvguard, but in

reality to terrorize political opp nts, This was also the

4
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vyear of the publication of “ldein Xanpf," containing the
politicacl views and aims of Hitler, which cams to be regarded
as the authentic source of Nazi doctrine.

His SinlsaUns 0F POwWha

=

In the eight years thet followed the publication of
Wiein Kempf®, the NSDaP greatly cxtended its activities
throughout Germany, paying perticular attcention to the train-
ing oi youth in the ideas of lational Socialism. The first
Nezi youth orgunizstion had come into exXistence in 1922, but
it was in 1925 that the Hitler Jugend was officially recog-
nized by ths KSD.P In 1931 Baldur von Schirach, who had
joined the IISD.? in 1925, became eich Youth Leader of ths

NSDAP.

\_.
cl'

The Party exerted every effort to win political sup:

-

from the German people. wlectiomrs viere contested both for

the Reichstey and the Landtage. The NSDAP lead
any serious attempt to hide the fact that thelr only nurnose

in entering German politicsl life was in order to destroy the
democratic structurce oi the .eimar Lepublic, and to substitute

for it =

rs did not make




National Socialist totalitarianm regime which would enable them
t® curry out thceir avowed policies without opposition. In
preparation for the day when he would obtain power in Germeny,
Hitler in Jenuary 1929 anpointed Heinrich Himmler as 2eichs-
fuchrer SS with the épccial task of building the SS into =

.

stron; but elite group which would be dependable in sll cir-
cuiagtances.
On the 30th Jenuary 1933 IHitler succeeded in being

appointed Chancellor of the weich by President von Ilindenburg.

=3
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defendunts Goering, ochacht and von Papen were active in
enlistin, support to bring this about. Von Papen had been
appointed xeieh Chancellor on the 1lst June 1932, On the 1l4th
June he rescinded the decree of the Bruening Cubinet of the
13th &pril 1932, which had dissolved the Nezl pars-mpilitery
orgunizetions, includin; the 5~ &nd the 35. This was done by
agreemnent betwecen Hitler anc von Papen, although von Pzpen
denics that it was agreed as early as the 28th ley, as Dr.
Hans Volz asserts in “Dates from the lLiistory of the NSDAPY;
but that it was the result of an egreement was sfmitteé in
egvidence by von Pepen.

The Reichstag cleetions of the 31st July 1932 resulted

o)

ir & great accession of strength

to the NSDAP, and von Popen
offered Hitler the post of Viece Chancellor, whieh he refused,
insisting upon the Chancellorship jitssli. In llovember 1932
& pcvition signed by lsading industrislists and financiers
was presenteé to President Hindenburg, ccllinig upon him to
entrust the Chencellorship to iiitler; and in the collection
of signaturecs to the petition Schacht took & prominent part.
The election of the 6th Lovember, which followeé€ the
defeat of the Government, reduced the number of NSDAP members,
but von Papen madc further efforts to gein Hitler's nertieipea-
tion, without success. On the 12th November Schacht wrote

to Hitler:



"T have no doubt tiat the present development of things
can only lead to your becoming Chancellor, It seems as
il our attempt to collect a number of signatires from
business circles for this purpose w-s not altorether
in vain o sie’

After Hitler's refusal of the 16th November, von Pa»en resigned,
and was succeeded by General von Schleicher; but von Papven still contine-
ved his activities. He met Hitler at the house of the Cologne b: nker
von Schroeder on the 4th January 1933, and attended a meeting zt the de-
fendant Ribbentrop's house on the 22nd January, with the defendant Goering
and others, He also had an interview with President Hindenburg on the Gth
January and from the 22nd January cnwards he discussed officially. with
Hindenburg the formation of a Hitler Cabinet,

Hitler held his first Cabinet meeting on the day of his appoint-
ment as Chancellor, at which the defendants Goering, Frick, Funk{_von
Neurath and von Papen were present in their official capacities. On
the 28th February 1933 the Reichstag building in Berlin was set on fire,
This fire was used by Hitler and his Cabinet as a pretext for passing
on the same day a decree suspending the constitutional gnarantees of
freedom, The decree was signed by President Hindenburg and counter-
signed by Hitler and the defendant Frick, who then occupied the nost of
Reich Minister of the Interior. On the 5th March elections were held,
in which the NSDAP obtained 288 seats of the total of 647. The Hitler
Cabinet was anxious to pass an "Enabling Act'" that would give them full
legislative powers, including the power to deviate from the Constitaition.
They were without the necessary majority in the Reichstag to be able to
do this constitutionally. They therefore made use of the decree sus-
pending the guarantees of freedom and took into so-called "protective
custody" a large number of Communist deputies and party officials., Having
done this, Hitler introduced the "lnabling Act" into the Reichstag, and
after he had made it clear that if it was not passed, further forceful
measures would be taken, the act was passed on the 24th larch 1933,

THE PRESIDENT: I will now ask Mr, Justice Birkett to continue

reading the judgment,




THE CCONSOLIDATION CF PCIWER

The NSDAP, having achieved power in this way, now vro-
ceeded to extend its hold on every phase of German life.

Cther political parties were persecuted, their property and
assets confiscated, and many of their members placed in
concentration camps. On 26th April 1933 the defendant Goering
founded in Prussia the Gestapo as a secret police, and confided
to the deputy leader of the Gestapo that its main task was to
eliminate political opponents of National Socialism and Hitler,
6n the 14th July 1933 a law was passed declaring the NSDAP

to be the bnly political party, and making it criminal to
maintain or from any other political party.

In order to place the complete control of the machinery
of Government in the hands of the Nazi leaders, a series of
laws and decrees were passed which reduced the powers of
regional and local governments throughout Germany, transforming
them into subordinate divisions of the Government of the

-Reich, Representative assemblies in the Laender were -bolished,
and with them all local elections. The Government then »ro-
ceeded to secure control of the Civil Service, This wés
achieved by a process of centralization, and by a caref 1
sifting of the whole Civil Service administration, By a law
of the 7th April it was provided that officials "who were of
non-Aryan descent' should be retired; and it was also decreed
that "officials who because of their previous political

activity do not security that they will exert



themselves for the netional state s ithout reservation shall

ve discharged.” The law of the 11lth april 1933 provided

=5
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or the discharge of "all Civil Servants who bclong to the
Communist Party.” Similarly, the Judiciary was subjecctcd to
control. Judges were removed from the Bench for politiecal

O racial ressons. They were spied upon and made subjeet to
thic strongest pressure to join the Nezi Party as ¢n zlternative
to being dismissed, ‘when the Supreme Court acquitted three

o

of &the four

BJ

¢fendents charged with complicity in the
Reichsteg fire, its Jjurisdiection in cases of treason was

thereaftcr taekcn away and given to & nevwly esteblished

“Pecoplc's Courti, consisting of tuo judges znéd Tive officials

of the Party. Spcelal courts werec sct up to try political

erimes <nd only purty nmembers were appointed us judges.

.:.A.
Persons wers &rrestoed by the 55 for political reusons, and
detauined in prisons «nd concentrution comps; &nd the judges

were withiout power to intervene in any way. Pardons were

grunted to members of  the Party who had besn sentenced by

the judies for proved offenses., In 1935 seversl officicls i
0i the Hohecnsteln concentration ctzmp were convieted of

inflicting brutel trsaiment upon the inmates. High Nazi '
officials tried to influence the Court, and after the i
officials had been convieted, Liitler perdoned them all. In 1

1942 “Judges” léttcrs” vere scent to &ll Germen judges by the
Government, instructing them as to the "general lines®™ that
they must follow.
In thelr determination to remove all sources of 1
opposition, the NSDAP leaders turned their attontion to the
trade unions, the churches and the Jews. In april 1933
Hitler ordercd the late defendunt Ley, who was then staff
dircctor of the politiccl org.nizution of the ISDaP, "to
teke over the traede unions.® luost of the trade unions

01 Germeny were joined together in two



lerge fedsrutions, the "Free Trade Unlons® and the "Christian
Trade Unions.™ Unions outside these two large fecderations
contained onrly 15 perecent of the Hhtal unipn meabership. On
the 2ist april 1933 Ley issucd on NSDAP directive announeing
& "coordinction action® to be corried out on the 2nd May
against the rree Troede Unions. The directive ordercd that

S4 and B85 nen were to be enployed in the plenned "oeccupation
of trade union propertics and for the toking into protective
custody oi personalities who come into qucstion.” At the
conclusion of the action the official NODAP press scrvice
reported that the National Socielist Factory Cells Orgeniza-

the 0lé leadership ol Free Trade

o

tion had ‘elimincte
Unions® and tuken over the lcadership themsclves, Similarly,

n the 3rd lay 1633 the ISDAP press scervice announced that the
Christian trads unions “have unconditionclly subordinated
themselves to the leadership of xdelf Hitler.™ 1In place

of the trade unions the Nazi Government set up a German
Labor Front (DiAF), controlled by the NSD..P, @&nd whieh, in
nrazctice, all workers in Gerany were compelled to join.
The cliecirmen of the unions were taken into custody and were
subjected to ill-trectment, runging from assault cnd battery
o murder,

In their effort to coabat the influence of the Christiun

churches, whose doctrines viere fundementally ot variunce
with National Sociclist philosophy und prauctice, the Nezi
Government procecded more slowly. The extreme step of banning
the practice oi the Christicn religion was not tuken, but
yeacr by year efforts were made to limit the influence of
Christicnity on the German people, since, in the wvords used
by the defendant Bormann to the defendcnt Hosenberg in an
official letter, “the Christicn religion cnd Nationel
Sociulist doctrines are not compatible.™ In the month of

June 1941 the defendcnt Bormann issued a secret decree



National Socialism, The decree stated that:
"For the first time in German history the Fuehrer
consciously and completely has the leadership in
his own hand. With the Party, its components
and attached units, the Fuehrer has created for
himself and thereby the German Reich Leadership,
an instrument which makes him independent of the
Treaty ... More and more the people must be
separated from the churches and their organs, the
Pastor ... Never again must an influence on
leadership of the people be yielded to the churches.
This influence must be broken completely and finally.
Only the Reich Government and by its direction the
Party, its components and attached units, have a
right to leadership of the people,™

From the carliest days of the NSDAP, anti-Semitism had occupied a
prominent place in National Socialist thcought and propaganda. The Jews, who
were considered to have no right to German citizenship, were held to have
been largely responsible for the troubles with which the nation was afflicted
following on the war of 1914-1918, Furthermore, the antipathy to the Jews
was intensified by the insistence which was laid upon the superiority of the
Germanic race and blood. The second chapter of Book 1 of "lilein Kampf" is
dedicated to what may be called the "laster Race" theory, the doctrine of
Aryan superiority over all other races, and the right.of Germans in virt:e
of this superiority to dominate and use other peoples for their own ends,
With the coming of the Nazis into power in 1933, persec:tion of the Jews be-

came official state policy. On the 1lst April 19°3, a boycott of Jewish

enterprises was approved by the Nazi Reich Cabinet, and during the following

years a series of anti-Semitic laws were passed, restricting the activities
of Jews in the Civil Service, in the legal profession, in journalism and in
the armed forces., In September 1935, the so-called Nuremberg Laws were
passced, the most important cffecct of which was to deprive Jews of German

citizenship. In this way the influence of Jocwish elements on the affairs
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. Germany was extinguisheé, and one more potential source
of poopsition to Nazl policy was rendered powerless.

In uny consgiderction of the crushing of opposition, the
massaecre of the 30th June 1934 must not be forgotten., It hes
become known as the “Roehm Purgeiior: "the blood beth®, and
revealed he methods which Hitler cnd his immediate essoecictes,
including the defendent Goering, were ready to employ teo
strike down ©ll opposition and consolidate their power. On
Liat day Roehn, the Chief of &Eaff of the SA sihee 1931, was
murdered by Hitler's orders, and the 7"01d Guard" of the SA

wes massacred without trial end without wiurning. The

peoples

gpooRtun ity wes Giken to murder o large mwaber of 1
who &t one time or wnother hed opposed Hitler,

The ostensible ground for the murder of Roehm was that
he wes plotting to overthrow Hitler, and the defendant Goering
gave evidence that knowliedge of such @ plot hod come te his
ears, ' lihether this was so ori{not 1t 1s not necessary Lo
determinc.

On July 3rd the Cebinet approved Hitler's cetion and
described it as Plegitimite scli-defense by the State.™

Shortly afterwerds Hindenburg died, and Hitler became
both Reick President ¢nd Chencellor. 4t the Nezi-dominated
Plebiscite, which followed, 38 million Germzns expressed their
approval, and with the Reichswchr teking the ozth of allegicnee
to the Fuchrer, full power was now in Hitler's honds.

Germany had cccepted the Dictatorship with =11 its
methods of terror, znd d%8 eyniccl and open denial of the
rale of law.
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apert from the policy of crushing the potential oppon-

cnts or thelir regime, the Nazi Government took active steps to

J

inerease. its power over the Geracn populztion, In the fjeld
of education, everything wus done to ensure that the youth

of Germeny was brought up in the atmosphere of Nutional
Sociclism and wecepted Katiohsal Socislist teachings. A4s early
as the 7th spril 1933 the low reorgenizing the Civil Serviee

ble for the Naozi Governnent to remove all

e

had mede 1t poss
"subversivce end unrslicble tecchers®; end this was followed
by numcrous other mecsures to moke sure thet the schools

were staeffec by teaschers who could be trusted to tezch their

o

pupils the full mguning of Nationcl Sociclist erceé. Apart
from the influcnce of Nectioncl Soeiclist tesching in the
sehools, the Hitler Youth Orgenizotion was clso. relied upon
by the Nazi Lecders for obtaining finctie.l support from Ehe
younger generction, The dcefendunt von 3chir:ch, who had been

Iy

xeiech Youth Loufer of the NSDAP since 1931, wes appointed
Yeoublh Lecder of the Germoun- Reich in dJune 1933. Soon @idl the
youthh orgenizctions hud been either dissolved or absorbed by

th

(4]

Hitler Youth, with the cxception ol the Cathiolie XYouth.

=

he Hitler Youth was orgenized on strict militery lines, a&nd

o

88 eurly as 1933 the Wehrmocht was cooper.ting in providing
pre-militaery truining for the xkeiceh Youth.

The Nazi Government endcevored to unite the natien in
support of their policies through the e¢xtensive use of
propangendc. & number of cgencics vwere set up whose duty we
to eontrol end influenec the press, ridio, films, publishing
firms, etc., 1in Germany, and to superv¥isec cnberteitment and
cultural ¢nd artistic cetivitics. All these agencies came
under Goecbbels' ilinistry of the Pcoplc's Enlichtenment cnd
Propugendsz, whieh together with ¢ corresponding organization

in the NSDAP ond the Reich
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Gletely following Hitler's appoint-

ment &s Chencellor, the Naezli Government set cbout re-orginiz-

igge the cconomic lifTe of Iy endiéin pertienlsr the
armement industry. This was done on vest scale and with

It neeessary to lewy ¢ securet fincneisl foundaEion

for the building of ‘Grmaments, cnd in A

Gocring wis appointed eoordinctor for row materials and
Torcign cXechunge, ‘ané cmpowercd to supervise all stete and

party setivities in these ficlds. In this capacity he hroufht
together the “wear inister, dhe uinister of Lconomics, the

acich Yinence

= as B B



winister, the Prosident of

-

thie Reiehsbink on

d the Prugsia

Fipenece winister Lo discuss pronlesns eonnected with war
mobilization, ¢nd on the 27th Mauy 1936, in adéressing these

o2

menh, Goering oD any fi

preduction and thet "cll measures arc

nsneigd 1limitation of war

to be considered

froum the stendpelint of ¢n dssured weging ol wer,d AL the
Pcerty Relly in Nuremberg in 1936, Hitler announced the
establishment of the Four Yeer Plan end ths cppointment of
Goering es the Plenipotentiary in charge. Goering wes
&lrepdy engeyed.,in building ¢ strong c¢ir force &nd on the
8th July 19338 he unnounced to o number of leading CGerman
aireraft manufacturers thet the Guramcn Alr Forcc was alrezdy
superior in quality zné guontity te sheé English, 0n the
14th October 1938, ¢t cnother conference, Coirinz &nnounced
thet Hitler had instructed him to orgonize glesntie
armement program, which would maoki insignifieunt 1l previous

Bclidewements. ¢ scdd that he had besen ordervd bo build s
Peowaly o8 possibic gn cir forec five times o8 large ag
origsinelly plunned, to incercusc the specd of the rearmament

of the nivy w«ndé zrmy, and to conccntrote on offensive weapons,

principally hceovy crtillery und hoavy 'tenks.  He then lcid
down a specific progruam designcd to occomplish these ends.
The extent to which rearmoment had been cecomplished was
stated by Hitler in his memor:ndum of October 9th, 1939,
after Ghe compeign in Poland. He saiad:
#The militery cpplicetion of our people’s strenpth
has becn earried through to such cn cxtent thet
within @ short timec ¢t any rate it eccnnot bs merkedly
improved npon by any menncr -of effort ...
"The worlike oquipment of the Germun people is at

prescnt larger in'guantity =nd betEcer in qu“lity

Tfor o grecter number of Gérmtn divisions than in the
year 1914, The wedpons themsclves, taking subston-
ticl eross-section, are morc modern then is the easec
with any othcr country in the world this time. They
hove just proved their supromc war worthiness in

their vietorious cumpudign ... There is no evidence
available to shovw that eny country in the vorld
disposcs of better totil cmmunition stock than the

o

o 4

Lo

“



Beich ... The A.A. artil.ery is not equelled
by eny country in the world."

In this re-organization of the economic life of Germany for
military purposes, the Nazi Government found the German armament industry

quite willing to cooperate, and to play its vart in the rearmament vrogramme.

In April 1933, Gustav Krupp von Bohlen submitted to Hitler on behalf of the
Reich Association of German Industry a vlan for the re-organization of
German industry, which he stated was characterized by the desire to co-
ordinate econcmic measures and volitical necessity. In the vlan itself,
Kruop stated that "the turn of volitical events is in line with the wishes
which I myself and the board of directors have cherished for a long time."
What Krupp meant by this statement is clearly shown by the draft text of a
speech which he planned to deliver in the University of Berlin in January
19244, though the sveech was in fact never delivered. Referring éd the
years 1919 to 1933, Kruov wrote: "It is the one great merit of the entire
German war economy that it did not remain idle during those bad years, even
though its activity could not be brought to light, for obvious reasons.
Through years of secret work, scientific and basic groundwork was laid in
crder t9 be ready again to work for the German armed forces at the apnointed

hour, without loss of time or exverience ... Only through the secret

activity of German entervrise together with the exverience gained meanwhile
througn production of veace time goods, was it vessible after 1933 to fal’
into step with the new tasks arrived.at, restoring German's military oower, "
In October 1933 Germany withdrew from the International Disarmement
Conference and League of Nations. In 1935 the Nazi Government decided to

take the first open steps to free itself from its obligations under the



Treaty of Versailles. On the 10th March 1935 the defendant Goering
ennounced that Germany was buildinz a militery air force, Six days later,
on the 16th March 1935, a law wes nasced bearing the signatures, among
others, of the defendants Goering, Hess, Frank, Frick, Schacht and von
Neurath, instituting comoulsory military service and fixing the establish-
ment of the German Army at a vpeace time strensth of 500,000 men. In an
endeavour to reassure public ovinion in other countries, the Government
announced on the 2lst May 1935 that Germany would, though renouncing the
disarmament clauses, still respect the territorial limitations of the
Versailles Treaty, and would comply with the Locarno Pacts. Nevertheless,
on the very éay of this announcement, the secret Reich Defence Law was
vassed and its publication forbidden by Hitler. In this law, the powers
and duties of tihe Ch:ncellor and other iiinisters were defined, should
Germany become involved in war. It is clear from this law that by May of
1935 Hitler and his Government had arrived at the stage in the carrying out
of their policies when it was necessary for them t0 have in existence the
requisite machinery for the administrastion and government of Germeny in the
event of their vpolicy leading to war,

At the same time that this prevaration of the German economy for war
was being carried out, the German armed forces themselves were vrevaring
fof a rebuilding of Germany's armed strength,

The German Navy was varticularly active in this regard, The O°ficial
Germen Neval historians, Assmann and Gladisch, admit that the Treaty of
Versailles had only been in force for a few months before it was violated,
perticulerly in the construction of a new submarinc arm,

The publications of Captain Schuessler and Oberst Scherf, both of

which were svonsored by the defendant Raeder, were drsigned to show the German



veople the nature of the Nevy's effort to rearm in defisnce of the
Treaty of Versailles. |

The full details of these publicztions have been given in evidence.

On the 12th May 1934 the defendant Raecder issued the Tov Secret
armament plan for what was called the Third Armament Phase, This contained
the sentence:

"All theoretical and practical A~preparations

are to be drawn up with a primary view to
readiness for a war without any alert veried."

One month later, in June 1934, the defendant Raeder red a conversation with
Hitler in which Hitler instructed him to keep secret the construction of
U-bocts and of warships over the limit of 10,00C tons which was then being
undertaken.

And on the 2nd November 1934, the defendant Reeder had another
conversation with Hitler and the defendant Goering, in which Hitler said
that he considered it vital that the German Navy "should be increased as
planned, as no war could be carried on if the Navy was not able to safe-
guard the ore imwvorts from Scandinavia, "

The large orders for building given in 1933 and 1934 are sought to be
excused by the defendant Raeder on the ground that negotiations were in
progress for an egrerment between Germany and Great Britain vermittin
Germany to build ships in excess of the provisions of the Treaty of
Versailles. This agreement, which wes signed in 1935, restricted the
German Navy to a tonnage equal to one-tnird of that of the British,
except in respect of U-boats where 45% was agreed, subject always to the
right to excerd this wroportion after first informing the British Govern-
ment and giving them an opportunity of discussion.

The Anglo-German Treaty followed in 1937, under whkich both Powers
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bound themselves to notify full details of their building orogramme at
lezst four months before any action w: s taken.

It is admitted that these clauses Qere not adhcred to by Germany.

In capital vessels, for example, the displecement details were
felsified by 20%, whilst in the case of U-boats, the German historians
Assmann and Gladisch say:

"It is probebly just in the sphere of submarine

construction that Germany adhere: the least to
the restrictions of the German-British Treaty.!

The imvortance of ticse breaches of the Treaty is scen when the motive for
this re-armament is considered. In the year 1940 the defendant Raeder
himself wrote:

"The Fuehrer honed until the lzst moment to be
able to vut off the threatening conflict with

Fngland until 1944.-5. At that time, the Navy
would have had gvailable a fleet with a oowerful
U-bcat superiority, and a much more favorsble

ratio as regards strength in all other tyves of
ships, varticularly those designed for warfare
on the High Seas."

The Nazi Government as already stated, announced on the 2lst May 1233
their intention to respect the territorial limitations of the Treaty of
Versailles. On the 7th March 1936, in defiance of that Treaty, the de-
militarized zone of the Rhineland was entered by German troovs . In
announcing this action to the German Reichstag, Hitler cndeavofed to
justify the re-entry by references to the recently concluzed alliances
between France and the Soviet Unién, and between Czechoslovekia and the
Soviet Union. EHe also tried to meet tiae hnostile reaction which he no
doubt exvected to follow this viclation of the Treaty by saying:

UWe have no territoriel claims to meke in Zurope. ¥




THEE COMMON PLAN OF CONSFIRACY
AND AGGRESSIVE WAR.

The Tribunal now turns:to the consideration of the Crimes against
veace charged in the Indictﬁént. Count one of the Indictment charges the
defendants with conspiring bf heving a common vlan to commit crimes
against peace. Count Two of ‘the Indictment charges the defendants with
committing specific crimes agaist peace by planning, preparing, initiating,
and waging wars of aggression against.a number of other States. It will be
convenient to consider the question of the existence of a common vlan and
the question of aggressive war together, and to deal later in this Judgment
with the question of the individual responisibility of the defendants.

The charges in the Indictment that the defendants vlanned and waged
aggressive wars are charges of the utmost gravity. War is essentially an
evil thing. Its consequences are not confined to the belligerent states
alone, but affect the whole world.

To initiate a war of aggression, therefore, is not only an inter-
national crime; it is the supreme international cfime differing only from
other war crimes in that it contains within itself the accumulated evil
of the whole,

The first acts of aggression referred to in the Indictment are the
seipure of Austria and Czechoslovakia: end the first war of aggression

charged in the Indictment is the war against Poland begun on the lst Septem-

ber 1938.
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Before examining that charge it is nccessary to look more closely
at some of the events which preceded these acts of aggression. The war
egainst Poland did not come suddenly out of an otherwise clear sky; the
evidence has made it plain that this war of ag:iression, as well as the
seizure of Austria and Czechoslovakia, was pre-meditated and carefully
vrepared, and was not undertaken until the moment wes thought opportune
for it to be carried through as a definite vart of the pre-ordained

scheme and plan.

For the agegressive designs of the Nszi Government were not accidents
arising out of the immediate volitical situation in Europe and the world;
they were a deliberate and essential vert of Nazi foreign volicy.

From the beginning, the National Socislist movement claimed that its
object was to unite the German veople in the consciousness of their mise
gion and destiny, based on inherent qualities of race, and under the
guidance of the Fuehrer,

For its echievement, two things were deemed to be essential: the
disruption of the European order as it had existed since the Treaty of
Versailles, and the creation of a Greater Germany beyond the frontiers of
1914. This necessarily invelved the seizure of foreign territories.

War wes seen to be inevitablc, or at the very leasst, highly prob-
gble, if these purposes were tc be accomplished. The German people,
therefore, with all their resources, were to be organized as a great
pelitical-military army, schooled to obey without question any policy

decreed by the State.




FREPARATION FOR AGGRESS JON

In "Mein Kampf" Hitler had made this view quite plein. It must be
remembered that "Mein Kampf" was no mere private diary in which the
secret thoughts of Hitler were set down. Its contents were rather
vroclaeimed from the house-~-tops. It wes used in the schools and Univ-
ersities and among the Hitler Youth, in the 85 and the SA4, and among the
German people generally, even down to the presentation of an officiel
copy to all newly-married people, By the year 1945 over 6% million
copies had be n circulated. The general contents ere well known. Over
end over again Hitler asserted his belief in the necessity of force as
the means of solving internationsl problcms, as in the following que-
tation:

"The soil on which we now live wes not a gift

bestowed by Heaven on our forefzathers, They hesd
to conquer it by risking their lives., So also in
the future, our vcople will not obtein territory,
and therewith the meens of existence, as & favor

from eny other people, but will have to win it by the
vower of a triumphant sword,™

" Y
A ‘

hﬁein kampf" éontains mény such passages, and the extolling of force es
gn instrument of foreign volicy is openly procleimed.

The vrecise objectives of this policy of force are also set forth
in detail. The very first page of the book asserts that “German-
Austria must be rcstored to the great Germen Motherlend," not on ec-
onomic grounds, but because "veovle of the same blood should be in the
same Reich."

The restoration of the Germen frontiers of 1914 is declared to be
wholly insufficient, and if Germany is %0 ecxist at all, it must be es
a world vower with the necessary territorial magnitude.

"Mein Kempf" is quite explicit in stating wherc the increzsed

territory is to be found:



"Therefore we National Socialists have purposely drawn a
line through tine line of conduct followed by vre-war
Germeny in foreign policy. We put an end to the per-
petual Germanic march towards the South and West of
Europe, and turn our eyes towards the lands of the Esst.
We finally out a stop to the colonizl and trade volicy
of the vre-war times, and pass over to the territorial
policy of the future.

But when we speak of new: territory in Eurove today,
we must think orincipally of Russia and the border states
subject to her."

"Mein Kampf" is not to be regarced as a mereliterary exercise, nor as an
inflexible policy or wmlan inczpeble of modification.
Its importance lies in the unmistakeble attitude of a~zression revealed

throughout its vages.

THEE PLANNING OF AGGRES: ION.

Evidence from captured documents has revealed that Hitler held four
secret meetings to wihich the Tribunal proposes to make special reference be-
cause of the light they shed uwon the question of the common plan and aggressive
war.

These meetings took place on the 5th November 1937, the 23rd of May 1939,
the 22nd of August 1939 and the 23rd of November 1939.

A% these meetings imvortant declarations were made by Hitler as to his
pvurvoses, which are quite unmistakable in their terms.

The documents which record what took nlace at these meetings have been sub-
juect to some criticism at the hands of defending Counsel.

Their essential authenticity is not denied, but it is said, for examwle,

that they do not purvose t0 be verbatim transcripts of the svecches they



record, that the document dealing with the meeting on the 5th November 1937,

was dated five days after the mreting hed taken mlace, and that the two
documents deeling with the meeting of August 22nd 1939 differ from one another,
end are unsigned.

1Making the fullest allowance fer criticism of this kind, the Tribunsl is
of/tgginion thet the documents ere documents of the highest value, and that
their suthenticity and substantial truth ere established,

They arc obviously cezreiul records of the events they describe, enl they
heve beeén oreserved as such in the a¥chives of the German Government, from

whose custody they Were cantured. Such documents could never be dismisked

2s inventions, nor even as insccurate or distorted; they pleinly recoré

. events which actuaslly toock vlace.

3

ok 23rd NOVEMBER 1939

CONFERENCES OF

N

It will perhaps be useful to deal first of all with the mecting of the
23rd November 1939, when Hitler called his Supreme Commanders togethér, A
record'was made of what was said, by one of thosec vresent. At the date of
the meeting, Austris and Czechoslovakia had been incorvorated into thé German
Reieh, ?oland had been conquered by the German armies, and the war with Grest
Britain and France was still in its static phase. The mémont was oonbrtune
for a review of past events, Hitler informed the Commenders that thé ‘burvose
of the Conference was to0 geve them an idea of the world of his thoughts, and
to tell them his decision. Ke thereunon reviewed his volitical task¥ bince

1919, end referred to the secession of Germany from the League of NBtions,



the deminciation of the Disarmament Conference, the order for re-armement, the
intréduction of compulsory armed service, the occupation of the Rhineland, the
geiztite of Austrie, 2nd the action egainst Czechoslovakia. He stated:

"One yezr later, Austria came; this step zlso wes
considered doubtful. It brought about = consider-
able reinforcement of the Reich. The next step was
Bohemia, Moravias ena Poland. This step also wes not
possible to sccomplish in one campzign. First of all,
the western fortificetion had to be finished. It wss
not wnossible to reach the goal in one effort. It was
clear to me from the first moment that I could not be
satisfied with the Sudeten German territory. That
wes only a vertial solution. The decision to march
into Bohemia was made. Toen followed the erection

of the Protectorate and with that the bssis for the
sction against Poland was laid, but I wesn't quite
clear at tinet time whether I should start first
ageinst the Esst and then in tihe West or vice versa ...
Basically I did not organize the armed fordes in
order not to strike.. The decision to strike was
always in me. ZEarlier or later I wanted to solve

the problem. Under pressure it was decided that

the Bast was to be attacked first."

This sddress, reviewing past events and re-affirming the aggressive inten—
tions oresent from the beginning, outs beyond any question of doubt the char-

acter of the actions egsinst Austria snd Czechoslovakia, and the wer against

Poland.

For they had all been sccomplished sccording to vlan; and the nature
of that plen must now be exemined in a little more detail.

At the meeting of the 23rd November 1939 Hitler was looking bsck to
things accomplished; at the eerlier meectings now to be considered, he was
looking forward, and revealing his plans to his confederates. The comparison
is instruective.

The meeting held at the Reich Chancellery in Berlin on the 5th November

1937 was attended by Lt.-Col. Hoszback, Hitler's personal adjutant, who



compiled a long note of the procerdings, which he dated the 10th November
137 and signed.

The persons present were Hitler, and the defendants Goering, von Neurath
and Reaeder, in their capacities as Commander-in-Chief of the ILuftwaffe, Reich
Foreign Minister and Commander-in-Chief of the Navy respectively, General
von Blomberg, Minister of Wear, and General von Fritsch, the Commander-in-
Chief of the Army.

Hitler began by saying that the subject of the conference wzs of such
high importance that in other states it would have teken place before the
Cabinet. He went on to say that the subject matter of his speech was the
result of his detailed deliberaticns, and of his experiences during his four
and a half years of Government. He requested that the statements he was
about to make should be looked unon in the case of his death as his last will
and testement., Hitler's main theme was the vroblem of living svace, and he
discussed various possible solutions, only to set them aside. Ee then said
that the seizure of living space on the continent of Europe was therefore
necessary, expressing himself in these words:

"It is not a cese of conquering peonle but of con-
quering agriculturally useful space. It would also
be more to the purpose to seek raw material pro-
ducing territory in Europe directly adjoining the
Reich and not overseas and this solution would

have to be brought into effect for one or two gener-
ations... The history of all times --Roman Eumvire,
British Empire -- has proved that every space expan—
sion can only be effected by bresking resistance
and teking risks. Even setbacks are unavoidable:
neither formerly nor today has space be ' n found
without an owner; the attacker elways comes up
against the proprietor."

He concluded with this observation:

"The question for Germany is where the greatest
vossible conquest could be made at the lowest cost."




Nothing could indicate more wlainly the aggressive intentions of Hitler, and

the events which scon followed showed the reality of his purodse. It is

imo¢ssible to accept the contention that Hitler did not actually mean war;

for after peinting out that Germany might exvect the opposition of England and

France, and analyzing the strength and the weakness of those powers in

particular situations, he centinued:

The first

situation,

"The (*erman question can be solved only by way of
force, and this is never without risk...IT we

place the decision to anvly force with risk at: the
head of the following expositions, then we are left
to reply to the aquestions 'when' and 'how'!, In this
regard we have to decide uvon three different cases,™

of toese-thre~ cases set forth a hyvothetical intern=tional
in which he would take action not later than 1943 to 1945, saying:

"If the Fuehrer is still living then it will be his
irrevocable decision to solve the German svace
vroblem not later than 1943 to 1945, The necessity
for action before 1943 to 1945 will come under con-—
sideration in Cases 2 and 3."

The second a2nd third ceses to which Hitler referred show the plain intention

to seize Austria and Czechoslovekia, snd in this connection Hitler said:

"For the improvement of our military-political
position, it must be our first aim in every c:se
of entanglement by war to conquer Czechoslovakia
anc. Austria simultaneously in order to remove auy
threat from the flznks in case of a vossible
edvance westwards."

He further added:

"The annexation of the two statecs to Germany
militarily and »olitically would constitute a con-
siderable relief, owingz to shorter and better
frontiers, the freeing of fighting personnel for

other purvoses, and the possibility of reconstituting
new armies uo to a strength of about twelve divisions.®

This decision to seize Austria and Czechoslovakiz wss discussed in some detail;
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the action was to be taken as soon as a favorable opvortunity presented
itself;

The military strength which Germany had been building up since 1933 was
now to be directed at the two specific countries, Austria and Czechoslovakia.

The defendant Goering testified that he did not belie ve ét that time that
Hitler actually meant t0 attack Austria and Czechoslovakia, and that the
vurpose of the conference w:zs only to out ovressure on von Fritsch to sveed up
the re-armament of the Army.

The defendant Raeder testified that neither he, nor von Fritsch, nor von
Blomberg, believed that Hitler actually meant war, a conviction which the
defendant Raeder claims that he held up to the 82nd August 1939, The basis
of this conviction wze his hope that Hitler would obtain a "volitical solution"
of Germanfisuroblems. But all thet thie meens, when examined, is the belief
that Germary'sposition would be s¢ good, and Ge man's armed might so over-
whelming, that the territory desired could be obtained without fighting for it.
It must be remembered too that Hitler's declared intention with regard to
Austria wes actually cerried out within a little over four months from the date
of the meeting, and within less than a year the first wortion of Czechoslo-
vakia was absorbed, and Bonemie and Moravia a few months later. If any doubts
had existed in the minds of any of nis nearers in November 1937, after March
of 1939 there could no longer be any qu estion tnat Hitler was in deadly ezrnest
in his decision to resort to war. The Tr;bunal is satisfied that Lt.-Col.
Hoszbach's account of the meeting is substantially correct, and that those
vresent knew that Austria and Czechoslovakia would be annexed by Germany at

the first vossible ovvortunity.
THE PRESIDENT: The Tribunal will now adjourn for ten minutes.
(A recess wes taken. )
*THEE FRESIDENT: I will now ask M. Donnedieu de Vahres to

continue the reading of the judgment.
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4,D0LIEDIEU DE VABRES:

The invasion of Austria was a pre-meditated agressivesisp. n
furthering the plan to wage aggressive wars against other countries. 4s a
result German's flank was vrotected, that of Czechoslovakia being greatly
wezkened. The first step had been taken in the seizure of "Lebensraum"; many
new divisions of trained fighting men had been ascquired; and with the seizure
of foreign exchange reserves, the re-armament »rogramme had been greatly
strengthened.

On the 2lst May 1935 Hitler announced in the Reichstag that Germany
did not intend either tc attack Austria or to interfere in her internal
effairs. On the lst ley 1936 he publicly couvled Czechoslovakia with Austria
in his avowal of wneaceful intentions; and s¢ late as the 11lta July 1936 he
recognized by treaty the fuil sovereignty of Austrie,

Austria was in fact seized by Germany in the month of March 1938. Fa
a number of years before that date, the Nati nel Socialists in Germany had been
cooperating with the Hational Socialists of Austria with the ultimate object
of incorporating Austria into the German Reich, The Putsch of July 25th
1934, which resulted in the assassination of Chancellor Dollfuss, had the
seizure of Austria as its object; but the Putsch failed, with the consequence
that the National Socialist Party was outlawed in Austria. On the 1lth July
1935 an agreement was entered into hetween the two countries, Article 1 of

which stated:

"Mhe German Government recognizes the full sovereignty
of the Federated Stats of Austria in the spirit of the
pronouncements of the German Fuehrer and Ch—ncellor

of the 2lst May 1935,%



Article 2 declared:

"Bach of the two Governments regards the inner
political order (including the question of Austrian

National Socialism) obtaining in the other country
zs an internal affair of the other country, uwvon
which it will erercise neither direct nor indirect

influence. "

The Naticnal Socialist movement in Austria however continued its illegal
activities under cover of secrecy; and the Nationel Socialists of Germany
gave the Party active supvort. The resulting "incidents" were seized uvon
by the German Netional Socialists as an excuse for interfering in Austrian
affeirs, After the conference of the Sth November 1937, these "incidents"
rapidly multiplied. The reletionship between the two countries steadily
worsened, and finsglly the Austrian Chancellor Schuschnigg was persuzded by
the defendant von Paven and others to seck a conference with Hitler, which
took wlace at Berchtesgaden on the 12th February 19368. The defendant Keitel
wee present at the conference, and Dr. Schaschnigs was tareatened by Hitler
with an immediate invasion of Austris. Schuschnigy finally agreed to grant a
political amnesty to various Nzzis convicted of crime, and to apocint the
Nazi Seyss~Inquart as Minister of the Interior and Security with control of
the.Police. On the 9th March 1938, in an attemmt to wreserve the independ-
ence of his country, Dr. Sclhuschnigg decided to hold a vlebiscite on the gques-
tion of Austrian indevendence, which was fixed for the 13th March 1938. Hitler,
two deys later, sent en ultimatum to Schuschnigz that the vlebiscite must be
withdrawn. In the afternoon and evening of the 1llth March 1938 the defendant
Goering mede a series of demands uvon the Austrian Government, each backed up
by the threat of invasion, After Schuschnigs had agreed te the canceliation
of tne plebiscite, another demand was put forward that Schuschnige must

resign, and that the defendant Seyss-Inquart should be apnointed Chancellor,



Of these aims, the one which seems to have heen regarded

as the most important, and whieh figured in almost every

ublic speech, was the removal of the "disgrace™ of the

Armistice, and the restrictions of the peace treaties of
Versailles and Saiant Germain. 1In a typical speech at

dnieh on the 13th «pril 1923, for example, Hitler said
with regard to the Treaty of Verseilles:

Wihe treaty was maede in order to bring tuenty

million Germeans to their deaths, and to ruin the

Germen nation ... st its foundation our movement

fornulated thrse deanands,

Y, Setting aside of tLhe Peecy Trealy.

2. Unificetion of sll Germans.,
3. Lend and soil to feed our nation.

The demand for the unification of &ll Germans in the
Greater Germsny weas to play a large part in the events
preceding the seizurc of austria cnd Czechoslovakia; the
abrogation of the Treaty of Vers<illes was to become &
decisive motive in attempting to justify the poliecy of the
Geraan Government; the demand for land was to be the
justification for the acquisition of “living space™ at the
¢xpense of other nations; the expulsion of the Jews from
membersiiip of the race of German blood was to lead to the
atrocities aguinst the Jewish people; and the demanéd for a
national army was to result in ameaesures of rearmament on the
largest possible scale, and ultimstely to war,

On the 29th July 1921, the Party which had changed its

name o Netional Sozicalistische Deutsche arbeiter Partei

(INoDaP) was reorgunized, Hitler becoming the first "Chairmen™®

It was in this year thet the Sturmabteilung or Si was

founded, with Hitlsy at its head, as a private
b b &
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para-military force, which allegedly was to be used for the purpose of

protecting NSDAP leaders from attack by rival political parties, and
preserving order at NSDAM meetings, but in reality was used for fighting
political Jpponents on the streets, In March 1€23 the defendant Goering
was appointed head of the SA.

The procedure within the Party was governed in the most absol:te way
by the "leadership principle" {Fuehrerprinzip).

According to the principle, each Fuehrer has the right to govern,
administer or decree, subject to no control of any kind and at his complete
discretion, subject only to the orders he received from above.,

This principle applied in the first instance to Hitler himself as the
leader of the Party, and in a lesser degree to all otuer party officials,
All members of the Party swore an oath of Yeternal éllegiance” to the
Leader.

There were only two ways in which Germany could achieve the three
main aims above-mentioned, by negotiation, or by force, The twenty-five
points of the NSDAP programme do not specifically mertion the methods on
which the leaders of the party proposed to rely, but the history of the
Nazi regime shows that Hifler and his followers were only nrevared to
negotiate on the terms that their demands were conceded, and that force
would be used if they were not,

On the night of the 8th November 1923, an abortive outsch took ~lace
in Munich. Hitler and some of his followers burst into a meeting in the
Bﬁrgerbrau Cellar, which was being addressed by the Bavarian Prime lMinister

Kehr, with the intention of obtaining from him a decision to march forth-



» ®
with on Berlin. On the morning of the 9th November, however,
no Baverian support wes iorthccming, and Hitler's denonstration
was met by the armed forces of the Heichswehr and the Polics.
Only & few volleys were fired; and after & dozen of his
followers had been killed, Hitler fled for his life, and the

demonstration was over, The defendants Streicher, Frick and

ct

Hess all took part in the atteapted rising., Hitler was later
tried for high treason, and was convicted and sentenced to
imprisonment. The Sa vwas outlswed. Hitler was released from
prison in 1G24 and in 1925 the Schutzstaffel, or SS, was
crcated, nominally to act as his personal bodveuard, but in

reality to terrorize politicsl opponents. This was also the

yvear of the publication of “ijein Kanpf,* containing the

J]

politicel views snd aims of Iitler, which came to be regarded
as the authentic source of Nazi doctrine.

THi SE1s4Uns OF POuBx

In the eight years thet followsd the publication of
Wuein Kempf®, the NSDaP greatly extended its activities
throughout Germany, peying perticuler attcntion to the train-
ing ofi youth in the ideas oi llational Socialisn. The first
Nazi youth orgunization had come into existence in 1922, but
it was in 1925 that the Hitler Jugend was officially recog-
nized by the NSD»P. In 1931 Bzldur von Schirach, who had
joined the ISD.? in 1925, became Reich Youth Leader of the
NoDaP.

The Party exerted every effort to win political support
from the German people. sBlections iiere contested both for
the Reichstag and the Landtage. The NSDAP leaders did not make
any scrious attempt to hide the faet that their only nurpose
in entering Gernan political life was in order to destroy the
democratic structurc of the ‘.eimar epublic, and to substitute

for 1t &8
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National Soclalist totsliterian regime which would enable them

to curry out thceir svowed policies without opposition. In
preparation for the day when he %ould obtein power in Germeny,

Hitler in January 19

™
D
0

1ppointed Heinrich Himmler as Reichs-
fuchrer 5SS with the special task of building the SS into =a
stron; but elite group which would be dependable in all cir-
ciiatances.

On the 30th January 1933 Hitler succeeded in being

%

appointed Chaneellor of the ueich by President von Ilindenbure.

=
= |

he defendunts Goering, oschacht and von Papen were aetive in

=

nlisting support to bring this about. Von Papsn had been

(&

eppointed Reich Chanecelloxr on the 1lst June 1932. 0On the 1LEh

June he rescinded the decree oi the 3rucning Cebinet of the
13th spril 1932, vhich had dissolved the Nazl para-militery
orgunizations, includin; the S~ snd the S5. This was done by
ecreement between Hitler anc von Pepen, althouch von Papen
denies that it was agfced as early as the 28th liey, a8 Dr.
Hens Volz asserts in “Dates irom the Listory of the IS

but that it was the result of an egreement was cCmitted in

The Reichstap eleoctions of the 31st July 1932 resulte
in @ great accession of strength to the N3DAP, and von Papen
offered Hitler the post of Vice Chancellor, which he refused,
insisting upon the Chanecellorship itscsli. In llovember 1932
& petition sizned by lsading indusirialists and finunciers
was presented to President IHindenburg, culling upon him to
entrust the Chancellorship to liitler; cnd in the collection
of signeturcs to the petition Schacht took & prominent part.
The election of the 6th Liovember, which followeé the
defeat of the Government, reduced the number of NSDLP members,

but von Papen made further efforts to gain Hitler's partieipa-

e

tion, without success. On the 12th November Schacht wrote

o Hitler:



"T have no doubt that the present development of things
can only lead to your becoming Chancellor, It secms as
if our attempt to collect a number of signatires from
business circles for this purpose w-s not altorether
in vain o .

After Hitler's refusal of the 1léth November, von Pa»en resicned,
and was succeeded by General von Schleicher; but von Papen still contine
ued his activities, He met Hitler at the house of the Cologne b nker
von Schroeder on the 4th January 1933, and attended a meeting st the de-
fendant Ribbentrop's house on the 22nd January, with the defendant Goering
and others. He also had an interview with President Hindenburg on the S$th
January and from the 22nd January omwards he discussed officially with
Hindenburg the formation of a Hitler Cabinet.,

Hitler held his first Cabinet meeting on the day of his appoint-
ment as Chancellor, at which the defendants Goering, Frick, Funk, von
Neurath and von Papen were present in their official capacities. On
the 28th February 1933 the Reichstag building in Berlin was set on fire,
This fire was used by Eitler and his Cabinet as a pretext for passing
on the same day a decree suspending the constitutional guarantees of
freedom, The decree was signed by President Hindenburg and counter-
signed by Hitler and the defendant Frick, who then occupied the »ost of
Reich Minister of the Interior. (n the 5th March elections were held,
in which the NSDAP obtained 288 seats of the total of 647. The Hitlef
Cabinet was anxious to pass an "Enabling Act'" that would give them full
legislative powers, including the power to deviate from the Constitation,
They were without the necessary majority in the Reichstag to be able to
do this constitutionally. They therefore made use of the decree sus-~
prending the guarantees of freedom and took into so-called "protective
custody" a large number of Communist deputies and party officials, Having
done this, Hitler introduced the "Enabling Act" into the Reichstag, and
after he had made it clear that if it was not passed, further forceful
measures would be taken, the act was passed on the 24th larch 1933. |

THE PRESIDENT: I will now ask Mr., Justice Rirkett to continue

g g

reading the judegment.



TIE CCNSCLIDATICN CF PCIER

The NSDAF, having achieved power in this way, now pro-
ceeded to extend its hold on every phase of German life.
Other political parties were persecuted, their property and
assets confiscated, and many of their members placed in
concentration camps. On 26th April 1933 the defendant Goering
founded in Prussia the Gestapo as a secret police, and confided
to the deputy leader of the Gestapo that its main task was to
eliminate political opponents of National Socialism and Hitler,
én the 14th July 1933 a law was passed declaring the NSDAP
to be the only political party, and making it criminal to
maintain or from any other nolitical party.

In order to place the complete control of the machinery

of Covernment in the hands of the Nazi leaders, a series of

laws and decrees were passed which reduced the powers of

regional and local governments throughout Germany, transforming
them into subordinate divisions of the Government of the

Reich, Representative assemblies in the laender were -bolished,
and with them all local eleg¢tions, Tﬂe Government then nro-
ceeded to secure control of the Civil Service, This was
achieved by a process of centralization, and b7 a éarefal
sifting of the whole Civil Service administration., By a law

of the 7th April it was »rovided that officials "who were of
non-Aryan descent! should be retired; and it was also decreed
that "officials who because of their previous political

activity do not security that they will exert




theaselves for the netional state 'ithout preservetion shall

be discharged.” The law of the 11lth xpril 1933 provided

-,

or the discharge of "all Civil Serveants who bclong to the
Communist Party.” Similarly, the Judiciary was subjected to
control. Judges were removed from the Bench for political

or racial reasons. They werc spied upon and made subjcet to

the strongest prcessurc to join the Nazi Party os cn alternative

to being dismissed., '/hen the Supreme Court acquitted three
of the four defendents charged with complicity in the

n cases of treason was

e

Reichsteg fire, its Jjurisdiction

jo7}

thereaftcr teken awey and given to & newly esteblishe
“Peoplc's Court?, consisting of tuo judges and f
oI the Party, Spceial courts were scet up to try politiecal
erimes <né only perty members were appointed us judges.

Persons wers errested by the 55 for politiewl reusons, and

jaf]

stulncé in prisons wnd conecntrution c.mps; «né the judges
were without power to intervene in cny way. Pardons were
granted to members of the Party who had beesn sentenced by
the judgeé for proved offenses. In 1935 seversl officigls
of the Hohenstein concédntration comp were convieted of
inflicting drutel treatment upon the inmutes. High Nazi
officiels tried to influcnce the Court, and after the
1ls had been convieted, iitler paerdoned them all. In

1942 “Judges’ letters’ were scnt to &ll Germen judges by the
Government, instructing them as to the “general lines™ that
they must follovi. |

In their detcrmination to rcmove all sources of
opposition, the NSDAP lcaders turned their attention to the
trade unions, the churches and the Jews. In April 1933
Hitler ordered thoe late defendcent Loy, who was then staff
dircctor of the politieccl orgenization of the ISDaP, “to
teke over the trude unions.™ Mdost of the trude unions

0l Germuny were Jjoined together in two



lerge federutions, the "Free Trade Unions® and the “Christian
Trade Unions.* Unions outsid: these two large federastions
contained only 15 percent of the total union menbership, On
the 21st 4pril 1933 ley issucd an NSDAP directive znnouncing
& “gcoordination action” to bec ccrried out on the 2nd May
against the rree Tride Unions. The directive ordercd that
S4 and 35S nen were to be employed in the planned "occup&ation
of trade union propertics wnd for the toking into protective
custody oi personclities who come into qucstion.™ 4t the
conclusion of the aetion the official NSDAP press scrvice
reported that the National Socielist Factory Cells Orgeniza=
tion had “elimincted the o0ld leadership of Free Trade
Unions" and token over the lcadership themsclves, Similarly,
on the 3rd iay 1933 the ISDAP press scervice announced that the
Christian trade unions “have unconditionclly subordinated
themselves to the leadership of »doli Hitler.™ In place
o7 the trade unions the Nazi Government set up a German
Lebor Front (DAF), controlled by the NSD..P, and which, in
prectice, all workers in Gerieny were compelled to join.
The cheirmen of the unions wsre taken into custody and were
subjected to ill-trectment, ronging from assault cnd battery
to aurder.

In their effort to co.ibat the influence of the Christiun
chiurclies, whose doctrines were fundumentally ot variance
with Notioncl 3ociclist philosophy und practice, the Nezi
Government proceeded more slowly. The extreme step of banning
the practice oi the Christian religion wes not tuken, but
yecer by year efforts were made to limit the influence of
Christicnpity on the German people, since, in the words ‘used
by the defendant Bormann to the defendunt Zosenberg in an
officicl letter, "the Christicn religion and National
Socizlist doctrines are not coapatible,? In the month of

June 1GL1 the defendant Bormahn issued a secret decree
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National Socialism, The' decree stated that:
"For the first time in German history the Fuehrer
consciously and completely has the leadership in
his own hand. With the Party, its components
and attached units, the Fuehrer has created for
himself and thereby the German Reich lLeadership,
an instrument which makes him independent of the
Treaty ... More and more the people must be
separated from the churches and their organs, the
Pastor ... Never again must an influence on
leadership of the people be yielded to the churches,
This influence must be broken completely and finally.
Only the Reich Government and by its-direction the
Party, its components and attached units, have a
right to leadership of the people,!

From the carliest days of the NSDAP, anti-Semitism had occupied a
prominent place in National Socialist thought and propaganda. The Jews, who
were considered to have no right to German citizcnship, were held to have
been largely responsible for the troubles with which the nation was affiicted
following on the war of 1914-1918, Furthermore, the antipathy to the Jews
was intensified by the insistence which was laid upon the superiority of the
Germanic race and blood. The second chapter of Book 1 of "liein Kampf" is
dedicated to what may be called the "laster Race" theory, the doctrine of
Aryan superiority over all other races, and the right of Germans in virtie
of this superiority to dominate and use other peoples for their own ends,
With the coming of the Nazis into power in 1933, persecition of the Jews be-
came official state policy. On the 1st April 19°3, a boycott of Jewish
enterprises was approved by the Nazi Reich Cabinet, and during the following
years a series of anti-Semitic laws were passed, restricting the activities
of Jews in the Civil Service, in the legal profession, in journalism and in
the armcd forces. In September 1935, the so-called Nuremberg Laws were

passed, the most important cffecct of which was to deprive Jews of German

citizcnship. In this way the influence of Jewish clemcnts on the affairs
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of Germany was extinguished, and one more potenticl source.

)
o

0f poopsition .to Nezi policy was renéered powerless.

In any considerction of the erushing of opposition, the
massacre of the 30th June 1934 must not be Torgotten. It hes
become known as the ‘Roehm Purge® or "the blood bath¥, and
revealed “he methods which Hitler &nd his immediate essocictes,
including the defendant Goering, werc ready to employ to
strike down cll opposition and consolidate their power. On
Gt day doehnm, *the Chicf of SE8Ff of the 5S4 since 1931, waz
murdered by Hitler's orders, and the "0ld Guard"™ of the Sa
wEs massaered wibhout trial apdawvitbout wurning.  The
opportunity wes tiken to uurder & large number oi people
who &€t one time or cnotiisr had opposed Hiitler.

The ostensible ground for the murder of Roehm was that
he wes plotting to overthrow Hitler,. and the defendent Goering
gave ewvidence that knowicdge of sueh = plob haé come-to his
cars. Wwhether this was so or mobt it is notl necessary to
determing,

On dJuly 3rd The Cebinect approved Hitlert's cetion and

described it as "legitimote seli-defense by the Stute,?

Shortly sfterwerds Hindenburg died, zcnd Hitler became

=g

both Reiclk President znd Chancellor. &+t the Nezi-dominated

(

Plebiscite, which followed, 38 million Germzns expressed their
cpproval, and with the Reichswehr taéking the octh of gllegianee
to the Fuchrer, full power was now in Hitler's honds.

Germeny hed cccepted the Dictatorship with gll its
methods 'of. terror, cnd its eymieed and opcn denial of the

rule of law.




apert from the policy of crusking the potenticl Oppon-
cuts or their roegime, the Hazi Govermment took active stceps to
increuse its power over the Germin populstion. In the field
of education, sverything was done to ensure that the youth
of Germeny wes broucht up in the atmosphere of Kotional

. oa

Soclalism ané accepted Kational Soeielist teechings s early

v

b

as the 7th April 1933 the law reorgenizing the Civil Service
htd mede it possible for the Nezi Government to remove all
“subversivc end unrclicble tecchers¥; end this was followed
by numRcrous other measures to mcke sures thet the schools
were stafled by teaechers who could be trusted to tezch their
pupils the full mcuning of Lationecl Sociclist crced. Apart
from the infiuence of Nectioncl Soeiclist teeching in the
gchools, the Hitler Youth Orgenizetion was clso rcliced upon
by the Wazi Leaders for obtiining Finiticil support from the
vounger generction. The doefendont von Sehir:ech, who had been
aeich Youth Leuwder of the NSDAP since 1931, wes uppointed

,

Youth Lec the Germun icieh in June 1933. Soon sll the
youth orgunizitions hud been cither dissolved or absorbed by
the Hitler Youth, with thu exception ol the Catholie Youth,
The Hitler Youth was orginized on strict military lines, snd
gs enrly as 1933 the LWJehrmacht was cooper.ting in providing
pre~militery troining feor the aAcich Youth,

The Nazi Governmcnt endcavored to unite the nation in
support of their policies through the ezxtinsive use of

propangonda. & nusber of cgencies were set up whose duty wes

(9%

to control «nd

o

nflucncu the press, rhdio, films, publishing
firms, etc., in Germony, ané to supervisc cnterteinment and
cultural wnd artistic cetivitices. &1l these agencies came
under Gocbbels' ilin ry of the Pcoplc's Inlightonment cnd

Propigends, which together with ¢ eorresponding orranizution

in the NSDAP snd thes Reich




ing pert in disseminsting the Natiopnal Soclclist doetrines

was ultinctely responsible for exereis-

his supecrvisipn. The defendan® Rosenberg pleyed & les
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During the years immecdictely following Hitler's appoint-
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froin the stundpoint; of on assurcd Wegipse of wer.® AL ths
Purty Relly in Nuremberg in 1936, Hitler announced the

and the.appointment of

Goering cs the Plenipotentiary in charge. Goering wes
glresdy eng.ged in building - strong £ir forece snd on the
8th July 1938 he wnnouanced to o number of lecding German
aireraft menufacturers thet the Germon Alr %orcv was alresdy
superior in quality ¢né qucentity to the Inglish, . On the
1Lth OQetober 1038, ot «nother conference, Gocring cnnounced
shetHEEler had instructud him to orginize gigantie

armement program, whiech would moke insignifiecnt @all previeous
achicviments. He scid that he had been ordered to. build ©s
Feidly s pes8ible apveir force 1ive timss as . laPge as

originclly plunncd, rearmement

of the novy wné srmy, nd to concentrutc on offensive weapons,

-»

principelly hcavy srtillery «nd hoavy tanks. He then laid

down a speciiic program designcd to uvccomplish these ends.

I B
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The nt  to which resrmament had been cecomnlished was

stated by Hitler in his memor:ndum of Cetober 9th, 1939,

after the coapeign in Poland He

“The militory epplicetion of our peoplects strength
has becn carried through to such cn extcent thot
within & shoyit timcliat ony rabe it connot be merkedly

-

improved mwpon by aay manncr of eifoxrt ...

"The warlike uqul)Qunt of
prescnt lar
FOT
year
ticl

the German people is atb

regcr in guontity and bottor in quality
grecter number ol Germcn divisions thon in the
191L; ~ The weupons themsclwes, taking subston-
¢ross~gsuction, arc morc modern thon is the cuase
with eny other country in the worlé this timec, They
have just proved thelr suprenc war worthiness in

their victorious eumpiipgn .+, There is no evidence
eveilable to nho1 thaet cny'countyry in the world
disposcs of better totul amaunition stock than the
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Beich ... The A,A, artillery is not equalled
by eny country in the world,"

In this re-organization of the economic life of Germany for
military purposes, the Nazi Government found the German armament industry

guite willing to cooperate, and to play its vart in the rearmament vrogramme,

In April 1933, Gustav Kruvo von Bohlen submitted te Hitler on behalf of the
Reich Association of German Industry & vlan for the re-orgenization of
German industry, which he stated was characterized by the desire to co-
ordinate economic measures and pelitical necessity. In the volan itself,
Kruop stated that "the turn of wolitical events is in line with the wishes
which I myself and the board of directors have cherished for a long time."
What Krupp meant by this statement is clearly shown by the draft text of a
speech which he planned to deliver in the University of Berlin in January
1944, though the speech was in fact never delivered. Referring te the
-years 1919 to 1933, Kruvv wrote: "It is the one great merit of the entire
German war economy that it did not remain idle during those bad years, even
though its activity could not be brought to light, for obvious reasons.
Tarough years of secret work, scientific and basic groundwork was laid in
order t9 be ready again to work for the German armed forces at the apnointed
hour, without loss of time or exverience ,.. Only through the secret
activity of German enterorise together with the exverience gained meanwhile
throuén production of weace time goods, was it vossidble after 1933 to fal?
into step with the new tasks arrived at, restoring German's military vower."
In October 1933 Germany withdrew from the International Disarmement
Conference and League of Nations. In 1°35 the Nezi Government decided to

take the first open steps to free itself from its obligations under the



Treaty of Versailles. On the 10th March 1935 the defendant Goering
announced that Germeany was building a military air force., Six days later,
on the 13th March 1935, a law wss vasced bearing the signatures, among
others, of the defendants Goering, Hess, Frank, Frick, Schacht and von
Neurath, instituting compulsory military service and fixing the establish-
ment of the German Army at a peace time strensth of 500,000 men., In an
endeavour to reassure public ovinion in other countries, the Government
announced on the 2lst May 1935 that Germany would, though renouncing the
disarmament clauses, still respect the territorial limitatione of the
Verseilles Treaty, and would comply with the Locarﬁo Pacts. Nevertheless,
on the very day of this announcement, the secret Reick Defence Law was
vassed and its publication forbidden by Hitler. In this law, the powers
and duties of the Ch:ncellor and otner linisters were defined, should
Germany become involved in war, It is clear from this law that by May of
1935 Hitler and his Government had arrived at the stage in the carrying out
of their policies when it was necessary for them to have in existence the
requisite machinery for the administration and government of Germeny in the
event of their veolicy leading to war,

At the same time that this prevaration of the German economy for war
was being carried out, the German armed forces themselves were vrevaring
for a rebuilding of Germanjy's armed strength,

The German Navy was varticularly active in this regard. The O°ficial
Germen Neval historians, Assmann end Gladisch, admit that the Treaty of
Versailles had only been in force for a few months before it was violated,
particularly in the construction of a new submarine arm,

The publications of Captain Schuessler and Oberst Scherf, both of

which were svonsored by the defendant Raeder, were drsigned to show the German



people the nature of the Navy's effort to rearm in defisnce of the
Treaty of Versailles,
The full details of these publications have been given in evidence.

On the 12th May 1934 the defendant Raeder issued the Tov Secret

armament plan for what was called the Third Armament Phase, This contained
the sentence:
"All theoretical and practical A-preparations

are to be drawn up with a primary view to
readiness for a war without any alert veriod,"

One month later, in June 1934, the defendant Raeder had a conversation with
Hitler in which Hitler instructed him to keep secret the construction of
U-boets and of warships over the limit of 10,00C tons wihich was then being
undertaken.

And on the 2nd November 1934, the defendant Raeder had another
conversation with Hitler and the defendant Goering, in which Hitler said
that he considered it vital that the German Navy "should be increased as
planned, as no war could be carried on if the Navy wés not able to safe-
guard the ore imvorts from Scandinavia."

he large orders for building given in 1933 and 1934 are sought to be
excused by the defendant Raeder on the ground that negotiations were in
progfess for an agrerment between Germany and Great Britain vpermitting
Germany to build ships in excess of the ﬁrovisiOns of the Treaty of
Yersailles, This agreement, which wes signed in 1935, restricted the
German Navy to a tonnage equal to one-third of that of the British,
except in respect of U-boats where 45% was agreed, subject always to the ‘
right to excerd this oroporticn after first informing the British Govern-
ment and giving them an opvortunity of discussion.

The Anglo-German Treaty followed in 1937, under which both Powers



¢ G »

bound themselves to notify full details of their building orogramme at
least four months before any action w: s taken.

It is admitted that these clauses were not adhcred t¢0 by Germany.

In capital vessels, for example, the displecement deteils were
felsified by 20%, whilst in the case of U-boate, the German historians
Assmann and Gladisch say:

"It is probably just in the sphere of submarine

construction that Germany adherec the least to
the restrictions of the German-British Treety."

The imoortance of thesec breaches of the Treaty is scen when the motive for
this re-armament is considered. In the year 1940 the defendant Raeder

himself wrote:

"The Fuehrer hoved until the lzst moméent to be
able to ovut off the threatening conflict with

Ingland until 1944-5. At that time, the Navy
would have had available a fleoert with a vowerful
U-boat superiority, and a much more favoreble

ratio as regards strength in all other tyves of
ships, varticularly those designed for warfare
on the High Seas.™

Tne Nazi Government as already stated, ennounced on the 2lst May 1985
their intention to respect the territorial limitations of the Treaty of
Verséilles. On the 7th March 1236, in dcfiance of that Treaty, the de-
militarized zone of the Rhinelend was entered by German trocvs . In
announcing this action to the German Reichstag, Hitler endeavored to
justify the re-entry by references to the recently concluded alliances
between France and the Soviet Union, and between Czechoslovakia and the
Soviet Union. XHe als0 tried to meet tihe hostile reaction which he no
doubt exvected to follow this violation of the Treaty by saying:

We have no territorial claims to meke in Zurogre."




THE COMMON PLAN OF CONSFIRACY
AND AGGRESSIVE WAR.

The Tribunal now turns to the consideration of the Crimes against
veace charged in the Indictment. Count one of the Indictment charges the
defendants with conspiring or having a common plan to commit crimes
against peace. Count Two of the Indictment charges the defendants with
committing specific crimes agaist peace by planning, preparing, initiating,
and waging wars of aggression against a number of other States. It will be
convenient to consider the question of the existence of & common vlan and
the question of ageressive war together, and to deal later in this Judgment
with the question of the individual responisibility of the defendants.

The charges in the Indictment that the defendants vlanned and waged
aggressive wars are charges of the utmost gravity. War is essentially an
evil thing. Its consequences are not confined to the belligerent states
alone, but affect the wkole world.

To initiate a war of aggression, therefore, is not only an inter-
national crime; it is the supreme internationsl crime differing only from
other war crimes in that it contains within itself the accumulated evil
of the whole.

The first acts of aggression referred to in the Indictment are the
seipure of Austria and Czechoslovakia: and the first war of aggression

charged in the Indictment is the war against Poland begun on the lst Septem-

ber 1939,




Before examining that charge it is nccessary to look more closely
at some of the events which preceded these acts of aggression. The wer

against Poland did not come suddenly out of an otherwise clear sky; the

evidence has made it plain that this war of egsression, as well as the

seizure of Austria end Czechcslovakia, was pre-meditated and carefully
prepered, and was nct undertaken until the moment was thought opportune

for it to be carried through as a definite vart of the pre-ordained

scheme and plan.

For the ageressive designs of the Nezi Government were not sccidents
arising out of the immediate volitical situation in Europe and the world;
they were a deliberate and essential vert of Nazi foreign volicy.

From the beginning, the National Sccislist movement claimed that its
object was to unite the Germen veovle in the consciousness of their mise-
sion and destiny, based on inherent qualities of race, and under the
guidance of the Fuehrer,

For its schievement, two things were deemed to be essential: the
disruption of the European order as it had existed since the Treaty of
Versailles, and the creation of & Greater Germany beyond the frontiers of
1914. This necessarily involved the seizure of foreign territéries.

War wes seen to be inevitablc, or at the very least, highly prob-
sble, if these purposes were to be accomplished, The German pecple,
therefore, with all their resources, were to.be organized as a great
politicel-military army, schooled to obey without question any wolicy

decreed by the State.




EREPARATION FOR AGGRESSION
In "Mein Kampf" Hitler had mede this view quite plain. It must be

remembeored that "Mein Kempf" was no mere private diary in which the
secret thoughts of Hitler were set down. Its contents were rather
proclaimed from the house~tops, It was used in the schools and Univ-
ersities and among the Hitler Youth, in the 85 and the SA, and among the
German veople gcnerally, even down to the presentation of an official
copy to all newly-married people. By the year 1945 over 63 million
copies had be n circulated. The general contents are well known., Over
end over ageain Hitler asserted nis brlief in the necessity of force as
the means of solving internatiomnal problems, as in the follcwing quo-
tation:

"The soil on which we now live wes not e gZift

bestowed by Heaven on our forefathers., They hed

to conguer it by risking their lives, So also in

the future; our vcople will not obtain territory,

end therewith the means of existence, &s & favor

from any other people, but will heve to win it by the
vower of & triumphant sword."

“w-

ﬁﬁein kampf; éontains mény such pessages, and the extolling of force as
an instrument of foreign vpolicy is openly procleimed.

The precise objectives of this policy of force are also set forth
in detail, Tae very first page of the book asserts that "German-
Austria must be reostored to the great Germen Motherlend," not on ec-
onomic grounds, but because "veovle of the same blood should be in the
same Reich."

he restoration of the German frontiers of 1914 is declared to be

wholly insufficient, and if Germany is to exist at all, it must be s
a world power with the necessary territoriel mesgnitude.

Mein Kempf" is quite explicit in stating wherc the ircrezsed

territory is to be found:



"Therefore we National Socialists have purposely drawn a
line through tihe line of conduct followed by vre-war
Germany in foreign policy. We put an end to the per-
petual Germanic march towards the South and West of
Europe, and turn our eyes towards the lands of the E=st.
We finally vut a stop t0 the colonizl and trade volicy
of the pre-war times, and pass over to the territorisl
policy of the future.

But when we speak of new territory in Europe today,
we must think orincipally of Russia and the border states
subject to her."

"Mein Kampf" is not to be regar:ied as & mereliterary exercise, nor as an
inflexible policy or wlan inczveble of modification.
Its importance lies in the unmistakable attitude of a~gression revealed

throughout its pages.

TEE PLANNING OF AGGRES: ION.

Evidence from captured documents has revealed that Hitler held four
secret meetings to wihich the Tribunal proposes to make special reference be-
cause of the light they shed uvon the question of the common plaﬁ and aggressive
war.,

These meetings took place on the 5th November 1937, the 23rd of Msy 1939,
the 22nd of August 1939 and the 23rd of November 1939,

At these meetings imoortant declsrations were made by Hitler as to his
purvoses, which are quite unmistakable in their terms.

The documents which record what took vlace at these meetings have been sub-
juect to some criticism at the hands of defrnding Counsel.

Their essential asuthenticity is not denied, but it is said, for examvle,

that they do not purvose to be verbetim transcrivnts of the svecches they



record, that the document deeling with the meeting on the 5th November 1237,

wes dated five days after the mreting had taken nlace, and that the two

documents deeling with the meeting of August 22nd 1939 differ from one anotHer,
=nd are unsigned.

Meking the fullest allowance for criticism of this kind, the Tribunal is
of/tgginion thet the documents are documents of the highest velue, and that
their suthenticity and substential truth ere esteblished.

They are obviously czreful records of the events they describe, end they
heve been oreserved as such in the archives of the German Government, from
whose custody they Were cavntured. Such docdUments could nnvc£ be dismissed

88 inventions, nor even as inaccurate or distorted; they plainly record

events which actually took vlace.

CONFERENCES OF TnE 23rd NOVEMBER 1939
ND 5tn NOVEMBER 1937

It will perhavs be useful to deal first of =21l with the mecting of the
23rd November 1939, when Hitler cslled his Supreme Commsnders together. A
record was made of what was said, by one of those vresent. At the date of
the meeting, Austria and Czechoslovakies had been incormorated into the German
Reich, Poland had been conquered by the German armies, end the war with Grest
Britain and Frence was still in its static ohase. The moment was ovnortune
for a review of past events. Hitler informed the Commenders that the purvose
of the Conference was to geve them an idea of the world of his thoughts, and
to tell them his decision. He thereuvon reviewed his vpolitical task since

1919, and referred to the secession of Germany from the League of Nations,



the denunciation of the Disarmament Conference, the order for re-armsment, the

introduction of comvulsory armed service, the occupation of the Rhineland, the
seizure of Austris, and the action sgainst Czechoslovakia. He stated:

"One year later, Austria came; this step s#lso wes
considered doubtful. It brought about & consider-
zble reinforcement of the Reich. The next step was
Bohemia, Moravia end Poland. This step also wss not
possible to accomplish in one campaign. First of all,
the western fortificetion had to be finished. It wes
not vossible to reach the goel in one effort. It was
clear to me from the first moment that I could not be
satisfied with the Sudeten German territory. That
wes only e partial solution. The decision t0 march
into Bohemia was made, T.en followed the erection

of the Protectorate and with that the basis for the
action against Poland was laid, but I wasn't quite
clear at thet time whether I should start first
ageinst the East and then in the West or vice versa ...
Basicaelly I did not organize the ermed fordes in
order not to strike. Thec decision to strike was
alweys in me. ZEarlier or later I wanted to solve

the problem. Under pressure it was decided that

the East was to be attacked first,!

This sddress, reviewing past events and re-affirming the aggressive inten-
tions vresent from the beginning, outs beyond any question of doubt the char-

acter of the actions agsinst Austria and Czechoslovakia, and the war against

Poland.

For they had 211 been accomplished sccording to olan; and the nsture
of that plen must now be exemined in a little more detail.

At the meeting of the 23rd November 1939 Hitler was looking bsck to
things accomplished; at the earlier meetings now to be considered, he was
looking forward, and revealing his plens to his confederates. The comparison
is instructive.

The meeting held at the Reich Chancellery in Berlin on the 5th November

1937 was attended by Lt.-Col. Hoszback, Hitler's personal adjutant, who




compiled a long note of the procerdings, which he dated the 10th November
1°37 and signed.

The persons present were Hitler, and the defendants Goering, von Neurath
and Reeder, in their capacities as Commander-in-Chief of the Luftwaffe, Reich
Foreign Minister and Commander-~in-Chief of the Navy respectively, General
von Blomberg, Minister of War, and General von Fritsch, the Commander-in-
Chief of the Army.

Hitler began by saying that the subject of the conference was of such

high importance that in other states it would have taken place before the
Cebinet. He went on to say that the subject matter of his speech was the
result of his detailed deliberaticns, and of his experiences during his four
and a half years of Government. He requested that the statements he was
about to make should be looked unon in the case of his death as his last will
and testament, Hitler's main theme was the oroblem of living svace, and he
discussed various possible solutions, only to set them aside. He then said
that the seizure of living space on the continent of Eurove wes therefore
necessary, expressing himself in these words:

"It is not a cese of conquering peomle but of con-
quering agriculturally useful space. It would also
be more to the purpose to seek raw material oro-
ducing territory in Europe directly adjoining the
Reich and not overseas and this solution would

have to be brought into effect for one or two gener-
etions... The history of all times --Roman Empire,
British Empire -~ has proved that every space expan—
sion can only be effected by breasking resistance
and teking risks. ZEven setbacks are unavoidable:
neither formerly nor today has space be n found
without an owner; the attacker always comes up
against the proprietor."

He concluded with this observation:

"The question for Germany is where the greatest
vossible conquest could be made at the lowest cost. !




Notaing could indicate more nlainly the aggressive intentions of Hitler, and
the events which soon followed showed the reality of his purvdse. It is
imoessible to accept the contention that Hitler did not actually mean war;

for after pointing out that Germany might exvect the opposition of England and
France, and analyzing the strength and the weaskness of those powers in
particuler situations, he centinued:

"The German question can be solved only by way of
force, end this is never without risk...IT we

plece the decision to avoly force with risk at the
head of the following expositions, tihen we are left
to reply to the auestions 'when' end ‘how!. In this
regard we have to decide uvon three different cases,™

he first of tuese threr cases set forth a hywothetical internztional
situation, in which he would take action not later than 1943 to 1945, saying:

"If the Fuehrer is still living then it will be his
irrevocable Zecision to solve the German svace
vroblem not later than 1943 to 1945. The necessity
for action before 1943 to 1945 will come under con-
sideration in Caces 2 and 3.

The second and third ceses to which Eitler referred show the plain intention
to seize Austria eni Czechoslovekis, and in this connection Hitler said:

"For the improvement of our military-political
position, it must be our first aim in every c:se
of entanglement by war to conquer Czechoslovakia
anc. Austriag simultaneously in order to remove any
threat from the flznks in case of a vpossible
advence westwards."

He further addea:
"The annexation of the two states to Germany
militarily end »olitically would constitute a con-
siderable relief, owingz to shorter and better
frontiers, the freeing of fighting personnel for
other purooses, and the possibility of reconstituting
new armies uo to a strength of about twelve divisions,®

This decision to seize Austria and Czechoslovakiz wss discussed in some detail;

]



the action was to be taken as soon as a favorable opvortunity presented
itself;

The military strength which Germa:ny had been building up since 1933 was
now t0 be directed at tihe two specific countries, Austria and Czechoslovakisa.

The defendant Goering testified that he did not belie ve at that time that
Zitler actually meant t0 attack Austria and Czechoslovakis, and that the
vurpose of the conference w:e only to vut vressure on von Fritsch to sveed up
the re-armament of the Army.

The defendant Raeder testified that neither he, nor von Fritsch, nor von
Blomberg, believed that Hitler actually meant war, a conviction which the
defendant Raeder claims that he held up to the 82nd August 1939. The basis
of this conviction wes his hope that Fitler would obtain a "volitical solution'
of Germanyiscroblems. But all that this means, when examined, is the belief
that Germanylisposition would be so geod, and Ge man's armed might so over-
whelming, that the territory desired could be obtained without fighting for it.
It must be remembered too that Hitler's declared intention with regard to
Austria wezs actually carried out within a little over four months from the date
of the meeting, and within less than a year the first wortion of Czechoslo-
vakia was absorbed, and Bohemia and Moravia a few months later. If any doubts
had existed in the minds of any of nis nearers in November 1937, after March
of 1939 there could no longer be any qu estion tanat Hitler was in deadly ezrnest
in his decision to resort to war. The Tribunal is satisfied that Lt.-Col.
Hoszbach's account of the meeting is substantially correct, and that those
vresent knew that Austria and Czechoslovakia would be annexed by Germany at

the first vossible ovvertunity.

THE PRESIDENT: The Tribunal will now adjourn for ten minutes,
(A recess was taken.)
“THE FPRESIDEIT: I will now ask M., Donnedieu de Vahres to

continue the reading of the judgment.



.~ M.DONJEDIEU DE VABRES:

The invasion of Austria was a pre-meditated agressivesiep. n
furthering the plan to wage aggressive wars against other countries. 4s a
result German's flank was vprotected, that of Czechoslovekia being greatly
wezkened. The Ffirst step had been taken in the seizure of "Lebensraum"; many
new divisions of trained fighting men had been acquired; and with the seizure
of foreign exchange reserves, the re-armament programme had been greatly
strengthened.

On the 2lst May 1935 Hitler announced in the Reichstag that Germany
did not intend either to attack Austria cr to interfere in her internal

fairs. On the lst Mey 1936 he bﬁblicly counled Czechoslovakia with Austria

in his avowal of weaceful intentions; and so late as the 1lth July 1936 he
recognized by treaty the full sovereignty of Austria.

Austriea was in fact seized by Germany in the month of March 1938, Far
a number of years before that date, the Nati nel Socialists in Germany had been
cooperating with the National Socialists of Austria with the ultimate object
of incorporating Austria into the German Reich. The Putsch of July 25th
1934, which resulted in the assassinaticn of Chancellor Dollfuss, had the
seizure of Austria =& its object; but the Putsch failed, with the consequence
that the National Sccielist Party was outlawed in Austria. On the 11th July
1935 an agreement was entered into between the two countries, Article 1 of

which stated:

"The German Government recognizes the full sovereienty
of the Federated Statr of Austria in the spirit of the
pronouncements of the German Fuehrer and Chsncellor

of the 2lst May 1935."



Article 2 declared:

"Bach of the two Governments regards the inner
political order (including the question of Austrian

National Socialism) obtaining in the other country
zs an internal affair of the other country, uvon
which it will erercise neither direct nor indirect

influence, "

The National Socialist movement in Austria however continued its illegel
activities under cover of secrecy; and the National Socialists of Germany
gave the Party sctive support. The resulting "incidents" were seized uvon
by the German National Socizlists as an excuse for interfering in Austrian
affairs., After the conference of the 5th November 1937, these "incidents"
rapidly multiplied. The relationship Dbetween the two countries steadily
worsened, and finally the Austrian Chancellor Schuschnigg was persuaded by
the defendant von Paven and others to seek a conference with Hitler, which
took vlace at Berchtesgaden on the 12th February 1938. The defendant Keitel
was present at the conference, and Dr. Scimschnigz was tiareatened by Hitler
with an immediate invasion of Austrie., OSchuschnigs finally agreed to grant a
political amnesty to various Nzzis convicted of crime, and to apooint the
Nazi Seyss-Inquart as Minister of the Interior and Security with control of
the Police. On the 9th March 1938, in an attemwt t0 wreserve the independ~
ence of his country, Dr. Schuschnige decided to hold a vlebiscite on the gues—

tion of Austrian indevendence, which was fixed for the 13th March 1938, EHitler,

two deys later, sent en ultimatum to Schuschnigg that the olebiscite must be
withdrawn. In the afternoon end evening of the 11th March 1938 the defendant
Goering made a series of demands uvon the Austrian Government, each backed up
by the threat of invasion., After Schuschnigs had azreed to the cancellation
of the plebiscite, another demand was put forward that Schuschnige must

resign, and that the defendant Seyss-Inguart should be apwointed Chancellor,



On the 20th January 1941, at a meeting between Hitler and Mussolini,

at which the defendants Ribbentrop; Keitel, Jodl and others were present,

Hitler stated:

"The massing of troops in Rumania serves a threefold
wurpose.

(a)” An overation against Greece;

(b) Protection of Bulgaria agsinst Russia and Turkey:
(¢) Safesuarding the guarantes to Rumania . . .

It is desirable that this devloyment be comvleted
without interference from the enemy. Therefore,
disclosing the game as late as vossible. The ten-
dency will be to cross the Danube at the last vos-

sible moment, and to0 line up for attack at the
earliest vossible moment,*

On the 19th February 1941 an OKW directive re the overation "Marita®

stated:

"On the 18th February the Fuehrer made the
following decision regarding the carrying out
of Overation Marite: The following-dates are
envisaged: Commencement of building bridge -
28th February: Crosesing of the Danube, 2nd
March."

On the 3rd March 1941, British troops landsd in Greece t0 assist

the Greeks to resist the Italians; and on the 18th liarch, at a meeting

between Hitler and the defendant Raeder, at which the defendants

Keitel and Jodl were also present, the defendant Raeder asked for

confirmation that the "whole of Grecce will have to be occupied, even

in the event of a peaceful settlement," to which Hitler replied, "The

gemplete occupation is g prerequisite of any settlement, "

On the 25th March, on the occasion of the adherence of Yugoslavia

to the Tripartite Pact at a meeting in Vienna, the defendant Ribbentrop

on behalf of the German Government, confirmed the determination of Germany

to respect the
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sovereignty and territoriael integrity of Yugoslavia at ali times., Onthe
26th March the Yugoslav Ministers, who had adhered to the Tripartite Pact,
were removed from office by a coup d'etgt in Belgrade on their return
from Vienna, and the new Government repudiated the pact. Thereupon on
27th March, at a conference in Berlin with the High Command at which
the defendants Goering, Keitel and Jodl were present, and the defendant
Ribbentrop part of the time, Hitler stated that Yugoslavia was an un-
certain factor in regard to the contemplated attack on Greece, and
even more so with regard to the attack upon Russia which was to be omduc-
ted later on, Hitler announced that he was determined, without wait-
ing for possible loyalty declarations of the new Government, to make
all prep;rations in order to destroy Yugoslavia militarily and as a
national unit. He stated that he would act with "unmerciful harshness,”

On the 6th April German forces invaded Greece and Yugoslavia with-
out warning, and Belgrade was bombed by the Luftwaffe., So swift was
this particularinvasion that there had not been time to establish &y
"incidents" as a ususl preliminary, or to find and publish any ade-
quate "political” explanations. As the attack was starting on the 6th
April, Hitler proclaimed to the German people that this attack was
necessary because the British forces in Greece (who were helping the
Greecks to @efend themselves against the Italians) represented a British
.attempt to extend the war to the Balkans,

It is clesr from this narrative that aggressive war against Grerce
end Yugoslavia had long been in contemplation, certainly as early as
August of 1939, The fact that Great Britain had come to the assistance
of the Greeks, and might thercafter bPe in a vosition to inflict great

damage upon German
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interests was mcde the occasion for the occupation of both

THE AGCRESSIVE “.an AGLINST THE UNION OF
H.PUBLICS.

SOVIET SOCIALESE REPUB

On the 23rd august 1939 Gerneny sigrned the non-aggression
& J S

€6 with the Unien of Soviet Seeislist

oW

D

The evidence has shown unmistekably that the Soviet
Uinion on their part conformed to the terms of this paet;
indeed the German Government itself haéd been assured of < |

this by the highest Germesn sourges. Thus, the German

T

®

Ambassador in lioscow informed his Government that the Sovi
Union would go to war only if attacked by Germasny, and this
statement is recorded in the German “lar Diary under the

date of June 6th 1941.

Nevertheless, as ecrly as the late summer of 1940,
Germany began to make preparations for an attack on the USSR,
in spite of the non-aggression pact. This operation was
secretly planned under the code name "Gase Barbarossa®™, and
the former Field warshal Paulus testified that on the 3rd ,
September 1940, when he joined the German General Staff,
he continued developing “"Case Barbarossa™, which was <finally
completed at the beginning of Nowember 1940; ané that evsen
then, the German Generel Staff had me information that the
goviet Union was preparing for war.

On the 18th of December 1940 Hitler issued dircetive

No. 21, initialled by Keitel and dodl, which called for

the completion of all preparations connected with the

reglization of “Cese Barberogsa® by ‘the 15th May 1941,

This directive stabted:




"The German armed forces must be prepared to
crush Soviet Russia in a quick campaign before
the end of the wer agoiasstilingisnd ... Greeat
caution has to be exercised that the intention
of an gttaek will not be Feeernizcd.?

Before the directive of the 18%h December had bsesen

mede, the defendant Gocring had informed General Thomas,
chief of the Office of Var ITconomy of the 0KV, of the plan,
and General Thomas made surveys of the econonie possibi-

1itiecs of the USSHE ineluding its raw mafterials, its powe

-

apé transport system, and its eapeeity to produce arms.
In accordance with these surveys, a&n ccononic starf

for the Liastern territories with meny military-cconomic

-

units (inspectorates, Comnandos, groups) waes crected unde
the supervision of the defondant Goering. In conjunction

= = s = e = o o e e et s A o o 3
with the militery commend, these units were to achieve t

most complete and efficient economie exploitation of the
pecupied territories in the interest of Gernsny.

The framework of the future politicul and economic

T

orgenizdtion of the occupied territories was designed by the

defendant Rosenbergiover & period of t

B’ oS -~
aree months, after

conferences with and sssistence by the defendants Keitel

-

representatives. It was made the subject of a most
report imnediately after the inwesion.

These plans outlined the destruction of the Soviet
Union as an independent State, 2md dits partition, the er

tion of so-called Reickh Commissariats, and the ccnversio

Cl~
|.L.
@

0
l...‘

of idstlionia, Latwvis, Byelorussiaend other terri

German coloniss. 7

edl, Raeder; Funk, Goering, Badbenbrop, &nd Frick or the




At the same time Germmiy drew Hungary, Rumania and Finland into the
war against the U.S.S.R, In December 1940 Hungary agrecd to participate on
the promise of Germany that she should have certain territories at the
expense of Yugoslavia.

In May 1941 a final agreement was comcluded with Antonescu, the Prime
Minister of Rumania, regarding the attack on the U.S.S.R., in which Germany
oromised to Rum:nia, Bessarabis, Northern Bukovina and the right to occupy
Soviet territory up to the Dnieper.

On the 22nd June 1941, without any declaration of war, Germany inveded

Soviet territory in accordance with the plens so long mede.

The evidence which has been given before this Tribunal proves that
Germany had the design carefully thought out, to crush the U,S.S.R. as a
political and military power, so that Germany might exvand to the east
according to her own desire. In "Mein Kampf", Hitler had written

"If new territory were to be acquired in Burope,

it must have been mainly at Russia's cost, and

once again thec new German Empire should have set

out on its march along the same road as was for-

merly trodden by the Teutonic Knights, this time

t0 acquire soil for the German vlousgh by means

of the German sword and tlus provide the nation

with its daily bread."
But there was a more immediate purpose, and in one of the memoranda of the
OKW, that immediate purpose was stated to be t¢ feed the German armies
from Soviet territory in the $hird year of the war, even if "as a.result

a6 the defendant Rosenberg said,

many millions of the people/will be starved to death if we take out of the
country the things necessary for us,?

The final aims of the attack on the Soviet Union were formulsted at a

conference with Hitler on July 16, 1941, in which the defendants Goering,

16862



‘l" ‘ (U ‘l’§

Keitel, Rosenberg and Bormann particivateds
"There can be no talk of the creation of a mili-
tary power west of the Urals, even if we should
have to fight 100 years to achicve this...All
the Beltic regions must become part of the Reich,
The crimea end adjoining regions (North of the !
Crimea) rmust likewise be incorporated into the
Reich., The region of the Volga as well as the
Baku district must likewise be incerporated into
the Reich. The Finns want Eastern Karolia. How-
ever, in view of the large deposits of nickel,
the Kola peninsula mist be ceded to Germany."
It wes contended for the defendants that the attack upon the USSR
was justified because the Soviet Union was contemplating an attack upon
Germany, and meking prevarations to that end., It is imposzible to believe
that this view was ever honestly entertained.
The plans for the economic exploitation of the USSR, for the
renovael of masses of the population, for the murder of Commissars snd
political leaders, were all part of the carefully prevared scheme launched

on the 22nd June without warning of any kind, and without the shadow of

legel excuse, It was plain aggression.

4R, AGAINST THD UNITED STATES,

Four days after the a¥teck leunched by the Japanese-cn the United
States fleet in Pearl Harbor on December 7, 1941, Germany declared war on
the United States,

The Tripartite Pact between Germany, Italy, and Japan, had been signed
on the 27th September 1940, and from that date until the attack upon the
USSR the defendent Ribbentrop, with otsher defendants, was endeavouring to

induce Japan to attack British possessions in the Far East. This, it was
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thought, would hasten Englaend's defeat, anZ;EZep the United States out of
the war,

The possibility of a direct attack on the United States was considered
end discussed as a matter fér the future., Major von Felkenstein, the
Iuftwaffe Liaison officer with the Operations Staff of the OKW, summarizing
military problems which needed discussion in Berlin in October of 1940,
spoke of the possillity "of the prosecution of the war ageinst America
at a later date." It is clear, too, that the German volicy of keeping
Anmerice out of the war, if possible, did not prevent Germany promising
support to Japan even against the United States. On the 4th April 1941,
Hitler told Matsuoka, the Japsnese Foreign Minister, in the oresence of the
defendant Ribbentrop, that Germany would "strike without delay" if a
Javsnese attack on Singspore should lead to war between Jevsn end the
United States. The next day Ribbentroop himself urged Msztsuoks to dbring
Jepan into the war.

On the 28th November 1941, ten deys before the sttack on Pearl Harbor,
Ribbentrop encouraged Japan, through her Ambsssador in Berlin, to attack
Great Britein and the United States, Germany would join the wer
immediately. A4 few days later, Japanese representatives told Germeny and
Itsly that Javen was preparing to attack the United States, and asked for
their support. Germeny and Itely egreed to do this, =lthough in the Tri-
vartite Pae, Itely and Germany had undertaken to assist Japan only if she
were attacked. When the asssult on Pesrl Herbor did tske place, the defend-
ant Ribbentrop is reported to have becn "overjoyed", andlater, at a

ceremony in Berlin, when a German medel was awarded to Oshima, the Japan-
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ese Ambassador, Hitler indicated his approval of‘the tactice which the
Jezoenese had adopted of negotiating with the United States as long as
possible, and then striking hard without any declaration of war,

Although it is true that Hitler end his collezgues originally did
not consider that a war with the United States would be beneficiel.to
their interest, it is apparent thet in the course of 1941 that view was
revised, and Jepsn wes given every encouragement to adopt a policy which
would almost certainly bring the United States into the war. And when
Jepan attacked the United States fleet in Peerl Herbor and thus made
aggressive war egainst the United States, the Nazi Government caused Germany
to enter that war at once on the side of Jepsn by declaring war themselves
on the United States.

THE PRESIDENT: The Tridunel will adjourn until a quarter vesst two.

(a recess was taken wotil 14185 hours.)

16865



“ AFTERNOON SESSION

(The Tribunal reconvened at 1415 hjurs.)

THE PRECIDENT: I now ask Mr. Biddle to continue
the reading of the judgment.

MR. BIDDLE: Violations of International Treaties.
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The Charter defines as a crime the planning er waging of war
that is a war of aggression or a war in violation of international
treaties. The Tribunal has decided that certain ef the defendants
planned and waged aggressive wars against twelve nations, and were
therefore guilty of this series of crimes. This makes it unnecessary
to discuss the subject in further detail, or even to consider at any
length the extent to which these aggressive wars were also "wars in
violation of international treaties, agreements or assurances."”

These treaties are set out in Apvendix C of the Indictment. Those
of principle importance are the following.

HAGUE CONVENT IONS

In the 1899 Convention the signatory powers agreed: "before an
appeal to arms . . . to have recourse, as far as circumstances allow,
to the good offices or mediation of one or more friendly powers.'

A similar clause was inserted in the Convention for Pacific Settle-
ment of International Disputes of 1907. In the accompanying Convention
Relative to Opening of Hostilities, Article I contains this far more
specific language:
"The Contracting Powers recognize that hostilities
between them must not commence without a previous
and explicit warning, in the form of either a de-
claration of war, giving reasons, or an ultimatum

with a conditional declaration of war."

Germany was a party to these conventions.
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VERSAILLES TREATY

Breaches of certain provisions of the Versailles Treaty
are also relied -on by the Prosecution--not to fortify the
left bank of the Rhine (Art. 44-42); to "respect strictly
the independence of Austria" (Art. 80); remunciation of
any rights in Memel (Art. 99),.and the Free City of
Danzig (Art. 100); the recognition of the independence of
the Czecho-Slovak State; and the Military, Naval and Air
Clauses against German rearmament found in Part V. There 1s
no doubt that action was taken by the German Government
contrary to all these provisions, the details of which are
set out in Appendix C. With regard to the Treaty of
Versailles, the matters relied on are:

1. The violation of Articles 42 to 44 in respect of
the demilitarized zone of the Rhineland;

2. The annexation of Austria on the 13th March 1938,
in violation of Article 80;

3. The incorporation of the district of Memel on the
22nd March 1939; in violation of Article 99;

4, The incorporation of the Free City of Denzig on
the 1lst September 1939, in violation of Article 100;

5« The incorporation of the provinces of Bohemia and
Moravia on the 16th March 1939, in violation of Article
81;

6. The repudiation of the military naval and air
clauses of the Treaty, in or about March of 1935.

On the 21st May 1935 Germany announced, that whilst
renouncing the disarmamént clauses of the Treaty, she would
sti11 respect the territorial Timitations, and would com SHl
with the Locarno Pact. /With regard to the
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first five breaches alleged, therefore, the Tribunal finds

the allepation proved,/

TREATIES OF MUTUAL GUARANTEE, ARBITRATION AND
NON-AGGRESSION

It is unnecessary to discuss in any detail the various
treaties entered into by Germany with other powers. Treaties'
of Mutual Guarantee were signed by Germany at Locarno in
1925, with Belgium, France, Great Britain and Italy, assuring
the maintenance of the territorial status quo. Arbitration
treaties were also executed by Germany at Locarno with
Czechoslovakia; Belgium and Poland.

Article I of the latter treaty is typical, providing:

"All disputes of every kind between Germany and

Poland ... which it may not be possible to settle

amicably by the normal methods of diplomecy, shall

be submitted for decision to an arbitral tribunal..."

Conventions of Arbitration and Conciliation were entered
into between Germany, the Netherlands and Denmark in 19263 and
between Germany and Luxemburg in 1929. Non-aggression
treaties were executed by Germany with Denmark and Russia
in 1939.

KELLOGG-BRIAND PACT

The Pact of Paris was signed on the 27th August 1928 by
Germany, the United States, Belgium, France, Great Britain,
Italy, Japan; Poland and other countries; and subsequently
by other powers. The Tribunal has made full reference to the
nature of this Pact and its legal effect in another part of
this judgment. 1t is therefore not necessary to discuss
the matter further here, save to state that in the opinion
of the Tribunal this Pact was violated by Germany in 2ll
the cases of aggressive war charged in the Indictment. It

is to be noted that on the 26th January 1934 Germany signed a
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Declaration for the Maintenance of Permanent Peace with Poiand, which
was explicitly based on the Pact of Paris, and in which the use of
force was outlawed for a period of ten years.

The Tribunal does not find it necessary to consider any of the
other treaties referred to in the Appendix, or the repeated agreements

and assurances of her peaceful intentions entered into by Germany.
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THE LAW ©F THE CHARTER

The jurisdiction of the Tribunal is defined in the Agreement and
Charter, and the crimes coming within the jurisdiction of the Tribunal,
ior which there shall be individual responsibility, are set out in
Article 6. The law of the Charter is decisive, and binding upon the
Tribunal.

The making of the Charter was the exercise of the sovereign
legislative power by the countries to which the German Reich uncondi-
tionally surrendered; and the undoubted right of these countries to
legislate for the occupied territories has been recognized by the
civilized world. The Charter is not an arbitrary erercise of power on

the part of the victorious nations, but in the view of the Tribunal, as

.will be shown, it is the expression of international law existing at the

time of its creation; and to that extent is itself a contribution to
international law.

The Signatory Powers created this Tribunal, defined the law- it was
to administer, and made regulations for the proper conduct of the Trial,
In doing so, they have done together what any one of them might have
done singly; fér it is not to be doubted that any nation has the right
thus to set up special courts to administer law. With regard to the
constitution of the court, all that the defendants are entitled to ask
is to receive a fair trial on the facts and law.

The Charter makes the planning or waging of a war of aggression
or a war in violation of international treaties a crime; and it is
therefore not strictly necessary to consider whether and to what extent
ageressive war was a crime before the execution of the London Agreement.

But in view of the



.

great importance of the guestions of l#w invelved, the Tribunal has
heard full argument from the Prosecution and the Defense, and will
express its view on the matter.

It was urged on behalf of the defendants that a fundamental
principle of all law - international and domestic - is that therec

can be no punishment of crime without a pre—existing law. "Nullum crimen

sine lege, nulla poona sine lege." It was submitted that ox post facto

punishment is abhorrent to the law of all civilized nations, that no
sovercign power had made aggressive war a crime at the time the al-
leged criminal acts were committed, that no statute had defined ag-
gressive war, that no penalty had been fixed for its commission, and no
court had been created to try and punish offenders.

In the first place, it is to be observed that the maxim nullum

crimen sine lege is not a limitation of sovereignty, but is in gencral

a principle of justice. To assert that it is unjust to punish those
who in defiance of treatiecs and assurances have attacked neighboring
states without warning is obviously untrue, for in such circumstances
the attacker must know that he is doing wrong, and so far from it

being unjust to punish him, it would be unjust if his wrong were allowed
to go unpunished. Occupying thec positions they did in the government
of Germany, the defendants, or at least some of them must have

known of the treaties signed by Germany, outlawing recourse to war

fér the settlemernt of international disputes; they must have known that
they were acting in defiance ofall international law when in complete
deliberation they carried out their desiéns of invasion and aggression.
On this view of the case alone, it weuld appear that the maxim has no

application to the present facts,

16872



This view is strongly reinforced by a consideration
of the state of international law in 1939, so far as
aggressive war is concerned. The General Treaty for the
Renunciation of War of August 27th 1928, more generally
known as the Pact of Paris or the Kellogg-Briand Pact, was
binding on sixty-three nations, including Germany, Italy and
Japan at the outbreak of war in 1939. In the preamble, the

signatories declared that they were:-

"Deeply sensible of their solemn duty to promote
the welfare of mankind; persuaded that the time
has come when a frank renunciation of war as an
instrument of national policy should be made to
the end that the peaceful and friendly relations
now existing between their peoples should be
perpetuated ... all changes in their relations
with one another should be sought only by pacific
means ... thus uniting civilised nations of the
world in a common renunciation of war as an
instrument of their national policy ..."

The first two articles are as follows:

"Article I: The High Contracting Parties solemnly
declare in the names of their respective peoples
that they condemn recourse to war for the solution
of international controversies and renounce it as
an instrument of national policy in their relations

to one another."

"Article II: The High Contracting Parties agree that

the settlement or solution of all disputes or

conflicts of whatever nature or of whatever origin

they may be, which may arrive among them, shall never

be sought except by pacific means."

The question is, what was the legal effect of this pact?
The nations who signed the pact or adhered to it unconditionally
condemned recourse to war for the future as an instrument of
policy, and expressly renounced it. After the signing of

the pact, any nation recsorting to war as an instrument of
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national policy breaks the pact. In the opinion of the Tribunal,
the solemn renunciation of war as an instrument of national
policy necessarily involves the proposition that such a war is.
illegal in international law; and that those who plan and wage
such a war, with its inevitable and terrible consequences, are
committing a crime in so doing. War for the solution of
international controversies undertaken as an instrument of
national policy certainly includes a war of aggression, and
such a war is therefore outlawed by the pact. As Mr. Henry L.
Stimson, then Secretary of State of the United States, saild

in 1932:

"War between nations was renounced by the signatories

of the Kellogg~Briand Treaty. This means that it has

become throughout practically the entire world ... an

illegal thing. Hereafter, when nations engage in

armed confiict, either one or both of them must be

termed viocliators of this general treaty law ... We

denounce them as law breakers,"

But it is arguéd that the pact does not expressly enact
that such wars are crimes, or set up courts to try those who
make such wars. <o that extent the same is true with regard
to the laws of wur 2ontained in the Hdegus Cenvention. The Hague
Convention of 1907 prohibited resort to certain methods of
waging war. These "'icluded the inhunarz Lrcatment of prisoners;
the employment of poisoned weapons, the improper use of flags
of truce; and similar matters. Many of these prohibitions
had been enforced long before the date of the Conventionj; but
since 1907 they have certainly been crimes, punishable as
offences against the laws of war; yet the Hague Convention
nowhere designates such practices as criminal, nor is any
sentence prescribed, nor any mention made of a-court to try and
punish offenders. For many years past, however, military
tribunals have tried and punished individuals guilty of
violating the rules of land warfare laid down by this Convention.

In the opinion of the Tribunal, those who wage aggressive war

are doing that which is equally



1llegal, and of rmuch greater momeNt than a bremch of one of the
rules of the Hague convention. In interpreting the words of the
D,-h; 3¢ «wust be remembered that international law is not the
product of an international legislature, and that such inter-
national agreements as the Pact of Paris have to deal with
general principles of law, and not with administrative matters of
procedure. The law of war is to be found not only in treaties,
but in the customs and practices of states which gradually ob-
tained universal reCOgnition; and from the general principles of
Justice applied by jurists and practised by military courts.
This law is not static, but by continual adaptation follows the
needs of a changing world. Indeed, in many cases treaties do

no more than express and define for more accurate reference the
principles of law already existing.

The view whick the Tribunal takes of the true interpreta-
tion of the Pact is supported by the international history which
preceded it. 1In the year 1923 the draft of a Treaty of Mutual
Assistance was sponsored by the League of Nations. In Article I
the treaty declared "that aggressive war is an international
crime", and that the parties would "undertake that no one of them
will be guilty of its commission". The draft treaty was sub-
mitted to twenty-nine states, about half of whom were in favor of
accepting the text. The principal objection appeared to be in
the difficulty of defining the acts which would constitute
"aggression", rather than any doubt as to the criminality of
aggressive war., The preamble to the League of Nations 1924
Protocol for the Pacific Settlement of International Disputes
("Geneva Protocol"), after '"recognising the solidarity of the
members of the international community", declared that "é war
of aggression constitutes a violation of this solidarity and
is an international crime." It went on to declare that the

contracting parties were "desirous of
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facilitating the complete application of the system provided in
the Covenant of the League of Nations for the pacific settlement
of disputes between the states and of ensuring the repression

of international crimes." The Protocol was recommended to the
members of the League of Nations by a unanimous resolution in the
Assembly of the forty-eight members of the League. These member
included Italy and Japan, but Germany was not then a member of
the League.

Although the Protocol was never ratified, it was signed by
the leading statesren of the world, representing the vast major=-
ity of the civilized states and peoples, and may be regarded as
strong evidence of the intention to brand aggressive war as an
international crime.

At the meeting of the Assembly of the League of Nations on
the 24th September 1927, all the delegations then present (in-
cluding the German, the Italian and the Japanese), unanimously
adopted a declaration concerning wars of aggression. The
preamble to the declaration stated:

"The Assembly:

Recognizing the solidarity which unites the community

of nations;

Being inspired by a firm desire for the maintenance

of general peace;

Being convinced that a war of aggression can never serve

as a means of settling international disputes, and is

in consequence an international crime ..."

The unanimous resolution of the 18th February 1928 of twen:

one American republics at the sixth (Havana) Pan-imerican

Conference, declared that "war of agsression constitutes an
international crime against the human species.!

All these expressions of opinion, and others that could be
cited, so solemnly made, reinforce the construction which the
Tribunal placed upon the Pact of Paris, that resort to a war of
agrression is not merely illegal, but is criminal. The pro-
hibition of aggressive war demanded by the conscience of the
world; finds its expression in the series of Pacts and

Treaties to which the Tribunal has just referred.



It is also important to remember that Article 227 of the
Treaty of Versailles provided for the constitution of a specilal
Tribunal, composed of representatives of five of the Allied
and Associated Powers which had been belligerents in the first
World War opposed to Germany, to try the former German Enperor
"for a supreme offence against irternational morality and the
sanctity of treaties." The purpcse of this trial was expressed
to be "to vindicate the so.emn otligations of international
undertakings; and the validity of international morality."

In Article 228 of the Trea’y, the German Government expressly
recognized the right of th: Allied Powers "to bring before
military tribunals persons accused of having committed acts

in violation of the laws ¢nd custors of war."
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It was submitted that international law is concerned
with the actions of sovereign states, and provides no
punishment for individuals; and further, that where the act
in question is an act of state; those who carry it out are
not personally responsible, but are protected by the doctrine
of the sovereignty of the State. In the opinion of the
Tribunal, both these submissions must be rejected. That inter-
national law imposes duties and liabilities upon individuals
as well as upon states has long been recognized. In the
recent case of Ex Parte Quirin (1942 317 US 1), before the
Supreme Court of the United States, persons were charged
during the war with landing in the United States for purposes
of spying and sabotage. The late Chief Justice Stone,
speaking for the Court; sald:

"From the very beginning of its Hstory this Court

has applied the law of war as including that part

of the law of nations which prescribes for the

conduct of war, the status, rights and duties of

enemy nations as well as enemy individuals,."

He went on to give a list of cases tried by the Courts, where
individucl offenders were charged with offences against the
laws of natlions, and particularly the laws of war. Many
other authorities could be cited; but enough has been said

to show that individuals can be punished for violations of
international law. Crimes against international law are
committed by men, not by abstract entities, and only by
punishing individuals who commit such crimes can the pro-
visions of international law be enforced.

The provisions of Article 228 of the Treaty of Ver-

sailles already referred to illustrate and enforce this

view of individual responsibility.
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The principle of international law, which under certain
circumstances, protects the representatives of a state, cannot
be a2pplied to acts which are condemned as criminal by inter-
national law., The authors of these acts cannot shelter
themselves behind their official position in order to be
freed from punishment in appropriate proceedings. Article 7

of the Charter expressly declares:

"The official position of defendants, whether as
heads of state, or responsible officials in
government departments, shall not be considered

as freeing them from responsibility, or nitigating

punishment."

On the other hand the very essence of the Charter is
that individuals have international duties which transcend
the national obligations of obedience imposed by the in-
dividual state. He who violates the laws of war cannot
obtain immunity while acting in pursuance of the authority
of the state if the state in authorising action moves out-

side its competence under International Law,
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It was also submitted on behalf of most of these
defendants that in doing what they did they were acting
under the orders of Hitler, and therefore cannot be held
responsible for the acts committed by them in carrying out
these orders. The Charter specifically provides in
Article 8.

"The fact that the defendant acted pursuant to

order of his Government or of a superior shall

not free him from responsibility, but may be

considered in mitigation of punishment."

The provisions of this article are in confofmity with the
law of all nations. That a soldier was ordered to kill or
torture in violation of the international law of war has
never been recognized as a defense to such acts of brutality,
though; as the Charter here provides, the order may be

urged in nmitigation of the punishment. The true test, which
is found in varying degrées in the criminal law of most
nations, is not the existence of the order, but whether

moral choice was in fact possible.
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THE L.W AS TO THE COMMON PLAN OR CONSPIRACY

In the nrevious recital of the facts relating to
aggressive war, it is clear that planning and preparation
had been carried out in the most systematic way at every
stage of the history.

Planning and preparation are essential to the making

£

of war. In the opinion of the Tribunal aggressive war is
crime under international law. The Charter defines this
offense as planning, preparation, initiation or waging of
.a war of aggression "or participation ih a cormmon plan or
conspiracy for the accomplishment ... of the foregoing."
The Indictment follows this distinction. Count One charges
the common plan or conspiracy. Count Two charges the
planning and waging of war. The same evidence has been
introduced to support both counts. We shall therefore
discuss both counts together, as they are in substance the
same. The defendants have been charged under both counts,
and their guilt under each count must be determined.

The "common plan or conspiracy" charged in the Indict-
ment covers twenty-five years, from the formation of the
Nazi Party in 1919 to the end of the war in 1945. The
party is spoken of as "the instrument of cohesion among
the defendants' for carrying out the purposes of the

conspiracy - the overthrowing
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of the Treaty of Versailles, acquiring territory lost by
Germany in the last war and "lebensraum" in Europe, by the
use; if necessary; of armed force, of aggressive war. The
"seizure of power" by the Nazis, the use of terror, the
destruction of trade unions, the attack on Christian teach-
ing and on churches, the persecution of the Jews, the
regimentation of youth - all these are said to be steps
deliberately taken to carry out the common plan, It found
expression, so it is alleged, in secret rearmament, the with-
drawal by Germany from the Disarmoment Conference and the
League of Nations;‘universal military service, and selzure

of the Rhineland. Finally, according to the Indictment,
aggressive action was planned and carried out against Austria
and Czechoslovakia in 1936-1938, followed by the planning and
waging of war against Polandj; and, successively, against

ten other countries,

The Prosecution says,in effect, that any significant
participation in the affairs of the Nazi Party or government
is evidence of a participation in a conspiracy that is in
itself criminal. Conspiracy is not defined in the Charter.
But in the opinion of the Tribunal the conspiracy must be
clearly outlined in its criminal purpose. It must not be
too far removed from the time of decision and of action. The

planning, to be criminal, must not rest merely on the
declaration of a party program, such as are found in the
twenty-five points of the Nazi Party, announced in 1920;

or the political affirmations expressed in "Mein Kampf"

in later years. The Tribunal must examine whether a con-
crete plan to wage war existed, and determine the par-
ticipants in that concrete plan.

It is not necessary to decide whether a single master
conspiracy between the defendants has been established

by the evidence., The seizure of pnower bv the Nazi Partv.
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of economic and social life must of course be remembered when
the later plans for waging war are exanined. That plans were
made to wage wars, as early as November 5th 1937, and pro-
bably before that, is apparent. And thereafter, such prepara-
tions continued in many directions, and against the peace’of
many countries. Indeed the threat of war - and war itself if
necessary - was an integral part of the Nazi policy. But the
evidence establishes with certainty the existence of many
separate plans rather than a single conspiracy embracing then
all. That Germany was rapidly moving to complete dictator-
ship from the moment that the Nazis seized power, and progress-
ively in the direction of war, has been overwhelmingly shown
in the ordered sequence of aggressive acts and wars already
set out in this Judgrment.
In the opinion of the Tribunal, the evidence establishes
the common planning to prepare and wage war by certain of
the defendants. It is immaterial to consider whether a single
conspiracy to the extent and over the time set out in the
Indictment has been conclusively proved. Continued planning,
with agrressive war as the objective, has been established
beyond doubt. The truth of the situation was well stated by
Paul Schmidt, official interpreter of the German Foreign
Office, as follows:
"The general objectives of the Nazi leadership were
apparent from the start, namely the domination of the
European Continent, to be achieved first by the in-
corporation of all German speaking groups in the Reich,
and secondly, by territorial expansion under the
slogan "Lebensraun." The execution of these basic
objectives, however, seemed to be characterized by
improvisation. Each succeeding step was apparently
carried out as each new situation arose, but all con-'
sistent with the ultimate objectives mentioned above."
The argunent that such common planning cannot exist where
there is complete dictatorship is unsound. A plan in the

execution of which a number of persons participate is still

a plan, even though conceived by only one of
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them; and those who execute the plan do not avoid responsibility by showing
that they acted under the direction of the man who conceived it. EHitler
could not meke aggressive war by himself. He had to have the co—operation
of statesmen, military leaders, diplomats, and business men. Yhen they,
with knowledge of his aims, gave him their co—operation, they made them—
sclves parties to the plan he had initiated., They are not to be deemed
innocent because Hitler made use of them, if they knew what they were doing.
That they werec acsigned to their tasks by a dictator dcos not absolve them
from responsibility for their acts. The 1elation of iecader and follower does
not preclude responsibility here anymore than it does in the comparable
tyranny of organized domestic crime.

Count One, however, charges not only the conspiracy to commit
ageressive war, but also %o commit war crimes and crimes against humanity.
But the Charter does not define as a separate crime any conspiracy except
the one to commit acts of aggressive war. Article 6 of the Charter
prOVidés:

"Leaders, organizers, instigators and

accomplices participating in the formulation

or execution of a common plan or conspiracy

to commit any of the foregoing crimes are

responsible for all acts performed by any

persons in execution of such plan."

In the opinion of the Tribunal these words do not add a new and
separate crime to those already listed. The words are designed to establish
the responsibility of perscns varticipating in & common plan. The Tribunal
will therefore disregard the charges in Count One that the defendants
conspired to commit war crimes and crimes apgainst humanity, and will con-
sider only the common plan to prepare, initiate and wage aggressive war.

THE PRES'DENT: I now ask Judge Parker to continue the reading

of the Judgment.

JUDGE PARKER:
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WAR CRIMES AND CRIMES AGAINST HUMANITY

The evidence relating to War Crimes has been overwhelming, in its
volume and its detail. It is impossidble for this Judgment adequately to
review it, or to rccord the mass of documentary and oral evidence that lLas
been presented. The truth remains that War Crimes were committed on a
vast scale, never before seen in the history of War. They were perpectrated
in 811 the countrics occiapied Ly Gernany, and or +hz Figk Seas, and were
attended Ly cvery conceiseble circumstance of ciucliy aszd horror. There
can be no doubt that the majoriiy of them arose from thae Nazi conception
of "total war", with which the agcressive wars were waged, For in this
conception of "total war”, the rorali ideas underlying the Conventions which
seek to make war more homuae ave no longer regarded as having force or
validity. ZEverything is made subordinate to the overmasiering dictates
of war. Rules, regulations, assurances and treaties all alike are of no
nonent; and so, freed from the restraininge influence of internaticnal law,
the aggressive war is conducted by the Nazi leaders in the most barbaric waey.
Accordingly, War Crimes were comnitted when and wherever the Fuehrer and his
close assnciates thought them to be advantageous. They were for the most
part the result of cold and criminal celeculation.

On some occaeions, War Crincs werc deliberately plaaned long in
advance. In the case of the Soviet Union, the plunder of the territories to
be occupied, end the illi--treatment of the civilian popuilaticn, were settled
in minute detail before the attack was begun. As early as the Autumn of
1940, the invasion of the¢ territories of the Soviet Union was being
considered. Fron that date onwards, the methods to be 6mploycd in destroy—

ing all possible opposition were continucusly under discussion.

16885



Similarly, when planning to exploit the inhabitants of the
occupied countries for slave labor on the very greatest scale, the
German Government conceived it as an integral part of the war economy,
and planned and organized this particular War Crime down to the last
elaborate detail.

Other War Crimes, such as the murder of prisoners of war who had
escaped and been recaptured, or the murder of Commandos or captured air-
men, or the destruction of the Soviet Commissars, were the result of
direct orders circulated through the highest official channels.

The Tribunal proposes, therefore, to deal quite generally with the
guestion of War Crimes, and %o refer to them later when examining the
responsibility of the individual defendants in relation to them.

Prisoners of war were ill-treated and torturcd and murdered, not only in
defiance of the well-established rules of international law, but in
complete disregard of the elementary dictates of humanity. Civilien
populations in occupied territories suffered the same fate. Whele
ropulations were doported to Cermany for the purposes of slave labor

upon dofence works, armament productinn and similar tasks connected with
the war effort. Hostages were teken in very large numbers from the
civilian populations Ir ail the occupied countries, and were shct as
suited the German purposcs. Fublie and privatc property was systematically
plundered and pillaged in orcer to enlarge the resources of Germany at the
expense of the res* of furope. Cities and towns and viilages were

wantonly destroyed without military justification or necessity.
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MURDER AND ILI~TREATMENT OF PRISONERS OF WAR

Article 6(b) Of the Charter defines "War Crimes" in these words:
"War crimes: namely, violatiaons of the laws or
customs: of war, Such violations shall include,
hut not be limited to, murder, ill—trcatment or
deportation to slave labor or for any other pur-
rose of civilian population of or in occupied
territory, murder or ill-treatment of prisoners
of war or persons on the seas,killing of
hostages, plunder of publie or private property,
wanton destruction of cities, towns, or villages,
or devastation not justified by military necessity.”

In the course of the war, many Allied snldiers who had surrendered
to the Germans were shot immediately, often as a matter of deliberate,
calculated policy. On the 18th October 1942, the defendant Keitel
circulated a directive authorized by Hitler, which ordered that all
nembers of Allied "Commando" units, often when in uniform and whether
armed or not, were to be "slaughtered to the last man", even if they
attempted to surrender. It was further provided that if such Allied troops
came into the hands of the military suthorities after being first captured
by the local police, or in any other way, they should be handed over immed-
iately to the SD, This order was supplemented from time to time, and was
effective throughout the remainder of the war, although after the Allied
landings in Normandy in 1944 it was made clear that the order did not
apply to "Commandos" captured within the immediate battle area. Under the
provisions of this order, Allied "Commando" troops, and other military
units operating indevendently, lost their lives in Norway, France,
Czechoslovekia and Italy. Many of them were killed on the spot, and in
no case were those who were executed later in concentration camps ever
given a trial of any kind. For example, an American military mission

which landed behind the German front in the Balkans in January 1945,

numbering about twelve to fifteen men and wearing
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uniform, were taken to Mauthausen under the authority of this order, and
according to the affidavit of Adolf Zutte, the adjutant of the Mauthausen
Concentration Camp, all of them were shot.

In March 1944 the OKH issued the "Kugel! or "Bullet" decrce, which
directed that every escaped officer and NCO prisoner of war who had not heen
put to werk, with the exception of British and American prisoners of war,
should on recapture be handed over to the SIPO and SD. This order was
distributed by the SIPO and SD to their regional offices. These escaped
officers and NCOs were to be sent to the eccncentraticn camp at Mauthausen,
to be executed upon arrival, by means of a bullet shot in the neck.

In March 1944 fifty officers of the British Royal Air Force, who
escaped from the camp at Sagan where they were confined as priscners, were
shot on recapture, on the direct orders of Hitler. Their bodies were
immediately cremated, and the urns eontaining their ashes were returned to
the camp.. It was not contended by the defendants that this was other than
plain murder, in complete violation of international law.

When Allied airmen were forced to land in Germany, they were sone-—
times killed at once by the civilian population. The police were instructed
not to interfere with these killings, and the Ministry of Justice was
informed that no one should be prosccuted for taking part in them,

The treatment of Soviet prisoners of war was characterized by
particular inhumanity. The death of 80 many of them was not due merely to
the action of individual guards, or to the exigencies of life inbthe camps ¢
It was the result of systematic plans to murder. More than a month before the

German invasion of the Soviet Union, the OKW were neking special plans for
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dealing with political representatives serving with the Soviet armed forces
who might be captured. One proposal was that "political Commissars of the

Arny are not recognized as Prisoners of War, and are tc be liguidated at the

latest in the transient prisoner of war campa." The defendant Keitel gave
evidence that instructions incorporating this proposal were issued to the

German arnmy.

On the 8th September 1941,.regu1ations for the treatment of Soviet
prisoners of war in all prisoner of war camps were issued, signed by
General Reinecke, thc head of the prisoner of war department of the High

Command. These orders stated:

"The Bolshevist soldier has therefore lost all clain
to treatment as an honorable opponent, in accordance
with the Geneva Convention....The order for ruthless
and energetic action must be given at the slightest
indication of insubordination, especially in the case
of Bolshevist fanatics. Insubordination, active or
passive resistance, must be broken immediately by
force of arms (bayonets, butts and firearms)...
Anyone carrying out the order who does not use his
wegpons, or does so with insufficient energy, is
punishable,..Prisoners of war attempting escape

are to be fired on without previcus challenge. No
warning shot must ever be fired....The use of arms
against prisoners of war is as a rule legal."

The Soviet prisoners of war were left without suitable clothing. The
wounded without medical care; they were starved, and in many cases left

to die.

On the 17th July 1941, the Gestapc issued an order providing for
the killing of all Soviet prisoners of war who were or might be dangerous

to National Socialism. The order recited:

"The mission of the Commanders of the SIPO and SD
stationed in Stalaga is the political investigation
of all canp inmates, the elimination and further
'treatment? (a) of all political, criminal or in
some other way unbearable elements among then, (v)
of those persons who could be used for the recon-
struction of the occupied territories....Further,
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the commanders must make efforts from the beginning

to seck out among the prisoners elements which appear
reliable, regardless if there are Comnunists concerned
or not, in order to use them for Intelligence purposes
inside of ‘the camp, and if advisable, later in the
occupied territories alsc. By use of such informers,
and by use of all other existing possibilities, the
discovery of all elements to be eliminated among the
prisoners must proceed step by step at once,..

fgbove all, the following must be discovered:
all importent functionaries of State and Party, especially
professicnal revolutionaries...all People's Commissars
in the Red Army, leading personalities of the State..,
leading personalities of the business world, members
of the Soviet Russian Intelligence, all Jews, all persons
who are found to be agitators or fanatical Communists.
Executions are not to be held in the canp cr in the
immediate vicinity of the camp... The prisoners are to
be taken for special treatment if possible into the
former Soviet Russian territory."

The affidavit of Warlimont, deputy Chief of Staff of the Wehrmacht, and
the testimony of Ohlendorf, former Chief of Amt III of the RSHA, and of Lahous-
en, the head of one of the sections of the Abwehr, theWehrmacht's Intelligence
Service, all indicate the thoroughness with which this order was carried out.

The affidavit of Kurt Lindown, a former Gestapc official, states?

", ... There existed in the prisoner of war camps on

the Bastern Front small screening teams (Einsatz
commandos), headed by lower ranking members of the
Secret Police (Gestapo). These teams were assigned

to the camp commanders and had the job to segregate

the prisoners of war who were candidates for execu—
tion according to the orders that had been given,

and to report them to the of fice of the Secret Police,"

On the 23rd October 1941 the camp commancer of the Gross Rosen concen-—
tration canp reported to Mueller, chief of theGestapo, a list of the
Soviet prisoners of war who had been executed there on the previous day.

An account of the general conditions and treatment of Soviet prisoners

of war during the first eight months after the German sttack upon Russia wes
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given in a letter which the defendant Rosenberg sent to the defendant

[

Keitel on the 28th February 1942:

"The fate of the Soviet prisoners of war in Germany

is on the contrary a tragedy of the greatest extent
ees + large part of them has starved, or died because
of the hazards of the weather. ~Thousands also died
from spotted fevers

"The carp commanders have forbidden the civilian
population to put food at the disposal of the prisoncrs,
and they have rather let them starve to dcaths.

"In many cases, when prisoners of war could no
longer keep up on the march because of hunger and
exhaustion, they were shot before the eyes of the
horrified population, and thec corpses were lefts

'"In numerous camps, no shelter for the prisoners
of war was provided at alls They lay under the open
sky during rain or snow. Zven tools were not made
available to dig holes or cavess"

In some cases Soviet prisoners of war were branded with a special
permanent merks. There was put in evidence the OKW order dated the 20th
July 1942 which laid down thaté

"The brand is to take the shape of an acute angle

of about 45 degrees, with the long side to be 1 cm.

in length, pointing upwards and burnt on the left

buttockeee This brand is made with the aid of a

lancet available in any military unite The coloring

used is Chinese ink."
The carrying out of this order was the responsibility of the military
authorities, though it was widely circulated by the Chief of the SIPO and
the SD to German police officials for information.

Soviet prisoners of war were also mede the subject of medical cxperi-
nments of the most cruel and inhuman kinde In July 1943 experimental work
was begun in preparation for a campaign of bacteriological warfare; Soviet
prisoners of war were used in these medical experiments,.which more often

than not proved fatal. L. connection with this campaign for bacteriolagical

warfare, preparations were also made for the spreading of bacterial emmlsions
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from planes, with the object of producing widespread failures of crops and
consequent starvations These neasures were never applied, possibly because
of the rapid deterioration of Germany's military position.

The argunent in defense of the charge with regard to the rmurder and
ill-treatment of Soviet prisoners Qf war, that the USSR was not a party to
the Geneva Convention, is quite without foundation. On the 15th September
1941 idmiral Canaris protested against the regulations for the treatment of
Soviet prisoners of war, signed by General Reinecke on the 8th September
1941+ He then stated:

"The Geneva Convention for the treatment of
prisoners of war is not binding in the relation=-
ship between Germany and the USSR, Therefore

only the principles of General international law
on the treatment of prisoners of war apply. Since
the 18th century these have gradually been
established along the lines that war ceptivity is
neither revenge nor punishment, but solely
protective custody, the only purpose of which is to
prevent the prisoners of war from further parti-
cipation in the war. This principle was developed
in accordance with the view held by all armies
that it is contrary to military tradition to kill
or injure helpless people..e The decreesfor the
treatment of Soviet prisoners of war enclosed are
based on a fundamentally different view-point."

This protest, which correctly stated the legal position, was ignored. The
defendant Xeitel made a note on this menorandurs

"The objections arise from the nilitary concept

of chivalrous warfare. This is the destruction

of an ideology. Therefore I approve and back
the measures,"
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MURDER 4ND ILL-TREATIZNT OF CIVILIAN POPULATION

irticle 6(b) of the Charter provides that "ill-treatmente.. of
civilien population of or in occupied territory ;.. killing of hostages e
wanton destruction of cities, towns or villages" shall be a war crinee.

In the mein, these provisions are merely declaratory of the existing laws
of war as expressed by the Hague Convention, isrticle 46, which stated:

"Family honor and rights, the lives of persons

and private property, as well as religious

convictions and practices rmst be respected."

The territories occupied by Geémany were edninistered in violation of
the laws of war. The cvidence is quite overwhelning of a systenatic rule
of violence, brutality and terror. On the 7th December 1941 Hitler issued
the directive since known as the "Nacht and Nebel Zrlass" (Night and Fog
Decree), under which persons who comitted offences against ihe Reich or
the German forces in occupied territories, except where the death sentence
was certain, were to be teken secretly to Germany ard handed over to the
SIPO and SD for trial or punishment in Germany. This decree was signed by
the defendant Keitel, &fter these civilians arrived in Germeny, no word
of them was permitted to reach the country from which they came, or their

relatives; even in cases when they died awaiting trial the families were

not informed, the purpcse beiag to create anxiety in the mninds of the family

of the arrested person. Hitler's purpose in issuing this decree was stated
by the defendant Keitel in a covering letter, dated 12 December 1941, to be
as follows?

"Efficient and enduring intimidation can only be

achieved either by capital punishment or by

measures by which the relatives of the criminal
and the population do not know the fate of the



crininal, This aim is achieved when the
erininal is transferred to Germany."

Zven persons who were only suspected of opposing any of the policies
~f the German occupation authorities were arrested, and on arrest were
interrogated by the Gestapo and the SD in the most shameful menner. On the
12th June 1942 the Chief of the SIPO and SD published, through Mueller, the
Gestapo Chief, an order authorizing the use of "third degree" nmethods of
interrogation, where preliminary investigation had indicated that the person
could give information on important natters, such as subversive activities,
though not for the purpose of extorting confessions of the prisoner's own
crimes, This order provided:

"eeeThird degree may, under this supposition, only
be erployed against Corrmnists, Merxists, Jehovah's
Witnesses, saboteurs, terrorists, members of
resistance movenents, parachute agentsy anti-social
elements, Polish or Soviet Russian loafers or tramps;
in all other cases 1y permission rmust first be
obtainedcs.Third degree can, according to circun-
stances, consist amongst other methods of very
simple diet (bread and water), hard bunk, dark cell,
deprivation of sleep, exhaustive drilling, also in
flogging (for rore than twenty strokes a doctor
rmst be consulted),"

The brutal suppression of all opposition to the German occupation was
not confined to severe measures against suspected nerbers of resistance
movenents themselves, but was also extended to their familiess On the 19th
July 1944, the Cormwnder cf the SIPO and SD in the district of Radom, in
Poland, published an order, transnmitted through the Higher S5 and Police
Leaders, to the effect that in all cases of agsassination or attenpted
assassination of Gérmans, or where saboteurs had desiroyed vital installations
not only the guiliy person, but also all his or her nale relatives should be
shot, and feuale relatives over sixteen years of age put into e concentration
CallPe

In the swmer of 194} the Zinsatz Corxiando of the SIPO and SD at e
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Lusemburg caused persons to be confined at Sachsenhausen concgntration camp
becausc they were relatives of deserters, and were therefore "expected to
endanger the interest of the German Reich if allowed to go free.'
he practice of keeping hostages to prevent and to punish any form of

civil disorder was resorted to by the Germans; an order issued by the
defendant Keitel on thelléth Septeﬁber 1941 spoke in terms of fifty or a
hundred lives from the occupied arcas of the Soviet Union for one German
life taken. The order stated that "it should be remembered that a humen
life in unsettled countries frequently counts for nothing, and a. deterrent
effect can be obtained only by unusual severity." The exact number of persoms
killed as a result of this policy is not known, but large numbers were killed
in France and the other occupied territories in the West, while in the Zast
the slaughter was on an even more extensive scale. In addition to the
killing of hostages, entire towns were destroyed in sorie cases; such
rmagsacres as those of Oradour-sur-Glane in France and Lidice in Czechoslovakia-
both of which were described to the Tribunal in detail, are examples of the
organized use of terror by the occupying forces to beat down and destroy
all opposition to their rulee

One of the most notorious rneans of terrorizing the people in occupied
territories was the use of concentration campse They were first established
in Germany at the noment of the seizure of power by the Nazi Government .
Their original purpose was veo imprison without trial all those persons who
were opposed to the Governmont, or who were in any way obnoxious to German (
authority. With the aid of a secret police force, this practice was widely

extended, and in course of time concentration carps became places of orgenized
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and systomatic murder, where millions of veople were destroyed.

In the administration of the occupied territories the concentration
camps were used to destroy 21l opposition groups. The persons arrested by the
Gestapo were as a rule sent to concentration camps. They were conveyéd to the
camps in many cases without any care whatever being taken for them, and great
numbers died on the way. Those who arrived at the camp were subject to
systematic cruelty. They were given hard physical labor, inadequate food,
clothes and shelter, and were subject at all times to the rigors of a soul-
less regime, and theprivate whims of individual guards. In the report of the
War Crimes Branch of the Judge Advocate's Section of the 3rd U.S. Army, under
date 21lst June 1945, the conditions at the Flossenburg concentration camp were
investigated, and one passage may be quoted:

"Flossenburg concentration camp can best be described
as a factory dealing in death. Although this camp
had in view theprimary object of putting to work the
mass slave labor, another of its primary objects was

" the elimination of humen lives by the methods employed
in hendling theprisoners. Hunger and starvation
rations, sadism, inadequate clothing, medical neglect,
disease, beatings, hangings, freezing, forced sui-
cides, shooting etc. all played a major role in ob-
taining their object. DPrisoners were murdered at
random; spite killings against Jews were common, in-
jections of poison and shootinz in the neck were
everydey occurrcnces; epidemics of typhus and spotted
fever were permitted io run rampant as a means of
eliminating prisoners; 1life in this camp meant
nothing. Killing becams a common thing. so common
that a quick dsatiy was welcomed by the nrieoriunate
ones. !
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A certain number of the concentration camps were equipped with gas

chambers for the wholesale destruction of the inmates, and with furnaces for
the burning of the bodies. Some of them were in fact used for the extermina-
tion of Jews as part of the "final solution" of the Jewish problem. Most

of the non-Jewish inmates Qere used for labor, although the conditions under
which they worked made labor and death almost synonymous terms. Those
inmates who beceme ill and were unable to work were either destroyed in the
gas chambers or sent to special infirmariee, where they were given entirely
inadequate medical treatment, worse food if possible than the working inmates,
and left to die.

The murder and ill-treatment of civilian populations reached its height
in the treatment of the citizens of the Soviet Union and Poland, Some four
weeks before the invasion of Russia began, special task forces of the SIPC
and SD, called Einza*:z Groups, were formed on the orders of Eimmler for the
purpose of follow:ng tre Germen armies into Ruszie, combating partisans and
members of Resistance Groups, and exterminating the dsws and communist leaders
and other sections of the population. In the beginning, four such Zinsatz
Grouﬁs were formed, one operating in the Baltic States, one towards Moscow,
one towards Kiev, and one operating in the south of Rugsia. Chlendorf, former
chief of Amt III of the RSHA, who led the fourth group, stated in his affidavit:

"When the German army invaded Russié, I was leader
of Einsatzgruppe D, in the southern sector, and in
the course of the year during which I was leader of
the HEinsatzgruppe D it liquidated aporoximately
90,00C men, women and children. The majority of

those liquidated were Jews, but there were also
anong them some communist functionaries."



In an order issued by the defendant Keitel on the 23d July 1941, and

drafted by the defendant Jodl, it was stated that

"in view of the vast size of the occupied areas in

the Bast, the forces available for establishing

security in these areas’ will be sufficient only if

all resistance is punished, not by legal prosecution

of the guilty, but by the spreading of such terror

by the armed forces as is alone appropriate to eradicate
every inclination to resist amonz the population...
Cormanders must find the means of keeping order by

applying suitable draconian measures."

The evidence has shown that this order was ruthlessly carried out in
the territory of the Soviet Union and in Poland. A significant illustration
of the measures actually applied occurs in the document which was sent in 1943

to the defendant Rosenberg by the Reich Commigssar for Eastern Territories;

who wrote:

"It should be possible to avoid atrocities and
to bury those who have been liguidated. To lock
men, women and children into barns and set fire
to them does not appear to be a suitable mornnod
of combating bands, even if it is desired c
externinate the population. This method is

not worthy of the German cause, and hurts our
reputation severely.”

The Tribunal has before it an affidavit of one Hermenn Graebe, dated
10th Novemberl945, describing the immense mass murders which he witnessed.
He was the manager and engineer in charge of the branch of the Solingen firm
of Josef Jung in Spolbunow, Ukraine, from September 1941 to January 1944.

first of all described the attack upon the Jewish ghetto at Rowno:

", .. Then the electric floodlights which had been
erected all round the ghetto were switched on.
SS and militia details of four to six members




entered or at least tried to enter the houses.
Where the doors and windows were closed, and the
inhabitants did not open upon the knocking, the
SS men and militia broke the windows, forced the
doors with beams and crowbars, and entered the
dwelling. The owners were driven on to the
street just as they were, regardless of whether
they were dressed or whether they had been in bed.
ves Car after car was filled. Over it hung the
screaming of women and children, the cracking of
whips and rifle shots."

Graebe then described how a mass execution at Dubno,
which he witnessed on the 5th October 1942, was carried out:

"...Now we heard shots in quick succession from
behind one of the earth mcunds. The people who
had got off the trucks, men, women and children
of all -ages, had to undress upon the orders of an
SS man, who carried a riding or dog whip ...
Withou%-screaming or crying, these people un-
dressed, stood around by families, kissed each
other, said farewells, and waited fcr the command
of another SS man, who stood near the excavation,
also with a whip in his hand... A% that moment
the SS man at the excavation called something to
his comrade. The latter counted off about 20
persons, and instructc. them to walk behind the
earth mound... I walked around the mound and
stood in front of a tremendous grave; closely
pressed together, the people were lying on top

of each other so that only their heads were
visible. The excavation was already two-thirds
full; I estimated that it contained about a
thousand people... Now already the next group
approached, descended into the excavation, lined
themselves up against the previous victins and
were shot."
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The foregoing crimes against the civilian population
are sufficiently appalling, and yet the evidence shows that
at any rate in the East, the mass nurders and cruelties were
not cormnmitted solely for the purpose of stamping out
opposition or resistunce to the German occupying forces.

In Poland and the Soviet Union these crimes were part of a
plan to get rid of whole native populations by expulsion and
annihilation, in order that their territory could be used
for colonization by Germans. Hitler had written in "Mein
Kampf" on these lines, and the plan was clearly stated by
Hirmler in July 1942, when he wrote:
"It is not our task to Germanize the East in the
old sense, that is to teach the people there the
German language and the German law, but to see to
it that only people of purely Germanic tlood live
in the East."

In August 1942 the policy for the Easte:n Territories
as laid down by Bormann was summarized by a subordinate of
Rosenberg as follows:

"The Slavs are to work for us. In so far as we

do not need them, they may die., Therefore, com-
rulsory vaccination and Germanic health services
are superfluous. The fertility of the Slavs is

undesirable."

It was Himmler again who stated in October 1943:

"What happens to a Russian, a Czech, does not
interest me in the slightest. What the nations
can offer in the way of good blood of our type, we
will take. If necessary, by kidnapping their chil-
dren and raising them here with us. Whether
nations live in prosperity or starve to death
interests me only in so far as we need them as
slaves for our Kultur, otherwise it is of no
interest to me."

In Poland the intelligentsia had been marked down for
externination as early as September 1939, and in May 1940
the defendant Frank wrote in his diary of "taking advantage

of the focussing of world interest on the Western
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Front, by wholesale liquidation of thousands of Poles,
first‘leading representatives of the Polish intelligentsia."”
Earlier, Frank had been directed to reduce the "entire Polish
econony to absolute minirum necessary for bare existence.
The Poles shall be the slaves of the Greater German World
Enpire." 1In January 1940 he recorded in his diary that
"cheap labor nmust be rerioved from the General Government by
hundreds of thousands. This will hamper the native biological
propagation.” ©So successfully did the Germans carry out this
policy in Poland that by the end of the war one third of the
population had been killed, and the whole of the country
devastated.
It was the same story in the occupied area of the Soviet

Union. At the time of the launching of the ‘erasn attack
in June 1941 Rosenberg told his collabw rators:

"The object of feeding the German people stands

this year without a doubt at the top of the list

of Germany's clains on the East, and there the

southern territories and the northern Caucasus

will have to serve as a balance for the feeding

of the German people... A very extensive evac-

uation will be necessary without any doubt, and

it is sure that the future will hold wvery hard
years in store for the Russians.”

Three or four weeks later Hitler discussed with Rosenberg,
Goering, Keitel and others his plan for the exploitation of
the Soviet population and territory, which included among
other things the evacuation of the inhabitants of the Crimea
and its settlement by Germans.

A somewhat similar fate was planned for Czechoslovakia
by the defendant von Neurath, in August 1940; the intelli gent-
sia were to be "expelled)' but the rest of the population
was to be Germanized rather than expelled or externinated ,
since there was a shortage of Germans to replace them.

In the west the population of Alsace were the victin.s

of a German
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"expulsion action." Between July and December 1940,
105,000 Alsatians were either deported from their homes
or prevented from returning to them., A captured German
report dated 7th August 1942 with regard to Alsace states
that:

"The problem of race will be given first

consideration, and this in such a manner

that persons of racial value will be de-

ported to Germany proper, and racially

inferior persons to France."

THE PRESIDENT: The Tribunal will adjourn for ten
ninutes.

(A recess was taken.)

THE PRESIDENT: I now ask General Nikitchenko to

continue the reading of the judgment.
GENERAL NIKITCHENKO: Article 49 of the Hague

Convention provides that an

[}
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occupying power may levy a contribution of noney from the
occunied territory to pay for the needs of the arny of
occupation, and for the administration of the territory in
question. Article 52 of the Hague Convention provides that
an occunying power nay nake requisitions in kind only for
the needs of the army of occupation, and that these
requisitions shall be in proportion to the resources of the
country. These articles, together with Article 48, dealing
with the expenditure of nmoney collected in taxes, and Articles
53, 55 and 56, dcaling with public property, make it clear
that under the rules of war, the econony of an ocecupied
country can only be required to bear the expenses of the
occupation, and these should not be grecater than the econony
of the country can reasonably be expected te bear. Artilcle
56 reads as follows:

"The property of rmunlecipalities, of religious,

charitable, educational, artistic and scientific

institutions, although belonging to the State,

is to be accorded the same standing as private

property. All pre-meditated seizure, destruc-

tion or darage of such institutions, historical

nonunents, works of art and science, is pro-

hibited and should he prosecutcd."

The evidence in this case has establishcd, however, that
the territorics occunied by Germany were exploited for the
German war cffort in the most ruthless way, without considera-
tion of the local economy, and in consequence of a deliberate
Cesign and nolicy. There was in truth a systematic "plunder

of public or private property", which was criminal under

Article 6 (b) of the Charter. The German occupation policy was
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clearly stated in a specch nade by the defendant Goering on
the 6th august 1942, to the various Gernan authorities in
charge of occupied territories:

"God knows, you are not sent out there to work for

the welfarc of the peonle in your charge, but to

get the utmost out of them, so that the .German

people can live. That is what I expect of your

exertions. This everlasting concern about foreign

people rmst ccase now, once and for all., I have

here before me reports on what you arec expected to

deliver., It is nothing at all, when I consider

your territories. It makes no difference to ne in

this connection if you say that your peonle will

starve.,"

The nethods enployed to exploit the resources of the
occupied territorics to the full varied from country to
country. In somc of the occupied countries in the Bast and
the West, this exploitation was carried out within the
framework of the existing economic structure. The local
industries were put under German supervision, and the dis-
tribution of war naterials was rigidly controlled. The
industries thought to be of value to the German war effort
were compelled to continue, and most of the rost were closed
down altogethecr. ILaw naterials and the finished products
alike were confiscated for the needs of the Germnan industry.
A8 early as the 19th October 1939 the defendant Goering
had issued a directive giving detailed instructions for the
administration of the occupied territories; it provided:

"The task for the ccononic trcatment of the various

adninistrative regions is different, depending on

whether the country is involved which will be in-
corporated politically into the German Reich, or
whether we will deal with the Governnent-General,
which in all probability will not be made a part of

Germany. In the first mcentioned territories, the ...
safeguarding of all their productive facilities and
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supplies must be aimed at, as well as a complete
incorporation into the Greater German economic
system, at the earliest possible time. On the
other hand, there must be removed from the
territories of the Government-General all raw
materials, scrap materials, machines, etc., which
are of use for the German war economy. Enter-
prises which are not absolutely neces=ary for the
meager maintenance of the naked existence of the
ponulation must be transferred to Germany, unless
such transfer would require an unreasonably long
period of time, and would make it more practicable
to exploit those enterprises by giving them
German orders, to be executed at their present
location."

As a consequence of this order, agricultural products,
raw materials needed by German factories, machine tools,
transportation equipment, other finished products and even
foreigg securities and holdings of foreign exchange were all
requisitioned and sent to Germany. These resources were
requisitioned in a manner out of all pronortion to the economic
resources of those countries, and resulted in famine,
inflation and an active black market., At first the German
occuvpation authorities attempted to suppress the black market,
because it was a channel of distrihution keening local
products ouvt of German hands., "hen attempts at supnression
failed, a German nurchasing agency was organized to make
purchases for Germany on the black market, thus carrying out
the assurance made by the defendant Goering that it was
"necessary that all should know that if there is to be

famine anywhere, it shall in no case be in Germany."




In many of the occupied countries of the East and the
West, the authorities maintained the pretense of paying for
all the property which they seized. This elaborate pretense
of payment merely disguised the fact that the goods sent to
Germany from these occupnied countries were naid for by the
occupied countries themselves, either by the device of
excessive occupation costs or by forced loans in return for
a credit balance on a "cleaning account" which was an
account merely in name.

In most of the occupied countries of the East even
this pretense of legnlity was not maintained; economic
exploitation became deliberate plunder. This policy was
first put into effect in the administration of the Government
General in Poland. The main exploitation of the raw
materials in the East was centered on agricultural products
and very large amounts of food were shipped from the
Government General to Germany.

The evidence of the widespread starvation among the
Polish people in the Government CGeneral indicates the ruth-
lessness and severity with which the policy of exploitation
was carried out.

The occupation of the territories of the USSR was
characterized by premeditated and systematic looting.

Before the attack on the USSR, an ecenomic staff--Oldenburg--
was organized to ensure the most efficient exploitation of
Soviet territories. The German armies were to be fed out

of Soviet territory, even if "many millions of people

will be staved to death." An OKW directive issued before

the atbtack said:




"To obtain the greatest nossible quantity

of food and crude oil for Germany--that is

the main economic purpose of the campaign,"

Similarly, a declaration by the defendant Rosenberg of the
20th June 1941 had advocated the use of the produce from
Southern Russia and of the Northern Caucasus to feed the
German people, saying:

"le see absolutely no reason for any obligation

on our part to feed also the Rus$sian people

with the products of that surplus territory,

We know that this is a harsh necessity, bare

of any feelings."

When the Soviet territory was occupied, this policy was put
into effect; there was a large scale confiscation of
agricultural supplies, with complete disregard of the

needs of the inhabitants of the occupied territory.

In addition to the seizure of raw materials and
manufactured articles, 2 wholesale seizure was made of
art treasures, furniture, textiles and similar articles
in 211 the invaded countries.

The defendant Rosenberg was designated by Hitler on
the 29th Janu~ary 1940 Head of the Center for National
Socialist Ideological and Educational Research, and there-~
after the organization known as the "Einsatzstab Rosenberg"
conducted its operations on a very great scale. Originally
designed for the establishment of 2 research library, it

developed into a project for the seizure of cultural

treasures, On the 1st March 1942,



Hitler issued a further decree, authorizing Rosenberg to search li-
braries, lodges and cultural establishments, to seize material from
those establishments, as well as cultural treasures owned by Jews.
Similar directions were gziven where threownership could not be clearly
established. The decree directed the co-operation of the Wehrmacht
High Command, and indicated that Rosenberg's activities in the West
were to be conducted in his capacity as Reichsleiter, and in the East
in his capecity as Reichsminister. Thereafter, Rosenberg's activities
were extonded to the occupied countries. The report of Robert Scholz,
Chief of the special staff for Pictorial Art, stated:
"During the period from March 1941 to July 1944

the special staff for Pictorial Art brought

into the Reich 29 large shipments, including

-137 freight cars with },174 cases of art works."
The report of Scholz refers to 25 portfolios of pictures of the most
valuable works of the art collection seized in the West, which port-
folios were presented to the Fuehrer. Thirty-nine volumes, prepared by
the Linsatzstab, contained photographs of paintings, textiles, furni-
ture, candelabra and numerous other objects of art, and illustrated the
value and magnitude of the collection which had been made. In many of
the occupied countries private collections were robbed, libraries were
plundered, andprivate houses were pillaged.

Museums, palaces and libraries in the occupied territories of

the USSR were systematically looted. Rosenberg's Einsatzstab, Ribben—
trop's special "Battalion", the Reichscommissars and representatives of
the Military Command seized objects of cultural and historical value

belonzing to thepeople of the Soviet Union, which were sent to Germanye.
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Thus, the Reichscommigsar of the Ukraine removed paintings and objects
of art from Kiev and Kharkov and sent them to Zast Prussia. BRare volumes
and objects of art from the palaces of Peterhof, Tsarskoye Selo, and
Pavlovsk were shipped to Germany. In his letter to Rosenberg of the
3rd October 1941 Reichécommissar Kube stated that the value of the ob-
jects of art taken from Byelorussia ran into millions of roubles. The
scale of this plundering can also be seen in theletter sent from Rosen-
bers's department to von Milde-Schreden in which it is stated that during
the nonth of October 1943 alone, about 40 box-cars loaded with objects
of cultural value were transported to the Reich.

With regard to the suggestion that the purpose of the seizure of
art treasures was protective and meant for their preservation, it is
necessary to say a few words. On the lst December 1939 Himmler, as
the Reich Commissioner for the "strenzthening of Germanism," issued a
decree to the regional officers of the secret police in the annexed
eastern territories, and to the commanders of the security service in
Radon, Warsaw and Lublin. This decree contained administrative direc-
tions for carrying out the art seizure progremme, and in Clause 1 it is
stated:

"To strengthen Germanism in the defense of the
Reich, all articles mentioned in Section 2 of
this decree are hereby confiscated . . . They are
confiscated for the benefit of the German Reich,
and are at the disposal of the Reich Commissioner
for the strengthening of Germanism."
The intention to enrich Germany by the seizures, rather than to protect
the seized objects, is indicated in an undated report by Dr. Hans Posse,
director of the Dresden State Picture Gallery:
"I was able to zain some knowledze on the public and
private collections, as well as clericel property,

in Cracow and Warsaw. It is true that we cannot
hope too much to enrich ourselves from
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the acquieition of great art works of
paintings and sculptures, with the ex-
ception of the Veit-Stoss altar, and the
plates of Hans von Kulnback in the Church
of Maria in Cracow . . . and several other
works from the national museun in Warsaw."

SLAVE LABOR POLICY

Article 6 (b) of the Charter provides that the "ill-treatment or

deportaetion to slave labor or for any other purpose, of civilian pop-
ulation of or in occuvied territory" shall be a War Crime. The laws
relating to forced labor by the inhabitants of occupied territories
are found in Article 52 of the Hague Convention. which provides:

"Requisition in kind and services shall not be
demanded from nmunicipalities or inhabitants
except for the needs of the army of occupation.
They shall be in proportion to the resources of
the country, and of such a nature as not to
involve the inhabitants in the obligation of
taking part in military operations against
their own country."

The policy of the German occupation authorities was in flagrant viola-
tion of the terms of this convention. Some idea of this policy may
be zathered from the statement made by Hitler in a speech on November

9th, 1941:

"The territory which now works for us contains
more than 250,000,000 men, but the territory
which works indirectly for us includes now
more than 350,000,000. In the measure in
which it concerns German territory, the domain
which we have taken under our administration,
it is not doubtful that we shall succeed in
harnessing the very last man to ~this work."

The actual results achieved were not so complete as this, but the German

occupation authorities did succeed in forcing many of the inhabitants of
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the occupied territories to work for the German war effort, and in
deporting at least 5,000,000 persons to Germany to serve German industry
and agriculture.

In the early stages of the war, manpower in the occupied territories
was under the control of various occupation authorities, and the procedure
varied from country to country. In all the occupied territories com-
pulsory labor service was promptly instituted. Inhabitants of the
occupied countries were conscripted and compelled to work in local
occupations, to assist the Germsn war economy. In many cases they
were forced to work on German fortifications and military installations.
As local supplies of raw materials and local industrial capacity became
inadequate to meet the German requirements, the system of deporting
laborers to Germany was put into force. By the middle of April 1940
compulsory deportation of laborers to Germany had been ordered in the
Government General; and a similar procedure was followed in other eastern
territories as they were occupied. A description of this compulsory
deportation from Poland was given by Himmler. In an address to SS officers
he recalled how in weather 40 degrees below zero they had to "haul away
thousands, tens of thousands, hundreds of thousands.f On a later oc-
casion Himmler stated:

"Whether ten thousand Russian females fall down
from exhaustion while digzing an anti-tank ditch
interests me only insofar as the anti-tank ditch
for Germany is finighed. . . We must realize that we have
6-7 million foreigners in Germany. . They are none

of then dangerous so long as we take severe measures
at the merest trifles.”
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During the first two years of the German occupation of France,
Belgium, Holland and Norway, however, an attempt was made to obtain the
necessary workers on a voluntary basis. How unsuccessful this was may
be seen from the report of the meeting of the Central Planning Board
on the 1lst March 1944. The representative of the defendant Speer,
one Koehrl, speaking of the situation in France, said:
"During all this time a great number of French-
men were recruited, and voluntarily went to
Germany."

He was interrupted by the defendant Sauckel:
"Not only voluntary, some were recruited forcibly."

To which Koehrl replied:

"The calling up started after the recruitment
no longer yielded enough results.”

To which the defendant Sauckel replied:
"Out of the five million workers who arrived
in Germany, not even 200,000 came volun-
tarily;"

and Koehrl rejoined:
"Let us forget for the moment whether or not
gome slight pressure was used. Formally, at
least, they were voluntecers."

Committees were set up to encourage recruiting, and a vigorous
propagénda campaign was begun to induce workers to volunteer for
gservice in Germany. This propaganda campaign included, for exanple,
the promise that a prisoner of war would be returned for every laborer
who volunteered to go to Germany. In some cases it was supplemented
by withdrawing the ration cards of laborers who refused to go to
Germany, or by discharging them from their jobs and denying them un-

employment benefit or an opportunity to work elsewhere. In some cases

workers and
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their families were threatened with reprisals by the police if they
gefused to go to Germany. It was on the 21st March 1942 that the
defendant Sauckel wes appointed Plenipotentiary-General for the Utiliza-
tion of Labor, with authority over "all available manpower, including
that of workers recruited abroad, and of prisoners of war."

The defendant Sauckel was directly under the defendant Goering as
Commissioner of the Four Year Plan, and a Goering decree of the 27th
March 1942 transferred all his authority over manpower to Sauckel.
Sauckel's instructions, too, were that foreign labour should be re-
cruited on a voluntary basis, dbut also provided that "where, however,
in the occupied territories, the appeal for volunteers does not suffice,
obligatory service and drafting must under all circumstances be resorted
to." Rules requiring labor service in Germany were published in all
the occupied territories. The number of laborers to be supplied was
fixed by Seuckel, and the local authorities were instructed to meet
these requirements by conscription if necessary. That conscription was
the rule rather than the exception is shown by the statement of Sauckel
already quoted, on the lst March 1944.

The defendant Sauckel frequently asserted that the workers
belonzing to foreign nations were treated humanely, and that the con-
ditions in which they lived were zood. But whatever the intention of
Sauckel may have been, and however much he may have desired that foreign
laborers should be treated humenely, the evidence before the Tribunal

establishes the fact that the conscription of labor was
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accomplished in many cases by drastic and violent methods.
The "mistakes and blunders" were on a very great secale.
Manhunts took place in the streets, at motion picture
houses, even at churches and at night in private houses.
Houses were sometimes burnt down, and the families taken
2s hostages, practices which were described by the defendant
Posenberg as having their origin "in the blackest periods
of the slave trade." The methods used in obtaining forced
1abor from the Ukraine appear from an order issued to SD
officers which stated:

"It will not be possible always to refrain

from using force... When searching villages,

especinlly when it has been necessary to

burn down 2 village, the whole population

will be put a2t the dispos2l of the Commis-

sioner by force... 2As 2 ruvle no more children

will be shot... If we 1limit harsh measures

through the above orders for the time being,

it is only done for the following reason...

The most important thing is the recruvitment

of workers."
The resources and needs of the occupied countries were
completely disregarded in carrying out this policy. The
treatment of the laborers wns governed by Sauckel's
instructions of the 20th April 1942 to the effect that:

"A1l1l the men must be fed, sheltered and treated

in such a way as to exploit them to the

highest possible extent, at the lowest

conceivable degrece of expenditure."
The evidence showed that workers destined for the Reich
were sent under guard to Germany, often packed in trains
without adequate heat, food, clothing or sanitary facil-
ities. The evidence further showed that the treatment of
the laborers in Germany in many cases was brutal and de-
grading. The evidence relating to the Krupp Works at
Essen showed that punishments of the most cruel kind were
inflicted on the workers. Theoretically at least the
workers were paid, housed and fed by the DAF, and even

mmmm2 kb A +A Fmanmafan Fhodr cavince snd to aend mail and




back to their native country; but restrictive regulations took -
a proportion of the pay; the camps in which they were house

were insanitary; and the food was very often less than the min-
imum n=2cessary to give the workers strength to do thair jobs.

In the case of Poles employed on farms in Germany, the empliyers
were given authority to inflict cofporal punishment and were
ordered, if possible; to house them in stables, not in their own
homes., They vere subject to constant supervision by the Gestapo
and the SS, and if they attempted to leave their jobs they were
sent to correction camos or concentration camps. The concentra-
tion camps were also used to increase the supply of labor.
Concentration camp commanders were ordered to work their pris-
oners to the limits of their physical »ower. During the latter
stages of the war the concentrationlcamps were 30 productive

in certain types of work that the Gestapo was actually instructa:
to arrest certain classes of laborers so that they could he used
in this way. Allied prisaners of war were also regavded as a
possible source of labor. Pressure was exercis=d on non-
commissioned officers to force them to consent to work, by
transferring to d’scip linary camps those who did not consent.
Many of the prisoners of war were assigned to work directly
related to military operations, in violation of Article 31 of th
Geneva Convention., They were put to work in munition factories
and even made to load bombers, to carry ammunition and to dig
trenches, often under the most hazardous conditions. This conditi
appliad particularly to the Soviet prisoners of war. On the
16th February 1943, at a meeting of the Central Planning Board,

at which the defendants Sauckel and Speer were present, i:ilch

saids




"We have made a request for an order that
a certain percentage of men in the Ack-Ack
artillery must be Russians; 50,000 will be
taken altogether. 30,000 are already
employed as gunners. This is an amusing
thing, that Russians must work the guns.,"

And on the 4th October 1943, at Posen, Himmle», speakinz of the

29

Russian prisoners, captured in the early days of the wsar, i’

"At that time we did not wvalue the mass of
humanity as we value it today, as raw mater=-
ial, as labor. .What, after all, thinking in
terms of generations, is not to be regretted,
but is now deplorable by reason of the loss
of labor, is that the priscners died in
tens and hundreds of thousands of exhaust;on
and hunger."

The general policy underlying the mobilization of slave
labor was stated by Sauckel on the 20th April 1942, Ez se2id:

"The aim of this new gigantic labor :aobi:ization
is to use z11 the rich and tremnendous socces
conguered and secur=d for us by our fighoing
armed forces u.der the leadership o0 Ado.f
Hitler, for th: armament of the armcd forces,
and also for the nutrition of the Homeland.
The raw materials, as well-as the fertility
of the congquered territories and their human
labor power, are to be used completely aad
conscientiously to “he profit of Gernany nnd
her Allies... #£11 priscaeis of war _ror

the verrizoriss of the West, as well as She
East, actually in Germany, must be complevely
incorporated into the German armament and
nutrition industries... Conseguently it is
an immedi:ite n3cessity to use the human re-
serves ©f tne conquered Soviet terr-iory o
the Jrilest extent. Should we not =uces2d

in ohlaining the necessary amoant ol lapow

on a voluntary basis, we must immedintely
institute conscription or forced lapor...

The complete employment of all prisoners

of war, as well as the use of a gigantic num-
ber of new foreign civilian workers, men

and women, has become an indisputabie neces-
sity for the soiution of the mobilizntioa

of the labor programme in this war,*®

Reference should also be made to the policy which was in

existence in Germany by the summer of 1940, uader which all

aged, insane, and




incurable people, "useless eaters;ﬁ were transferred to special
institutions where they were killed, and their relatives informed
that they had died from natural causes. The victims were not
confined to German citizens, but included foreign laborers, who
were no longer able to work, and were thercfore useless to the
German war machine. It has been estimated that at least some
275,000 pcople were killed in this manner in nursing homes,
hospitals and asylums, which were under the jurisdiction of~the
defendant Frick, in his capaclity as Minister of the Interior.
How many foreign workers were included in this total it has been
quite impossible to determine.

PFRSECUTION OF THE JEWS

The persecution of the Jews at thc hands of the Nazi
Government has been proved in the greatest detail before the
Tribunal. It is a rccord of consistent and systematic in-
humanity on the greatest scalc. Ohlendorf, chief of Amt IIT
in the RSHA from 1939 to 1943, and who was in command of one
of the Einsatz groups in the campaign against the Soviet Union
testified as to the methods cmployed in the extrmination of the
Jews. He said that he employed firing squads to shoot the vic-
tims in order to lessen thc'sense of individual guilt on the
part of his men; and the 90,000 men, women and children who
were murdered in one year by his particular group were mostly

JEWS.

When the witness Bach Zelewski was asked how Ohlendorf
could admit the curden of 90,000 people, he replied:

"I am of the opinion that when, for years,
for decades, the doctrine is preached that
the Slav race is an inferior race, and Jews
not even human, then such an outcome is
inevitable."
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But the defendant Frank spoKe the final words of this
chapter of Nazi history when he testified in this court:

e have fought against Jewry: we have fought

against if for years: and we have allowed our=-

selves to make utterances and my own diary has

become a witness against me in this connection--

utterances which are terrible ... A thousand

years will pass and this guilt of Germany will

still not be crased."

The anti-Jewish policy was formulated in Point ‘4 of the
Party Program which declared "Only a member of the race can
be a citizen., A member of the racc can only be one who is of
German blood, without consideration of creed. Conscquently,
no Jew can be a member of the race." Other points of the
program declarcd that Jews should bec trcated as foreigners,
that they should not be permitted to hold public office, that
they should be expelled from the Relch if it were impossible
to nourish the entire population of the State, that they
should be denied any further immigration into Germany, and
that they should be prohibited from publishing German news-
papers. The Nazi Party preached these doctrines throughout
it history. "Der Stuermér" and other publications were
allowed to disscminate hatred of the Jews, and in the specches
and public declarations of the Nazi leaders, the Jews were
held up to public ridicule and contempt.

With the seizure of power, the persscution of the Jews
was intensificd. A series of discriminatory laws were passed,
which limited the offices and professions permitted to Jcws;
and restrictions were placed on their family life and their

rights of citizenship. By the autumn of 1938, the Nazi

policy towards the Jews had reached the
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stage where it was directed towards the complete exclusion
of Jews from German life. Pogroms were organized, which
included the burning and demolishing<of synagogues, the
looting of Jewish businesses, and the arrest of prominent
Jewish business men. A collective fine of one billion marks
was imposed on the Jews, the seizure of Jewish assets was
authorized, and the movement of Jews was restricted by
regulations to certain specificd districts and hours.

The creation of ghettoecs was carried out on an extensive
scale, and by an order of the Scecurity Police Jews were com-
pelled to wear a yellow star to be worn on the breast and
back.

It was contended for the Prosecution that certain aspects
of this anti-Semitic policy were connected with the plans
for aggressive war. The violent measures taken against the
Jews in November 1938 were nominally in retaliation for
the killing of an official of the German Embassy in Paris.
But the decision to seize Austria and Czechoslovakia had
been made a year before. The imposition of a fine of one
billion marks was made, and the confiscation of the financial
holdings of the Jews was decreed, at a time when German
armament expenditure had put the German treasury in
difficulties, and when the reduction of expenditure on
armaments was being considered. These steps were téken,
moreover, with the approval of the defendant Goering, who
had been given responsibility for cconomic matters of this
kind, and who was the strongest advocate of an extensive
rearmament program notwithstanding the financial
difficulties.

It was further siad that the connection of the anti-
Semitic policy with aggressive war was not limited to

economic matters. The German Foreign 0ffice circular. in



described the new phase in the Nazi anti-Semitic policy

in these words:

"It is certainly no coincidence that the f;te-

ful yecar 1938 has brought nearer the solution

of the Jewish question simultaneously with the
realization of the idea of Creater Germany, since
the Jewish policy was both the basis and conse-
quence of the events of the year 1938, The advance
made by Jewish influence and the destructive Jewish
spirit in politics, economy, and culture, paralyzed
the power and the will of the German pcople to

rise again, more pcrhaps even than the power policy
opposition of the former enemy Allicd powers of the 1lst
World War. The healing of this sickness among

the peoples was therefore certainly one of the most
important requirements for exerting the force which,
in the ycar 1938, recsulted in the joining together
of Greater Germany in dcfiance of the world."

The Nazi nersceution of Jews in Germany before the war,

severe and repressive as it was, cannot compare, however, with

the policy pursucd during the war in the occupied territories.
Originally the policy was similar to that which had been in
force inside Germany. Jews were required to register, were
forced to live ih ghettoes, to wear the yellow star, and
were used as slave laborers. In the summer of 1941,
however, plans were made for the “"final solution" of the
Jewish question iiiéuggpc. This "final solution" meant the
extermination of the Jews, which early in 1939 Hitler had
threatened would be one of the consequences of an outbreak
of war, and a special seetion in the Gestapo under Adolf

Eichmann, as head of Section B 4 of the Gestapo, was formed

to carry out the policye.

The plan for exterminating the Jecws was developed shortly

after the attack on the Sovict Union. Einsatzgruppen of the
Security Police and SD, formed for the purpose of breaking

the resistance of the population of the
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areas lyinz behind the Germen armies in the East, were given the duty
of exterminating the Jews in those areas. The effectiveness of the
work of the Einsatzgruppen is shown by the fact that in February 1942
Heydrich was able to report that Esthonia had already been cleared of
Jews and that in Riga the number of Jews had been reduced from 29,300
to 2,500. Altogether the Einsatzgruppen operating in the occupied
Baltic States killed over 135,000 Jews in three months.
Nor did these special units operate completely independently of
the German Armed Forces. There is clear evidence that leaders of the
Einsatzgrupoen obtained the co-operation of Army Commenders. In one
case the relations between an Einsatzgruppe and the militery authorities
was described at the time as being "very close, almost cordial®; in
another case the smoothness of an Einsatzcommando's operation was
attributed to the "unders*andinz for this procedure" slown b, lLle army
authorities.
Units of the Security Police and SD in the occupied territoriss

of the Bast, which were under civil administration, were given a
similar task. The planned and systematic character of :ie¢ Jswish
persecutions is best illastraied by the original repoit of the S5
Brigadier-General Stroop, who was in charge of the destruction of ‘
the ghetto in Warsaw, which took place in 1943. The Tribunal received
in evidence that report, illustrated with photographs, bearing on its
title page: "The Jewish Ghetto in Warsaw no longer exists." The volume
records a series of reports sent by Stroop to the Higher SS and Police
Fuehrer East. In April and May of 1943, in one report, Stroop wrote:

"The resistance put up by the Jews and bandits

could only be suppressed by energetic actions

of our troops day and night. The Reichsfuehrer

SS ordered therefore on the 23rd April 1943

the cleaning out of the ghetto with utter
ruthlessness and merciless
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tenacity. I therefore decided to destroy and

burn down the entire ghetto, without regard to

the armament factories. These factories were

systematically dismantled and then burnt. Jews

usually left their hideouts, but frequently

remained in the burning buildings, and jumped out

of the windows only when the heat bec@ame unbearable.

They then tried to crawl with broken bones across

the street into buildings which were not afire +..

Life in the sewers was not pleasant after the first

week. Many times we could hear loud voices in the

sewers ... Tear gas bombs were thrown into the

manholes, and the Jews driven out of the sewers and

captured. Countless numbers of Jews were liquidated

in sewers and burnkers through blasting. The longer

the resistance continued, the tougher became the

nermbers of the Waffen 8S, Police and Wehrmacht, who

always discharged their duties in an exemplary

manner.
Stroop recorded that his action at Warsaw eliminated "a proved total
of 56,065 people. To that we have to add the number of those killed
through blgsting, fire, etc., which cannot be counted." Grim
evidence of mass murders of Jews was also presented to the Tribunal
in cinematograph films depicting the communal graves of hundreds of
victims which were subsequently discovered by the Allies.

These atrocities were all part and parcel of the policy
inavgurated in 1941, and it is not surprising that there should be
evidence that one or two German officials entered vain protests against
the brutal manner in which the killings were carried out. But the
methods employed never conformed to a single pattern. The massacres
of Rowno and Dubno, of which the German engineer Graebe spoke,
were examples of one method, the systematic extermination of Jews in
concentration camps, was another. Part of the "final solution" was
the gathering of Jews from all German occupied Europe in concentration

campse Their physical condition was the test of life or death. All

who were fit to work were used as slave lsborers in the concentration
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camps; all who were not fit to work were destroyed in gas chambers

and their bodies burnt. Certain concentration camps such as Treblinka
and Auschwitz were set aside for th?s main purpose. With regard to
Auschwitz, the Tribunal heard the evidence of Hoess, the Commandant of

the camp from May lst 1940 to December lst 1943. He estimated that in the
camp of Auschwitz alone in that time 2,500,0QO persons were exterminated,
and that a further 500,000 died from disease and starvation. Hoess
described the screening for extermination by sta%ing in evidence -

"We had two SS doctors on duty at Auschwitz to
exanine the incoming transports of prisoners.

The prisoners would be marched by one of the

doctors who would make spot decisions as they

walked by. Those who were fit for work were

gent into the camp. Others were sent immediately

to the extermination plants. Children of tender
years were invariably exterminated since by reason
of their youth they were unable to work. Still
another improvement we made over Treblinka was that
at Treblinka the victims almost always knew that they
were to be exterminated and at Auschwitz we
endeavored to fool the victims into thinking that
they were to go through a delousing process. Of
course, frequently they realized our true intentions
and we sometimes had riots and difficulties due to
that fact. Very frequently women would hide their
children under their clothes, but of course when we
found them we would sernd the children in to be
exterminated." '

He described the actual killing by stating:

"It took from three to fifteen minutes to kill the
people in the death chamber, depending upon climatic
conditions. We knew when the people were dead

because their screaming stopped. We usually waited
about one half-hour before we opened the doors and
removed the bodies. After the bodies were removed

our special commandos took off the rings and extracted
the zold from the teeth of the corpses.”

Beating, starvation, torture, and killing were general. The inmates

were subjected to cruel experiments at Dachau in Auzust 1942, victims were
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immersed in cold water until their body temperature was reduced to 28°
Centigrade, when they died immedietely. Other experiments included
high altitude experiments in pressure chambers, experiments to deter-
mine how long human beings could survive in freezing water, exverimente
with poison bullets, experiments with contagious diseases, and
experiments dealing with sterilization of men and women by X-rays

and other methods.

Evidence was given of the treatment of the inmates before and after
their extermination. There was testimony thai the hair of women victims
was cut off before they were killed, and shioped to Germany, there to be
used in the manufacture of mattresses. The clothes, money and valuables
of the inmates were also salvaged and sent to the appropriate agencies
for disposition. After the extermiration the gool tecth and fillings
were taken from the heads of the corpses and sent to the Reichsban't-

After cremation the ashes were ussd for fertilizer, anl in some
instances atternpts were made to utilize the fat from the bodies of the
victims in the commercial manufacture of scap. Cpecial groups traveled
through Europe to find Jews and subject them to the "final solution.”
German missions were sent to such satellite countries as Hungery and
Bulgaria, to arrange for the shipment of Jews to extermination camps
and it is known that by the end of 1944, 400,000 Jews from Hunzary had
been murdered at Auschwitz. ZIZvidence has 21so been given of the
evacuation of 110,000 Jews from part of Rumania for "ligquidation."
Adolf Eichmann, who had been put in charge of this program by Hitler,
has estimated that the policy pursued resulted in the killiag of
6,000,000 Jews, of which 4,000,000 were killed in the extermination

institutions.
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THE LAW RELATING TO WAR CRIVMES AND CRIMES AGAINST HUMANITY.

Article 6 of the Charter provides:
"(b) War Crimes: namely, violations of the laws or
customs of war. Such violations shall include, but
not be limited to, murder, ille~treatment or
deportation to slave labor or for any other purpose
of civilian population of or in occupied territory,
murder or ill~treatment of prisoners of war or
persons on the seas, killing of hostages, plunder
of public or private property, wanton destruction
of cities, towns or villages, or devastation not
justified by military necessity;
"(c) Crimes against Humanity: nanely, murder,
extermination, enslavement, deportation, and other
inhumane acts ccmmitted against any civilian
population, before or during the war; or
persecutions on political, racial or religious
grounds in execution of or in connection with
any crime within the jurisdiction of the Tribunal,

whether or not in violation of the domestic law
of the country where perpetrated.”

As herctofore stated, the Charter does not define as a separate crime
any conspiracy except the one set out in Article 6(a), dealing with
crimes against peace.

The Tribunal is of course bound by the Charter, in the definition
which it gives both of war crimes and crimes against humanity. With
resﬁect to war crimes, however, as has already been pointed out, the
crimes defined by Article 6, section (b), of the Charter were already
recognized as war crimes ﬁnder international law. They were covered by
Articles 46, 50, 52, and 56 of the Hague Convention of 1907, and
Articles 2, 3, 4, 46, and 51 of the Geneva Convention of 1929. That
violations of these provisions constituted crimes for which the guilty
individuals were punishable is too well settled to admit of argument.

But it is argued that the Hague Convention does not apply in this
case, because of the "general participation" clause in Article 2 of the

Hague Convention of 1907. That clause provided:
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L,

"The provisions contained in the regulations (Rules

of Land Warfare) referred to in Article I as well as

in the present convention do not apply except between

contracting powers, and then only if all the belli-

gerents are parties to the convention.”
Several of the belligerents in the recent war were not parties to this con-
vention.

In the opinion of the Tribunal it is not necessary to decide this ques-
tion. The rules of land warfare expressed in the convention undoubtedly repre
sented an advance over exigting international law at the time of their adotio
But the convention expressly stated that it was an attempt "to revise the
general laws ané customs of war," which it thus recognized to be then existir
but by 1939 these rules laid down in the convention were recognized by ell
civilized nations, and were regarded as being declaratory of the laws and cus
toms of war which are referred to in Article 6(b) of the Charter.

A further submission was made that Germany was no longer bound by the
rules of land warfare in many of the territories occupied during the war,
because Germany had completely subjugated those countries and incorporated the
into the German Reich, a fact which gave Germany authority to dea with the
occupied countries as though they were part of Germarv. In view of the
Tribunal it is unnecessary in this case to decide whether this doctrine of
subjugation, dependent as it is upon military conquest, has any application
where the subjugation is the result of the crime of aggressive war. The doc-
trine was never considered to be applicable so lcng as there was an army in
the field attempting to restore the occupied countries to their true owners,
and in this case, therefore, the doctrine could n>% aunly to any territories

occupied after the lst September 1939. As to the war c¢rimes committed in

Bohemie and Moravia, it is a sufficient answer that these territories were
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never odded to the Reich, but a2 mere pretectoratc was cstablished over them,
Yith regord te erimes cgrinst humnity, therce is no doubt whatover
th-t politicnl opponcnts were murdercd in Germny before the war, ond that
many of them were kopt in ecnecntrition camps in circumst nccs of great
herror ~nd cruclty. The policy of terror #i2s ccrtainly carricd out on
~nst seclc, and in mony ecscs was orgenized ond systcmatic. The policy

of porsceuticn, roprossion ond murder of eivilians in Germuny b.fore the
wor of (1939, whe mepc likely to be hestilc to the Gowirnment, w.s most
ruthlicssieie rricd outs The pors.catien of Jows doring the s'm pericd

is cstcblishe.d boyund ~11 doubt, To eanstit itc crimus.”g inst humnnity,

the nets rolicd on before thce outbreak of wor mist have becn in .»ccition
of, orf in comncetion with, ~ny erime within the Jjurisdiction ¢f the Tribn-1
The Tfibunnl is of thc opinion thit ‘rmeveltine ~nd herriblc s m ny of thuse
crimcs were, it has net beon satisf ctorily proved that they wer. dence in
<xecution of, or in conncetion with, .ny such erime, The Trihuntnl thercfore
¢ pnot meke o ggnbrtl d.el-rition that £he 2ets beforc 1939 were crimes
cgrinst huminity within the mening of the Chrrter, but from the beginning
of the wor 3m 1939 war erimcs were committced on . vist se 1c, which were

also erime

W

agninst hum.nity; and insofar =s the inhumanc acts ch.rged
in the Indictment, ~nd committcd aftcr the boginning of the war, did not
constitutc w-r crimcs, they were 21l committed in exceution of, or in
conncction with, the ~ggressive wer, ~nd thercfore constitutcd crimes

ag inst hum~nity.

THE PRESEIDENT: I now sk Celoncl) Volchkow to

continuc the reading of the judgment.



COLONEL VOLCHKOV:

TEE ACCUSZD ORGANIZATIONS

Article 9 of the Charter provides:

1At the trial of any individual member of any group or
organization the Tribunal may declare (in connection
with any act of which the individual may bYe convicted)
that the group or organization of which. the individual
was a member was a criminal organization,

TAfter receipt of the Indictment the Tribunal shall give
such notice as it thinks fit that the prosecution
intends to ask the Tribunal to meke such de¢laration
and any member of the organization will be ¢mtitled to
apply to the Tribunal for leave to be heard by the
Tribunal upon the question of the criminal character

of the organization. The Tribunal shall have power

tp allow or reject the apnlication. If the appijcation
is allowed, the Tribunal may direct in what manner the
apnlicants shall be represented and heard."

Article 10 of the Charter makes  clear that the declaration of crimi-
nality against an accused organization is final, and cannot de chellenged

in any subsequent criminal proceeding against a member of that organization,

Article 10 is as follows;
"In cases where a group or organization is declared
criminal Dby the Tribunal, the competent national
authority of any Signatory shall have the right to
bring individuals to trial for membership therein
before national, military or occupation courts. 1In
any such case the evriminal nature of the group or
organization is considered nroved and shall not be
questioned.

The effect of the declaration of criminality by the Tribunal is well
illustrated by Law Number 10 of the Control Council of Germeny passed on

the 20th day of December, 1945, which frovides:
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"Cach of the following acts is recognized as a crime:

n(d) Membership in categories of a criminal
group or organization declared criminal by the
International Military Tribunal.

"(3) Any person found guilty of any of the
erimcs aposve mentioned may upon conviction be pun-
is.aed as shall be determined by the Tribunal to be
just. Such punishmcent may consist of one or more of
the following:
(a) D=ath.
() Tm0$isonmcnt for 1ife or a term of
years, with or withcut herd labor.
(¢) Fine, and imprisonment with or without
hard lab01, in lien thercof."

In effect, therefore,. a mcmber of an orgahization which
the Tribunei has duclered tc be eriminal mey be sutsequently
convw*ted of *ho ‘:iuj of m’merShlp ﬁnd nc puplsafd for that
crime by death“ rﬁws'i;'ﬂc+ to P 5Ume Th t interna tlonal or
military courts wn;cn Nlll t: y tn 2 Se 1ndiv3dua’s will not exer-
cisc appropriat@ SUandards of Justﬁce., Tbiq 1s a far reaching
and novel pr ocﬁure.: IuS Qpnllcatlon, unless prcoperly safe-
guardcd; mgy n“od“ﬁe gruat 1njus ice. : 20

Artlcle q; A5 whould be HOfud, uses thes words ”The Tribunal
may de“larc'{ 'S0 th t thf Trlbunal is v“stcd,w1th dlscretion
as to whether ;t wiili dfcluru any organization eriminal. This
discretion is a judicial one and"does.nop permit apbitrary
acticn, but should : be éercisqd ih'ééqqrdance dith well o
settled logal principles, oné.cf:thc most ihportaht of which
is that criminal guilt is personal, and that mass punishments
should be avoided. If satisfied of the'criminal’guilt'of %
any organizqtlon or group, thls T“ibunal should not hbsitate.
to declqre it to be crlmlnal because the fheory of "group
crlminality" is new, or bucause it might be unjustly appliod ;

bj somc subsoquent trlbunals. On the otrmr



hand, the Tribunal should make such declaration of criminality
so far as possible in a manner to insure that innocent persons
will not be punished.

A crimianl organization is analogous to a criminal
conspiracy in that the essence of both is cooperation for
criminal purposcs. There must be a group bound together and
orgznized for a common purpose. The group must be formed or
used in connection with the commission of crimes denounced by
the Charter. Since the declaration with respect to the
organizations and groups will, as has been pointed out, fix
the criminality of its members, that definition should exclude
persons who had no knowledge of the criminal purposes or acts
of the organization and those who were drafted by the State
for membership, unless they were personally implicated in the
commission of acts declared criminal by Article 6 of the
Charter as members of the organization. Membership alone is
not enough to comc within the scope of these declarations.

Since declarations of criminality which the Tribunal
makes will be used by other courts in the trial of persons on
account of their membership in the organizations found to be
criminal, the Tribunal fecels it appropriate to make the
following recommendations:

1. That so far as possible throughout the four zones of
occupation ih Germany the classifications, sanctions and
penaltics be standardized. Uniformity of treatment so far
as practical should be a basic principle. This does not, of
course, mean that discrction in scntencing should not be
vested in the court; but the discretion should be within
fixed limits appropriate to the n-ture of the crime,

2e Law No. 10, to which refcrcnce has already been
made, lcaves punishment entirely in the discretion of the

trial court even to the extent of inflictine the death nenaltw.
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The Dec-Nazifieation Law of March 5, 1946, however,
passed for Bavaria, Greater-Hesse and Wuerttemberg-Baden,
provides definite sentences for punishment in each type of
offenses Thc Tribunal rccommends that in no case should
punishment imposed under Lzw No. 10 upon any mombers of
an organizoation or group declared by the Tribunal to be
criminal exceced the punishment fixed by the De-Nazification
Lawe No person should be punished under both laws,

3. The Tribunal recommcnds to the Control Council that
Law No. 10 bec amended to prescribe limitations on the
punishment which may be imposed for membership in a
criminal group or organization so that such punishment
shall not exreed the punishment prescribed by the De-
Nazification Law,

The Indictment asks that the Tribunal declare to be
criminal the following organizations: The Leadership Corps
of the Nazi Party; the Gestapo; The S. Dsj; The Se S.3 The S. As;
The Reich Cabinct, and The General Staff and High Command

of the German Armed Forces.
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THE LEADERSHIP CORPS OF THE NAZI PARTY

Structure and Component Parts: The Indictmcnt has named

the Leadership Corps of the Nazi Party as a group or organiza=-
tion which should be declared criminal, The Leadership Corps
of the Nazi Party consisted, in effecty, of the official
organization of the Nazi Party, with Hitler as Fuehrer at its
headse The o -tual work of running the Leadership Corps was
carried out by the Chief of the Party Chancellery (Hess,
succeeded by Bormann) assisted by the Party Reich Directorate,
or Reichslcitung, which was compdsod of the Reichleiters, the
heads of the functional organizations of the Party, as well

as of the heads of the various méin departments and offices
which were attached to the Party Rcich Directorate. Under the
Chief of the Party Chancellery were the Cauleiters, with
territorial jurisdiction over the major administrative rcgions
of the Party, the Gaus. The Gauleiters were assisted by a
Party Gau Directorate or Gauleitung, similar in compositiohii'”
and in function to the Parfy_Roich:Difectorate; Under the
Gauleiters‘inhthe Party htérérchy'wer59fhe Kreisleiters with
territorial jurisdiction over a Krels, usually consisting of

a single county, and assisted by a Party Kreis Directorate,

or Kreisleitung. The Kreisleiters were the lowest members

of the Party hilerarchy who were full time paid employees.
Dircetly under the Kreisleiters were the Ortsgruppenleiters,
then the "ellenleiters and then the Blockleiters. Directives
and instructions were received from the Party Rcich Directorate,
The Gauleiters had the function of interpreting such

orders and issuing them to lower for me tions. The

Kreislciters had a certain discretion
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in interpreting orders, but the Ortsgruppenleiters had not, l
but acted under definite instructions. Instructions were only
issued in writing down as far as the Ortsgruppenleiters, The
Block and Zellenleiters usually received instructions orally.
Membership in the Leadership Corps at all levels was
voluntary.

On February 28, 1946, the Prosecution excluded from the
declaration asked for all members of the staffs of the
Ortggruppenleiters and all assistants of the 7ellenleiters
and Blockleiters. The declaration sought against the Leader-
ship Corps of the Nazi Party thus includes the Fuehrer, the
Reichsleitung, the Gauleiters and their staff officers, the
Kreisleiters and their staff officers, the Ortsgruppenleiters,
the Zellenleiters and the Blockleiters, a group estimated to
contain st least 600,000 people,

Aims and Activities: The primary purposes of the Leader-

ship Corps from its beginning was to assist the Nazis in
obtaining and, after January 30,1933, in retaining, control
of the German State. The machinery of the Leadership Corps
was used for the widespread dissemination of Nazi propaganda
and to keep a detailed check on the political attitudes of
the German people. In this activity the lower Political
Leaders playcd a particularly important role. The Bloekleiters
were instructed by the Party Manual to report to the
Ortsgruppenleiters, all persons circulating damaging rumors
or criticism of the regime. The Ortsgruppenleiters, on the
basis of information supplied them by the Blockleiters and
7ellenleitcrs, kept a card index of the people within their
Ortsgruppe which recorded the factors which would be used in
forming a judgment as to their politiecal reliability.

The Leadership




Corps was particularly active during plcbiscites. 411l nembers
of the Leadership Corps were active in getting out the vote
and insuring the highest possible proportion of "yes" votes.
Ortsgcruppenleiters and Political Leaders of higher ranks often
collaborated with the Gestzpo and SD in teking steps to
deternine those who refused to vote or who voted " no ", and
in taking steps against them which went as far as arrest und
detention in a concentration canp.

Crininal dctivity: These steps, which relate rncrely to

the consolidation of control of the Nazi Party, are not
criminal under the view of the conspiracy to wage zgzroessive
war which has previously been set forth. But tre Lezdershin
Corps was also used for sinilar steps in lustria and those
parts of Czechoslovakia, Lithuania, Poland, France, Belgiun,
Luxembourg and Yugoslavia which were incorporated into the
Keich and within the Gaus of the Nezi Party. In those
territories the machinery of the Lc¢adership Corps was used
for their Gernanization throurh the clinination of local
custons and the detection and arrest of persons who onposed
German occupation. This was crininal under .rticle 6(b) of
the Charter in those areas governed by the Harue Rules of
Land Warfare and crininal under .irticle 6{c) of the Charter
as to the renainder.

The Leadership Corps played its part in the perscecution
of the Jews. It was involved in the cconomnic and nolitical
discrinination against the Jews, which was put into effect
shortly after the Nazis came into power. . The Gestapo and SD
were Instructed to coordinatec with the Gauleiters and Xreis-
leiters the measures taken in the pogrons of Noverber 9

in the year
and 10,/1938. The Leadershin Corps was also used to

prevent German public opinion from reacting against the

neasures teken against
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the Jews in the East. On October 9, 1942, a confidential information
bulletin was sent to all Gauleiters and Kreisleiters entitled "Preparatory
Measures for the Finel Solution of the Jewish Question in Europe. Rumors
concerning the Conditions of the Jews in the East"., This bulletin steted
that rumors were being started by returning soldiers concerning the
conditions of Jews in the East which some Germans might not understand,
and outlined in detail the officisl explanation to be given. This bulletin
contained no explicit statement that the Jews were being exterminated, but
it did indicate they were going to labor camps, and spoke of their complete
segregation and elimination and the necessity of ruthless severity.
Thus, even at its face value, it indicated the utilization of the machinery
of the Leadership Corps to keep German public opinion from rebelling at a
program which was stated to involve condemning the Jews of Europe to a
lifetime of slavery. This information continued to be available to the
Leadership Corps. The August 1944 edition of "Die Lage", a publication
which was circulated among the Political Leaders, described the deportation
of 430,000 Jews from Hungary.

The Leadership Corps played an important part in the administration
of the Slave Labor Program. A Sauckel decree dated April 6, 1942,
appointed the Gauleiters as Plenipotentiary for Labor Mobilization for
their Gaus with authority to coordinate all agencies dealing with labor
questions in their Gaus, with specific authority over the employment of
foreign workers, including their conditions of work, feeding and housinge.
Under this authority the Gauleiters assumed control over the allocation
of lebor in their Gaus, including the forced laborers from foreign
countries. In carrying out this task the Gaulciters used many Party

offices within their Gaus, including subordinate Political
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Leaders. For exanple, Sauckel's decree of Septermber 8,
1942, relating to the allocation for household labor of
400,000 women laborers brought in from the Fast, established
a procedure undcr thich applications filedé for such
workers should be passed on by the Xreisleiters, whose
judgnent Was‘final.

Under Sauckecl's dircctiwve the Leadershin Corps was
directly concerned with the treatment given foreign
workers, and the Gauleiters were specifically instructed to
prevent "politically inept factory heads" fron giving
"too much consideration to the care of Lastern workers."
The type of question which was considered in their
treatment included reports by the Kreisleitcrs on
pregnancies anong the female slave laborers, which would
result in an abortion if the child's parentage would not
meet the racial standards laid down by the SS and usually
detention in a2 concentration camp for the fenmale slave
laborer. The evidence hzas established that under the
supervision of the Leadership Corps, the industrial
workers were housed in camps under atrocious sanitary
conditions, worked long hours and were inadequately fed.
Under similar supervision, the agricultural workers, who
were sonmewhat better treated were prohibitoed transportation,
entertainnent and religious WOTShiﬁ; and were worked
without any time 1limit on their working hours and under
regulations which gave the enployer the richt to inflict
corporal punishnent. The Political Leaders, at least
down to the Ortsgruppenleiters, werc responsible for this
supervision. On May 5, 1943, a nemorandum of Bormann
instructing that nistreatnent of slave laborers cease
was distributed down to the Ortsgrupvenlciters. Sinilarly
on November 10, 1944, a Speer circular transnitted a

Himmler directive which provided that 211 nembers of the




instructions from the Kreisleiter, would be warned by the Ortsgruppen-
leiters of their duty to keep foreign workers under eareful observation.

The Leadership Corps was directly concerned with the treatment of
prisoners of war. On November 5, 1941, Bormann transmitted a directive
down to the level of Kreisleiter instructing them to insure compliance
by the Army with the recent directives of the Department of the Interior
ordering that dead Russian prisoners of war should be buried wrepped
in ter paper in a remote place without any ceremony or any decorations
of their graves. On November 25, 1943, Bormann sent a circular instructing
the Gauleiters to report any lenient treatment of prisoners of war. On
September 13, 1944, Bormann sent a directive down to the level of
Kreisleiter ordering that liaison be established between the Kreisleiters
and the guards of the prisoners of war in order "to botter assimilate
the commitment of the prisoners of war to the politieal and economic
demands™. On October 17, 1944, an OKW directive instructed the officer
in charge of the prisoners of war to confer with the Kreisleiters on
questions of the productivity of labor. The use of prisoners of war,
particulerly those from the East, was accompanied by a widespread
violation of the rules of land warfare., This evidence establishes that the
Leadership Corps down to the level of Kreisleiter was a participant in
this illegal treatment.

The machinery of the Leadership Corps was also utilized in attempts
made to deprive Allied airmen of the protection to which they were
entitled under the Geneva Convention,s On March 13, 1940, a directive of
Hess transmitted instructions through the Leadership Corps down to the
Blockleiter for the guidance of the civilian population in case of the

landing of enemy planes or parachutists, which stated that enemy parachutists
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were to be immedistely errested or "made harmless". On May 30, 1944,
Bormann sent & circular letter to all Gau and Kreisleiters reporting
instances of lynchings of Allied low level fliers in which no police
action was taken. It was requested that Ortsgruppenleiters be informed
orally of the contents of this letter. This letter accompanied &
propaganda drive which had been instituted by Goebbels to induce such
lynchings, and clearly amountcd to instructions to induce such lynchings
or at least to violate the Geneva Convention by withdrawing any police
protection. Some lynchings wers carried out pursuant to this program,
but it does not appear that they were carried out throughout all of
Germany. Neverfheless, the existence of this circular letter shows
that the heads of the Leadership Corps were utilizing it for a purpose
which was patently illegal and which involved the use of the machinery

of the Leadership Corps at least through the Ortsgruppenleiter.
Conclusion

The Leadership Corps was used for purposes which were criminal
undgr the Charter and involved the Germenization of incorporeted
territory, the persecution of the Jews, the administration of the sluve
labor program, and the mistreatment of prisoncrs of war, The defendants
Bormann and Sauckel, who were members of this organization, were among
those who used it for these purposes. The Gauleiters, the Kreisleiters,
and the Ortsgruppenleiters participated, to one degrse or another, in
these criminal programs. The Reichsleitung as the staff orgenization
of the Party is also responsible for these criminal programs as well as

the heads of the various staff organizations of
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the Gauleiters and Kreisleiters., The decision of the Tribunal
on these staff organizstions includes only the antsleiters who
were heads of offices on the staffs of the Keichsleitung,
Gauleitung and Kreisleitung. With respect to other staff

of ficers and party organizations attached to the Leadership
Corps other than the Antsleiters referred to above, the
Tribunal will follow the sugrestion of the Prosecution in
excluding them from the declaration,

The Tribunal declares to be crininal within the neaning
of the Charter the group composed of those nenbers of the
Leadership Corns holding the positions enﬁneratcd in the nre-
ceding paragraph or who became or remeined nmembers of the
organization with knowledge that it was being used for the
cormnission of acts declared criminal by irtiecle 6 of the
Charter, or who were personally implicated as menbers of the
organization in the cormission of such crimes., The basis of
this finding is the participation of thc organization in war
crines and crimes against humanity connected with the warj the
group declared crininal cannot include, therefore, persons
who had ceased to hold the nositions enurmerated in the

precedling peragrenh prior to September 1, 1939,




GEST.APO AND SD

Structure and Componcent Parts:. The Prosecution has naned

Dic Geheime Stoatspolizei (Gestapo) and Dic Sicherheitsdienst

should be declared crininal. The Prosecution nrescntcd the

cases against the Gestapo and SD together, strting that this

then, The Tribunal pernmitted the SD to vresent its defense
separately because of a claim of conflicting interests, but
after exanining the evidence has decided to consider the case
of the Gestaro and SD together.

The Gestano and the SD were first linked tozether on
June 26, 1936, by thc appointment of Heydrich, who was the
Chief of the SD, to the position of Chief of the Security
Police, which was defined to include both the Gestapo and the
Crininal Police. Prior to that tinec the SD had been the
intellizence égency, first of the S8, and, after June 44
1934, of the entire Nazi Party. The Gestapo had been
conposad of the various political police forces of the several
Gernan Federal states which had been unified under the
perscnal leadership of Himmler, with the assistance of Goering.
Himmler had been appointed Chief of the German Police in the
Ministry of the Interior on June 17; 1936, and in his
capacity as ileichsfuehrer SS and Chief of thc Gernman Police
issued his decree of June 26, 1936, which pl ced both the
Crininal Police, or Kripo, and the Gestapo in the Security
Police, and placed both the Security Police and the SD under
the command of Heydrich.

This consolicdation under the leadership of Heydrich of
the Security Police, 2 state organization, and the SD, =
Party organization, was forrmalized by the decrce of Septerber

27, 1939, which united the wvarious




state and party offices which were under Heydrich as Chief of the Security
Police and SD into one administretive unit, the Reichs Security Head
Office (RSHA) which was at the same time both one of the principal offices
(Hauptamter) of the SS under Himmler as Reichsfuehrer SS end an offiee

in the Ministry of the Interior under Himmler as Chief of the German
Police. The internal structure of the RSHA shows the manner in which it
consolidated the offices of the Security Police with those of the SD.

The RSHA was divided into seven offices (Amter), two of which (Amt I and
Amt ITI) dealt with administrative matters. The Security Police were
represented by Amt IV, the head office of the Gestapo, and by Amt V,

the head office of the Criminal Police. The SD were represented by

Amt III, the head office for SD activities inside Germeny, by Amt VI,

the head office for SD activities outside of Germeny and by Amt VII,

the office for ideological researchs Shortly after the creation of the
RSHA, in November 1939, the Security Police was "coordinated" with the

SS by taking all officisls of the Gestepo and Criminal Police into the

S8 at ranks equivalent to their positions,

The creation of the RSHA represented the formalization, at the

top level, of the relationship under which the SD served as the intelligence

agency for the Security Police. A similar coordination existed in the
local offices., Within Germany and areas which were incorporated within
the Reich for the purpose of civil administration, local offices of the
Gestapo, Criminal Police and SD were formally sepérate. They were subject
to coordination by Inspectors of the Security Police and SD on the staffs
of the local Higher SS and Police Leaders, however, and one of the

principal functions of the local SD units was to serve as the intelligence
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agency for the local Gestapo units, In the occupied territorie
the formal ralationship betweca local units of the Gestapo,
Criminal Police aand SD was slightly ecloser. They were organized
units of the Security Police and SD and were under the
eoatrol of both the LiSHa and of EhetHilcher SS ond Pclice Leader
who wras anpoinied by Himmler to serwve on the staff of the
gocunyin: authority. The offlces of the Securlty Pollice and &b

e

in occunied territory were compesed of denartments cerrespondiag

to ble various ints of the RYHA« 1In occupied territories which
were still consicdered to be onerationel nilit-ry zreas or where

formally established, the orpapiza-
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Members of the Gestano, Kripo znd 8D were joined together into
rilitary lype organizations %nown as BEinsatz Xormandos ang
Binsetzgrarpen in which the Xey positlions wer: held by

member 5 of the Gestapo, XKripo and 8D end In which menbers of
the Brder Pelice, the Walfern 5SS and even tlic Wehrnmacht were
veed as suxiliaries. These cr-anizations viecre under the over-
sl control of the BSHL. but 20 front 1line areas were unde®r the
corasionst con®rel of the arpronriste idrny Commender.

It eon thus be seen thot from a functional point of view
both the Gestapo and the SD we2re important and closaly
felatec o *curs within the or. anizstion of the sSzevrity Poliee
apd the S0, The Scecurity Polic: »nd 85D was under az single

Heydrich ard later Laltenbrunner, as Chiefl

oiice apd ‘SC3 1t had a sinplie heazdquarters,
the uSHA; it had its own eorutand channels and worked as one

organizaticn both in wversany., in occcunied territoriss ang in



prinerily concerncd, eapplicents for positions in the Sceurity
Policc =nd SD reccived treining in 21l its conponents, the
Gestapo, Crininsl Pclice and SD. Somc confusion Yas becen caused
by tre foct trat part of the crganization was technically a
formation of tre Nazi Party wrile enothcr part of the organiza-
tion wes en office in tbhe Govermment, but tris is of no
particuler significence in view of tre lew of Deccenber 1, 1933,
declaring trc unity of the Nezi Party and the German State.

The Scecurity Pclice and SD wes a2 voluntary corgenization.

It is truc trat nany civil servants and adninistretive officiels
werc trensferrcd into tre Sccurity Pelices, Tre clain trat tris
transfer wes conmpulscry anounts tc nothing norc tran the clain
thet trey bad to accept tre trensfcr or resign threir positions,
with a2 possibility cf baving incurred official disfavor. During
the war 2 ncnber cof tre Sccurity Pelice 2nd SD did not have e
free crcice of assignments witrin trat orgenization end the l
refusal to accept & particular position,'espccially wren |
serving in cccupied territery, night have led tc serious punish-
nent.  Tre fact remains, rowever, trhat all nenbers of the {
Sccurity Pclice 2nd SD joined ttre orgenizetion voluntarily |
under nc otrer sanction than trc desire to retain treir
positicns 2s cfficiels,

The orgenization of the Security Policc #nd SD alsc in-
cludecd trrece speciel units wrich nust be dealt with scparately.
The first of tresc was the Frontler Polieec or Granipolizei whick
cene under tre ccntrcl of tre Gestapo in 1937. Treir dutices
consisted in tre contrel of passage oVor t?e»bordcrs of Germany.

the beorder
Trcy arrestcd perscns wro crossed/illegelly. It is also
clear fron tre evidence presented that they reccived dircctives

fron the Gestapo to transfer foreign workers

16943




whom they apprehended to concentration camps. They could also request
the local office of the Gestapo for permission to commit persons arrested
to concentration camps. The Tribunel is of the opinion that the Frontier

Police must be included in the charge of criminality against the Gestapoe:

The border and customs protection or Zollgrenschutz became part
of the Gestapo in the summer of 1944, The functions of this organization
were similar to the Frontier Police in enforcing border regulations with
particular respect to the prevention of smugglings It does not appear,
however, that their transfer was complete but that about half of their
personnel of 54,000 remained under the Reich Finance Administration or
the Order Police.s A few days before the end of the war the whole organi-
zetion was transferred back to the Reich Finance Administrations The
transfer of the organization to the Gestapo was so late and it participated
so little in the overall activities of the organization that the Tribunal
does not feel that it should be dealt with in considering the criminality
of the Gestapo.

The third orgenizetion was the so-called Secret Field Police which
was originally under the Army but which in 1942 was transferred by military
order to the Security Police. The Secret Field Police was concerned with

security matters within the Army in occupied territory, and also with the

prevention of attacks by civilians on military installations or units, and
comnitted War Crimes and Crimes sagainst Humanity on a wide scale. It has
not been proved, however, that it was a part of the Gestapo and the Tribunal
does not consider it as coming within the charge of criminality contained

in the Indictment, except such members as may have been transferred to

Amt IV of the RSHA or were members of organizeations declared criminal by ]

this Judgment.
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Criminal Activity: Originally, one of the primary functions of

the Gestapo was the prevention of any political opposition to the Nazi
regime, a function which it performed with the assistance of the SD. The
principal weapon used in performing this function was the concentration

cemp. The Gestapo did not have administrative control over the concentration
camps, but, acting through the RSHA, was respoﬂsible for the detention of
political prisoners in those camps. Gestapo officials were usually
responsible for the interrogation of political prisoners at the cempse.

The Gestapo and the SD also dealt with charges of treason and with
questions relating to the press, the Churches and the Jews, As the Nazi
program of anti~Semitic persecution increased in intensity the role played
by these groups became increesingly importent. In the eerly morning of
November 10, 1938, Heydrich sent a telegram to all offices of the Gestapo
and SD giving instructions for the organization of the pogroms of that
date and instructing them to arrest es many Jews as the prisons could hold g
"especially rich ones", but to be careful that those arrested were healthy ;

and not too old. By November 11, 1938, 20,000 dews had been arrested and

many were sent to concentration camps. On January 24, 1939, Heydrich,

the Chief of the Security Police and SD, was charged with furthering the
emigration and evacuation of Jews from Germany, and on July 31, 1941, with
bringing about a complete solution of.the Jewish problem in Germen domineted
Europe. A special section of the Gestapo office of the RSHA under
Standartenfuchrer Eichmann was sct up with responsibility for Jewish matters
which employed its own agents to investigate the Jewish problem in occupied
territorys Local offices of the Gestapo were used first to supervise the
emigration of Jews and later to deport them to the East both from Germany and

from the
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territorics occupied during the war. Einsatzgruppen of the

Security Pclice =2nd SD cperating behind the lines cf the Easter

Front engaged in the wrolcselc nassacre of Jews, # specizl
dctachment from Gestapo beadquarters in tre RSPA was used to
arrenge for tre deportation of Jews from Axis satellites to
Gernany for thc "finel soluticn',

Leezl offices of tre Sccurity Police and SD pleyed en
inportent role in the German administration of occupicd
territorics. Tre nature of treir participation is stown by
ncasures takcn in trc swrmer of 1938 in preperation for the
attack on Czecchoslovakies wrich was trhen in contermplatinn,
Einsatzgruppcen of the Gestapo and SD were corganized to folleow
the Arny into Czeckcslovekia to provide for tre security of
political life in trc occupicd territories. Plans werce
nade for the infiltration of SD nen intc trec arca in advance,
and for tre building up of & systen of files to indicete what
inhabitants should be placcd under surveillance, deprived of

passports or liquideted. Threse plans wcre considerably

altcred due to the cancecllation of the ettack on €zechoslovakia

but in the nilitery cperations which actually occurrcd,
particularly in the war against USSR, Einsatzgruppen of the
Sceurity Policc and SD went into opecration, and conbincd
brutal rnicasures for tre pacification of the civilian
pepulation with tre wrolcsalc slaughter of Jewse. Heydrich
gave corders to fabricete incidents on the Polish-German
frontier in 19239 whiclr would give Fitler sufficient
provcecation teo attack Polende Both Gestapc and SD persennel
were involved in thecse operstions.

The locel units of the Security Pclice and SD
continued trcir work in the occupicd territories after
they bad ceased tc be an erece of operstions. Tre Security

Pclice and SD engeged in widespread arrecsts cf




the civilian population of these occupied countries, imprisoned many of

them under inhumsne conditions, subjected them to brutal third degree
methods, and sent many of them to concentration cemps. Local units of
ithe Security Police and SD werc also involved in the shooting of hostages,
the inprisonment of relatives, the execution of persons charged as
terrorists and saboteurs without a trial, and the enforcement of the
"Nacht und Nebel" decrees under whiich persons charged with a type of
offense believed to endanger the sccurity of the occupying forces were
either exccuted within a week o1 secretly removed to Germany without
being permitted to communicete with their femily and friends.

Offices of the Security Police and SD were involved in the administrae=
tion of the Slave Labor Program. In some occupied territories they helped
local lebor authoritics to meet the quotas imposed by Sauckel. Gestapo
offices inside of Germeny were given surveillance over slave laborers
and responsibility for apprehending those who were absent from their place
of work., The Gestapo also had charge of the so-called work treining camp$e.
Llthough both German and foreign workers could be committed to these camps,
they played a significant role in forcing foreign leborers to work for
the German war effort. In the latter stages of the war as the SS embarked
on & slave labor program of its own, the Gestapo was used to arrest workers
for the purpose of insuring en sdequabte supply in the concentration cemps.

The local offices of the Security Police and 8D were also involved
in the commission of war crimes involving the mistreatment and murder
of prisoners of war, Soviet prisouners of war in prisoner of war camps

in Germeny were screened by Einsatz Kommandos acting under the directions
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of the local Gestepo officess Cormissars, Jcws, nenbers of
the intelligentsia, "fenaticel Comnunists" and even theose whe
were considercd incurably sick were classified as "intolerable",
and extcrninetcde The local officcs of the Scecurity Poliee
and SD were involved in tre enforccnent of tre "Bullet" decrec,
put into effect on March 4, 1944, under which certain
categories of prisoners of war, who werc recaptured, were
nct treeted as prisoners of war but teken to Mauthausen in
secret and srots Menbers of tre Security Policc engigD were
charged with thc enforcenent of tre decree for tre shrooting
of parachutists and commendos,
Conclusion

Tbe'Gcstapo and SD werc uscd for purpceses wrich were
crininal under the Charter involving the persecution and ex-
ternination of the Jews, brutalities and killings in
concentration cenps, excesscs in the administration of
occupied tecrritories, tre administration of tre slavec labor
progran and the nistreatrnent and nurder of prisoncrs of war,
Tre defendant Keltenbrunner, who was a nenber of thris
ocrgenization, was emnong trose wro used it for thresc purposes.
In dealing with tre Gestapo the Tribunal includes &ll
executive and edninistrative officials of Ant IV of thre
RSHL or concerned witr Gestapo administration in other
departnents of tre RSFL and all locel Gestapo officiels
serving botr inside and outside of Germany, including tre
nenbers of t*e Frontier Police, but not including the
nenbers of tre Border and Custons Protection or the
Secret Field Poliece, except suck members as bhave been
spceified above. Lt tre suggestion of tre Prosecution
tre Tribunal does not include persons enployed by the
Gestapo for purely clericel, stenographic, jenitorial

or sinilar unofficizl routine taskss In deacling with thre




RSHA and all other members of the SD; including all local representatives
asnd agents, honorary or otherwise, whether they were technically members
of the SS or not.

The Tribunel declares to be criminal within the meaning of the
Charter the group composed of those members of the Gestapo and SD holding
the positions enumerated in the preceding paragraph who beceme or remained
members of the organization with knowledge thet it was being used for the
commission of acts declared criminal by Article 6 of the Charter, or who
were personally implicated as members of the organization in the commission
of such crimes. The basis for this finding is the participation of the
organization in war crimes and crimes against humenity connected with the
war; this group declared criminal cennot include, therefore, persons who
had ceased to hold the positions enumerated in the preceding peragraph
prior to September 1, 1939,

THE PRESIDENT: The Tribunal will adjourn for ten minutes.

(A recess was teken,)
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30 Sept-GES~-take 26-1

THE PRESIDENT: Owing to o mistake in the text, there are two corrections
which I desire to make on behalf of the Tribunal, The first occurs on Page
149 in the sentence which reads as followss "The Tribunal declares to be
criminal within the meaning of the Cherter the group composed of those members
of the Leadership Corps holding the positions enumerated in the preceding para

" should be omitted and the sentence should con

graph" -- and then the word "or
tinue "who became or remeined members of the organization with knowledge that
it wes being used for the commission of acts declared criminal by Article 6 of
the Charter." That was the first mistake.

The second mistake was on Page 158 in the sentence at the bottom of the
page which reads as follows: "In dealing with the SD the Tribunal includes
Amts III, VI and VII of the RSEA," The translation came through "Amts III, IV
and V."« It should have been Amts III, VI and VII,

Now I will continue the reading of the judgment.

S. S.

Structure and Component Parts: The Prosecution has named Die Schutz-

staffeln Der Nationalsocialistischen Reutschen Arbeiterpartei (commonly known
as the SS) as an orgenizetion which should be declared criminal., The portion
of the Indictment dealing with the SS also includes the Die Sicherheitsdienst
des Reichsfuehrer--3S8 (commonly lmown as the SD). This latter organization,
which was originally an intelligence branch of the 8§, later became an import-
ent part of the organizution of Sesurity Police and SD and is dealt with in th
Tribunal's Judgment on the Gestapo.

The SS was originally established by Hitler in 1925 as an elite section o
the SA for political purposes under the pretext of protecting speakers at pub-
lic meetings of the Nazi Party., After the Nazis had obtained power the S8 was
used to meintain order and control audiences &t mass demonstrations and was
given the additional duty of "internal security" by a decree of the Fuehrer.
S8 played an important role at the time of the Roehm purge of June 30, 1934, ¢

as a reward for its services, was made an independent unit of the Nazi Party



30 Sept-GES-take=-26-2

In 1929 when Himmler was first appointed as Reichs Fuchrer the SS con-
sisted of 280 men who were regarded as especially trustworthy. In 1933 it was
composed of 52,000 men drewn from all walks of lifes The original formation of
the SS was the Allgemeine SS, which by 1939 had grown to a corps of 240,000 mer
orgenized on military lines into divisions and regiments. During the war its
strength declined to well under 40,000,

The SS originally contained two other formetions, the SS Verfuengungstrupj

a force consisting of SS members who volunteered for four years'.
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arncd service in licu of conpulsory servicc witt tre Arny,
end the SS Totcnkopf Verbacnde, special troops employed to
guerd concentration cenps, wrich come under tre control of
the SS in 1934. The SS Verfuengungstruppe wes orgenized as
an arned unit to be amployed witk the LArmy in tre event of
rniobilization., In tre sumner of 1939, ttre Verfuengungstruppe
was equipped as a notorized divisicn to fornm thre nucleus

of tre forccs whrick cane to be known in 1940 as tre Waffen SS.
In that year the Weffen SS conprised 100,000 nen, 56,000
coning fron tre Verfuengungstruppe and tre rest fron thre
Lllecgeneinc S8 =2nd tre Totenkopf Verbeende. At tre end of
the war it is estimated to heve consisted of 2bcut 580,000
nen end 40 divisionse The Waffen SS wes under tre tactical
comnand of tre Arny, but was equipped and supplied trrougt
the adninistrative branches of the S8 and under S8
diseiplinery control,

The SS Central Organization rad 12 nmain offices. The
nost inportent of trese were the RSFA, which has alrezsdy
been discussed, tre WVHL or Econormic Adninistraticn Main
Office wrich adninistered concentration cerps along with
its other duties, 2 Racc and Settlement Office togetber
with Auxilisry offices for repatriation cf recisl Gernens
(Vclksdecutschenittelstelle)s The 8S Centrel Organizetion
2lso rad 2 legal office and tre SS possessed its own legel
systen; 2nd its personnel were under tre jurisdiction of
special courts., #&lso attacked to the SS neiln offices was
& resecarcr forundetion known as the Experincnts Abrnenerbe,
The scientists attackred to tris orgenization are steted te
brave been nainly honorery nermbers cf the SS. During thre
wer an institute for military scicntific researer becene

attached tc tre Arnencrbe wrich conduected extcnsive




experinents involving the use of living bumen beings. &n
enployce of tris institutec was a certzin Dr. Rascher, wro
conducted threse cxperinents with the full knowledge of the
Lrnenerbe, which were subsidized end under tre patronage of
tre Reichsfuerrer SS wro wes 2 trustee of tre foundation.

Beginning in 1933 there wes 2 graduzl but tForcugF anal-
genation of tre police 2nd SS. In 1936 Hirmler, tre Relchs
Fuebrer SS, becenie Crief of the German Police witk suthority
over the regular. uniforned pclice as well as tre Sccurity
Poclice. Finmnlcr establisted & system under whrich Figrer SS
and Pclice Leaders, appointed for each Webrkrels, served as
Pis personel represcntatives in eccrdinating tre ectivities
of the Order Police, Security Police and SD and Allgemeine
SS witbin treir jurisdictions. In 1939 tre SS 2nd police
systemns werec coordinated by taking into tre SS all officials
of the Security and Order Police, at SS ranks equivelent to
trcir rank in tre police.

Until 1940 the SS wes 2an cntircly voluntary orgenizations
After tre formaticn of tre Waffen S8 in 1240 trere wes a
greduelly increrssing nunber of conscripts into the Woffen SS.
It appears that about 2 trird of tre total number of pcople
joining the Waffen SS were ccnscripts, that tre preportion
of conscripts wes righer at t*e end of tre war than at the
beginning, but trat trerc continued to be a riglr properticn
of woluntcers until the end of the war,

Crininal Activitiess ©SS units were active participants

in the steps lcading up to eggressive war, The Verfueng-
ungstruppe was used in trc occupation of the Sudentenland,

of Bohenmie. and Mcravia and of M nel, The Fenlein Frce Corps
was under tre jurisdiction of tre Reichs Fuebrer SS for
operctions in the Sudentenland in 1938 and tre Volksdeutsche-

nittelstelle




financed fifth colunn activities there.

The SS was even a nore general particirant in the
comnission of War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity. Through
its control over the organization of the Police, particular-
1y the Security Police and SD, the SS was involved in all the
crimes which have been outlined in the section of this Judg-
rient dealing with the Gestapo and SD. Other branches of the
S8 were equally involved in these criminel prorrans. There
is evidencc that the shooting of unarmed prisoners of war was
the general practice in some 'Taffen SS divisions. On
October 1, 1944, the custody of prisoncrs of war and interned
persons was transferred to Hirmmler, who in turn transferred
rrisoner of war affairs to SS Obergruppenfuchrer Berger and
to SS Obergruppenfuehrer Pohl. The iace and Scttlenent
Office of the SS together with the Volksdeutschenittelstelle
were active in carrying out schemnes for Gernanization of
occupied territories according to the racial principles of
the Nazl Party and were involved in the deportation of Jews
and other foreign nationals. Units of the Waffen‘SS and Ein-
satzgruppen operating directly under the SS main office were
used to carry out these plans. These units were also involved
in the wicdesprecad murder and ill-treatment of the civilian
population of occupied territories. Under the zsuise of cone-
batting partisan units, units of the SS externinated Jews
and peonle deered politically undesirable by the SS, and
their roports record the execution of enormnous numbers of
norsons. 'affen SS divisions were resnonsible for uany
nassacres and atrocities in occupied territories such as
the massacres at Oradour and Lidice.

Fron 1934Aonwards the SS was responsible for the guord-
ing and administration of concentration canps. The evidence

leaves no doubt that




the consistently brutal treatment of the inmates of con-
centration camps was corried out as a result of the general
policy of the SS, which was that the inmates were racial
inferiors to be treated only with contempt. There is
evidence that where manpower considerations pernitted,
Himmler wanted to rotate guard battalions so that all
nenbers of the SS would be instructed as to the »roper
attitude to take to inferior races. After 1942 when the
concentration canps were placed under the control of the
YVHEA they were used as a source of slave labor. iAn agree-
nent nade with the Ministry of Justice on 18 September
1942 provided that anti-social elenents whe had finished
nrison sentences were to be delivered to the SS to be
worked to death. Stepns were contlinually taken, invelving
the use of thc Sceurity Police and SD and even the Waffen
SS, to insure that the SS had an adequate supply of con=-
centration carmp labor feor its projects. In connection
with the administration of the concentration canps, the
SS embarked on a series of experiments on hunan beings which
were perforned on prisoners of war or concentration carmp
inmetes. These experiments included freezing to death,
and killing by poison bullets. The SS was able to ob-
tain an allocation of Government funds for this lkind of
rescarch on the grounds that they had 2ccess to human
naterial not available to other agencies.

The SS played a particularly significant role in
the persecution of the Jews. The SS was directly in-
volved in the demonstrations of Novenber 10; 1938, The
evacuation of the Jews fron occupnicd territories was
carried out under the directions of the SS with the assis-
tance of SS Police units. The extermination of the Jews

was carried out under the direection



of, the SS central organizations. It was actually put into
effect by SS formations. The Einsétz;ruhﬁen engaged in
wholesale nmassacrces of the Jews, SS police units were also
involved. For example, the massacre of Jews in the Wersaw
Ghetto was carried out under the directions of SS Brigade-
fuehrer and Major General of the Police Stroup. .4 special
group from the SS central organization arranged for the
deportation of Jews from various .xis satcllites and their
externination was carried out in the concentrétion canps
run by the "VHA.

It is innossible to single out any cne nortion of the
S8 which was not involved in these eriminal cctivities, The
Allzemeine SS was an active partiéipant in the persecution
of the Jews and was used as a source of concentration camp
suards. Units of the ™affen SS were directly involved in
the killing of prisoners of war and the atrocities in occupied
countries. It sunnrlied personnel for the Einsatzgruppen,
ané had cormand over the concentration camn guards after
its absorption of the Totenkonf SS, which originnlly con-
trolled the system. Various SS Police units were also
widely used in the atrocitics in occunied countrics and the
extermination of the Jews there. The SS central organization
surervised the activities of these various formations and
was responsible for such snecial nrojects a2s the human
experinents and "final solution" of the Jewish question.

The Tribunal finds that knowledge of these criminal
activities was sufficiently general to justify doeclaring
that the SS was a c¢riminal organization to the extent
hereinafter described. It does annear that an attenpt was

made to keep secret some vhases of its activities, but
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its criminal programs were so widespread, and involved slauchter
on such a gigantic scale, that its crininal activities rmst
have been widely known. It rust be recognized, moreover,
that the erininal activities of the SS followed quite
logically f;om the nrincinles on which it was organizeds
Every effort had been nade to nake the SS a highly dis-
cirlined orgaﬁization cormosed of the elite of Netional
Soclialisn, Hirmler had stated that therc were people in
Gernany "who becone sick when they see these black coats®
and that he did not expect that "they should be loved by
too nany." Hinnler also ihdicated his vicw that the SS was
concerned with pernetuating the elite racial stock with the
object of mrking Europe a Germanic Continent and the SS

was instructed that it was desiyned to assist the Nazi
Government in the ultimate cdomination of Eurone and the
c¢linination of all inferior races. This nystic and fanati-
cal belief in the superiority of the Nordic German developed
into the studied contenpt and even hatred of other races
which led to criminal aetivitics of the ty>e outlined above
being considerad as a matter of course if not a matter of
rride. The actions of 2 soldier in the Waffen SS who in
Sentenmber 1939, acting entirely on his own initiative,
killed fifty Jewish laborers whort he had becn guording,
were described by the statement gt 2as an SS nan, he was
"particularly sensitive to the sight of Jews," and had
acted M"quite thouzhtlessly in a YOuthful spirit of ad-
venture" and a2 sentence of three years imprisonment inposaed
on hin was dropred under an ammesty. Hess wrote with truth
that the "affen SS were more suitablce for the specific
tasks to be solved in occupled territory owing to their

extensive training in questions of rece and nationality.
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Hinmler, in a series of sneeches made in 1943, indicated
his nride in the ability of the SS to carry out these
criminal zcts. He encouraged his nen to be "tough and

ruthless", he spoke of shooting "thousands of lecading Poles"
y & ’

an¢ thanked then for their ccoperation and lack of squeamish-

ness at the sight of hundreds and thousands of corpses of
thelr victims. He extolled ruthlessness in exterminating
the Jewish race and later deseribed this nrocess as "delous-
ing." These speeches chow that the general attitude nre-
vailing; the SS was consistent with these crininal acts.

Conclusions: The SS was utilized for nurposes which

were crininal under the Charter inveolving the »nersecution
and externination of the Jews, brutalities znd killings in
concentration camps, exeesscs in the adninistrction of
occupied territories, the adninistration of the slave labor
nrogran and the nistreatnment and rmurder of nriscners of
war. The defendant Kaltenbrunner wus a nember of the SS
inplicated in these activities. In dealing with the SS
the Tribunal includes all persons who has becn officially
accenpted as menbers of the S including the nenbers of
the Allgemeine SS, nembers of the Taffen SS, members of the
SS %Totznkonf Verbaende and the rcrbers of any of the
differcnt police forces who were renbers of the SS. The
Tribunnl does nct include the so-called SS riding units.
The Sicherheitsdienst des Lleichsfuchrer SS (cornonly known
as the SD) is dealt with in the Tribunal's Judgnent cn the
Gestapo and SD.

The Tribunal declares to be erininal within the mean-
ing of the Charter the group composed of those persons
who had been officially accepted as nembers of the SS as

enunerated in the preceding naragraph who became or
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renained nembers of the organization with knowledge that it was being used

for the cormission of acts declared eriminal by irticle 6 of the Chartery or
who were personally implicated as nmembers of the organization in the commission
of such crines, excluding! however, those who were drafted into nerbership by
the State in such a way as to give them no choice in the matter, and who had
corrritted no such crimes. The basis of this finding is the par ticipation of
the organization in war crimes and crimes against humanity conneccted with the
War; this group declared criminal cannot include, therefore, persons who had
ceased to belong to the organizations enumerated in the preceding paragraph

prior to September 1, 1939.
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THE SA

Structure and Component Parts: The prosecution has
named Die Sturmabteilungen der Netionalsozialistischen
Deutschen Arbeiterpartei (commonly known £s the S4) as an
organization which should be declered crininal, The SA
was founded in 1921 for »nolitical »urposes. It was orw-
ganized on military lines. 1Its members wore their own
uniforms and had their own discipline oand regulations.
After the Nazis had obtzined nower the SA greotly in-
creased in membershio dve to the incorporation within it
of certein veterens orgenizations. In April 1933, the
Stahlhelm, an organization of ocne 2nd a half million
members, wes tronsferred into the SA, with the excention
of its members over 45lyears of age &nd some others, nursuant
to an agreement between their leeder Seldte and Eitler.
Inother veterens organization, the so-cslled Kyffhauser-
bund, was transferred in the same manner, together with a
number of rural riding orgarizations.

Until 1932, there is no question but thst membership
in the SA&A wes voluntery. &fter 1933 civil servents were
under certain »noliticel and economic nressure to jein the
SA. llembers of the Stzhlhelm, the Xyffhauserbund end the
rurel riding 2ssccistions were transferred into the S4&
without their knowledge but the Tribuncl is not satisfied
that the members in general endeavored to protest against
this transfer or thot there wos any evidence, excent in
isolated cases, cf the consequences of refusal, The
Tribunal therefore finds thot membership in the S4 was
generally voluntery.

By the end of 1933 the SA was comnosed of four and
2 half million men. 4s & result of changes made after 1934,

in 1939 the A mumbered one and @ helf million men.




30 Septe JP=Take 27

i

sctivities: In the early days of the Nazi novenent
the stornm troopers of the 8. acted as the "strong arm of the Party',
They took part in the beer hall feuds and were used for strect fighting
in battles against political opponents. The Si'was also used to dissecri-

nate Nazi ideology and propaganda and placed particular eripphasis on

anti-Senitie propaganday the doetrine of "Lebensreun", the rovision of
the Versaille Treaty and the return of Germany's colonies,

Lfter the Nazi advent to power, and particularly aftcr_the elections
of March 5, 1933, the Sa played an important rolc in establishing
a Nazi reign of terror over Gernany. The Si was involved in outbresks
of violence against the Jews and was used to arrest political opponents
and to guard concentration camps, where they subjected their prisoncrs
to brutal nmistreatmente

On June 30th and July lst and 2nd, 193}, a purge of Si leaders oc=
curede The pretcxt which was given for this purge, which involved the
killing of Roehin, the Chief of Staff.of the Sk, and many other Sh leaders,
was the existence of a plot 2gainst Hitlere. Thispurge resulted in a
great reduction in the influence and power of the Si, After 1934, it
rapidly declined in political significance.

After 1934 the Si engaged in certain forms of military or para-ni-
litary training. The SL continued to engage in the dissenination of Nazi

propaganda. Isolated units of the Sis were even involved in the steps

leading up to aggressive war and in the corrission of War Crines and

Crimes against Huranity. Si units were aiong the first in the occupation
of isustria in March 1938 The Si supplied many of the men and a large
part of the equipnent which composed the Sudeten Free Corps of Hemlein,

although




it appears that the corps was under the jurisdiction of
SE during its operation in Czechoslovakia.

After the occupaticn of Poland, the SA greup Sudeten
was used for transporting orisoners of war. Units of the
SA were emnloyed in the guerding of prisoners in Danzig,
Posen, Silesis 2nd the Baltiec states.

Some SA units were used te blovw up synagogues in the
Jewish pogrom of the 10th end 11th of November 1938. Gronps
of the SA were concerned in the ill-treatment of Jews in

-

the Ghettos ef Vilne and Kavnas.

Conclusion

Up until the nurge beginning on June 30, 1934, the S&
was a grovp comnosed in large part of ruffians and bullies
who narticipatcd in the Mazi eutrages of thet pericd. It
has not been shown, however, thet these atrocities were
pert of a specific plan tc wagec aggressive wer, and the
Tribunal therefore ecennot hold that these rctivities were
crininal under the Charter. After the nurge, the S& was
reduced to thc status of 2 group of unimportent Nazi
hangers-on. Although in specifie instances some nunits of
the SA were used for the commission of Wer Crimes and
Crimes against Humianity, 1t cannot be said thrt its members
generally perticipated in or even knew of the eriminal acts.
For these reasons the Tribumal does neot daclare the S4 to
be a criminal orgenization within the meaning of Article 9

o: Lthe Charter.
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THE REICH CABINET

The pnroseccution hes named 2s a criminal organization
trc Relch C:zbinet (Die Rcichsragierung) consisting of members
of the ordinary cebinet after Jennary 30, 1933, members of
the Council of Ministers for the defense of the Reich and
members .of the Secret Cabinet Council. The Tribunel is of
cpinicn that nc declaration of eriminality shold be made
with respect to the Reich Cibinect for two reasons: (1) be-
cause it is not shown that after 1937 it ever really acted
as a group or organizationy (2) because the group of perscns
kere charged is so small thot members could be converiently
tried in nroper cases without rescrt to 2 declaration that
the Ccbinet of which they were members was criminal.

4s to the first reascn for our decision, it is to be
observed thet from the time thet it ean he said that a
conspiracy to make aggressive war existed the Reich Cebinet
did not constitute a governing body, but was merely en
aggregetion of administrative officers subject to the
absolute control of Hitler., Nct 2 single meeting of the
Reich C-"inet was held after 1937, but lows were nrcrnulgated
in the neme of cne or more of the cebinet members. The
Secret Cabinet Council never met ot 2ll. A number of the
cabinet members were undrubtedly involved in the conspiracy
to meke aggressive war; but they were involved as individuals,
end there is no evidence that the cebinet 2s 2 group of or-
genization tock any nart in these crimes. It will be
remembered that when Hitler disclosed his aims of criminal
aggression at the Hoszbach Conference, the disclosure was

not made before the cebinet and that the ecbinet
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was not consulted with regard to it, but, on the contrary, that
it was mcde secretly te 2 small group unon whom Hitler would
nceessarily rely in carrying on the war, Likewise no cabinet
order anthorized the invesion of Poland. On the contrary, &he
defendant Schacht testifics that he sought to stop the in-
vesion by a plea to the Crmmonder-in-Chicf of the frmy that
Hitler's crder was in violetion of the Censtitution because

not authorized by the ccbinet.

e 1t dees appecr, hewever, that varicus laws autherizing
acts which wecre criminal under the Charter were cirenlated
ameng the members of the Reich Csbinet and issued under its
authority signcd by the members whose denortments were con-
cerned. This does not,; however, orove thet the Reich
Cabinet, after 1937, ever really seted a2s an organization.

&8s ©o the seccond reascn, It dis eclear that those members
of the Feich Crbinct who have been guilty of cerimes should be
brought te triel; and 2 nmumber of them are now on triel before
the Tribunsl. It is estimcted thot there cre 48 members of
the group, thot eight of these are dead znd seventeen ore now
on trial, leaving only 23 ¢t the mest, #s tc whom the declars—
ticn cculd have any importonce. Any cthers whe are guilty
should 21sc be breugkt to trial; but nothing would be
gcecomplished to expedite or faocilitote their trials by
declaring the Recich Csbinect to be 2 eriminal corgrrization,
Yhere an crgenization with 2 large membership is used for
such purnoses, & declorstion obwviates the necessity of in-
guiring as to its eriminal cheraecter in the later trisl of
members who arce accuscd of norticipoting through nembership
in its criminal pufncscs and thus ssves much time and trouble,
There is no such advantage in the case of 2 small group

1ike the Reich Crbinet,




GENERAL STLFF AND HIGE COIZIIAND

The presecution h?s\also asked that the General Staff and
High Command of the German frmed Forces be declared 2 criminal
organization., The Tribunal believes that nc declaraticn of
criminality should be made with rcspect to the General Staff
and High Command. The number of perscns observed while larger
than that of the Reich Cobinet, is still sc small that in-
dividual trials’cf these officers would accrm;lish the nurnose
here sought better than 2 declaraticn such as/iequested. But
& more compelling reascn is thot in the copinion of the Tribunal
the Generel Stzff and High Commend is neither an "orgenization"
nor a "group" within the meaning of those terms as used in
Article 9 of the Charter.

Some comment on the neture of this alleged group is re-
quisite. Lccording to the Iﬁdictmmnt and evidence before the
Tribunal, it consists of apnroximetely 130 officers, living
and dead, who a2t any time during the nericd from Fcbruary
1938, when Hitler reorgenized the armed Foreces, and MNay
1945, when Germany surrendered, held certain vesiticns in the
militery hicrarchy. These men were high-ranking officers in
the three armed servicess OKH - !rmy, OKi - Navy, cnd OXL -
Lir Force. Above them was the overcll armed foreces authority,
OKW- High Command of the German [/rmed Eﬁrces with Hitler as
the Supreme Commander., The Officers in/gKW, including de-
fendant Keitel 2s Chief of the High Command, were in & sense
Hitler's perscnal staff. In the learger sense they cocordinated
and directed the three services, with particular emphosis
cn the functicns of planning and operaticns,

The individual officers in this 2lleged group were, at

cne time or ancther, in cne ©f four cetegoriess 1) Cemmen-

ders-in-Chief of cne of the

Ll



three servicesy 2) Chief of Staff of cne of thc three ser-
viecesy 3) "Oberbefchlshabers", the field commenders-in-

chief of cne of the three serwviees, which cf course comprised

ct

by for the largcst number of these perscnsy cr 4) an OK7W
officer, of which there were three, defendants Keitel and

Jodl, ond the latter's Deputy Chief, Warliment. This is the
neaning of the Indictment in its use of the term "Gecnersl Staff
and High Command".

The Prosecution hes here drawn the line. The Prosecution
dces not indiect the next level of the militorv hierarchy con-
sisting of commenders of army corps, and eguivalent ranks in
the Navy nnd 4ir Forece, nor the level below, the divisicn
commanders or their equivelent in the cther branches. &nd
the staff officers of the four staff commends of OKW, OKEH,
0Kl, 2nd OKL are not included, nor are the trained snecieclists
whe were customerily celled General Steff Officers.

In efféct, then, those indicted as members are milltary
leaders of the Reich of the highest rank. No sericus effort
was made to assert that they composed an "orgenization® in
the sense of &Lrticle 9, The assertion is rother thet they
were 2 “group", which is a wider and more embracing term
than "organizetion."

The Tribunal doecs not so find., According to the evi-
dence, their planning at staff level, the constznt confer-
cnces between stoff officers ond field comnenders, their
cneraticnal technique in the field ond 2t headguarters
ras much the same =2s thet of the armies, navies and air
forces of all cther countries. The cverall effort of OKW
at coordination and direction cculd be matehed by a similar,
though not identiecal form of organigzetion in cther military

forces, such as the Anglo-American Combined Chiefs of Staff,
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To derive frem this pattern of their activities the
existence of zn associaticn or group does not, in the opinlon
| of the Pribunal, logicolly follew, On such a2 theory the tap
cormmanders of e very other neticn are just such an associa-
tion rather than what they actmally are, an aggregation of
nilitery men, a number of individuals whc hapnen a2t a
given pneriod of time to hold the high-ranking military

csitions.

e

Much of the evidence and thé argument has centered
around the question of whether mcmbership in thesc orgoni-
zations was or was not woluntarys in this crsé, it seens
to the Tribunal to be quite beside the point. For this
alleged criminel orgenizetiocn has cne characteristie, 2
centreolling cne, which sherply distinguishes it from the
other five indicted, When 2n individuvual beeccme & member
of the €S for instznce; he did so, voluntarily or other-
wise, but certainly with the knowledge thet he was joining

something. In the cese of the General Sg?ff and High Command,

Q

however, he could nct know he was joining a grcup or orgeni-

)

zatlon for such orgearnizotion did not exist except in the
cherge of the Indietment. He knew conly thot he had
2chieved o ccrfain high rank in one of the three services,
end could not be conscious of the fret that he wes be-

coming ¢ member of anything sc tangible &s a Y“grecup", as

ct

hat word is commonly used. His reclaticns with his brother
officers in his own brench of the service and his asso-
ciaticn with those of the cther two bronches werc, in
generel, like those of cther services all over the world,

The Tribunal thercfore does nct declare the General
Staff and High Commend to be 2 eriminnl organizeticn.

Although the Tribunal is of the oninion that the term

"group" in Article 9 must mean something mcre then this



officers, it has heard rmuch cvidence as to the perticipation of these
of ficers in planning and waging aggressive war, and in cormitting war
ecrines and crines against humenity. This evidence is, as to many of
therm, clear and convincing,

They have been responsible in large neasure for the niseries and
suffering that have fallen on millions of men, wonen and children. They
heve beecn a disgracc to the honorable profession of armse Without their
nilitary guidance the aggressive ambitions of Hitler and his fellow Nazis
would have been acadenic and steriles 4Although they werc not a group
falling within the words of the Charter, they were certainly a ruthless
military castee The conterporary Gerrman nmilitarisn flourished briefly
with its recent ally, National Socialism, as well as or better than it
had in the generations of the paste

Meny of these men have made a nockery of the soldicr's oath of
obedience to military orderse. When it suits their defense they say
they had to obey; when confronted with Hitler's brutal crimes, which
are shown to have been within their general knowledge, they say they
disobeyed. The truth is they actively participated in all these crines,
or sat silent and acquiescent, witnessing the cormaission of crines on a
scale larger and nore shocking than the world has ever had the nisfartune
to knows This mst be saids

Wherc the facts warrant it, these men should be brought to trial
so that those among then who are guilty of these crimes should not
escape punishrient.

The Tribunal will sit tomorrow at 9330 4.4, , and the Tribunal will
now adjourns

(The Tribunal adjourned until 093¢ hours, 1 October 1946.)




Official Transcript of the International Military
Tribunal in the matter of The United States of

Amer

ica, the French Republic, the United Kingdom

of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, and the
Union of Soviet Socialist Republics against
Hermann Wilhelm CGoering, et al Defendants, sitting
at Nurnberg, Germany, on 1 October 1946, 0930-1700,
Lord Justice Lawrence presiding.

THE

PRESIDENT: There is a correction which the Tribunal

wishes to make in the judgment pronounced yesterday at pare

159, with reference to the SD.

The
that the
who were

who were

Tribunal's attention has been drawn to the fact
Prosecution expressly excluded honorary informers
not members of the SS, and members of the Abwehr

transferred to the SD. In view of that exclusion

by the Prosecution, the Tribunal also excludes those persons

from the

SD which was declared criminal.
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Article 26 of the Charter provides th! the Judgmént

of the Tribunal as to the guilt or innocence of any defendant
shall give the reasons on which it is based.

The Tribunal will now state those reasons in declaring
its Judgment on such guilt or innocence.

The defendant Goering: ‘

Goering is indicted on all four counts. The evidence
shows that after Hitler he was the most prominent man in
the Nazi Regime. He was Commander-in-Chief of the Luftwaffe,
Plenipotentiary for the Four Year Plan, and had tremendous
- influence with Hitler, at least until 1943 when their relation-
ship deteriorated, ending in his arrest in 1945. He tes-
tified that Hitler kept hir informed of all important military
and political problems.

Crimes against Peace

From the moment he joined the Party in 1922 and took
command of the streetfighting organization, the SA, Coering
was the adviser, the active agent of Fitler and one of the
prime leaders of the Nazi movement. As Fitler's political
deputy he was largely instrumental in bringing the National
Socialists to power in 1933, and was charged with consolidat-
ing this power and expanding German armed might. He developed
the Gestapo, and created the first concentration camps,
relinquishing them to Himmler in 1934, conducting the Roehm
purge in that year, and engineered the sordid proceedings
which resulted in the removal of von Blomberg and von Fritsch
from the Army. In 1936 he became Plenipotentiary for the
Four Year Plan, and in theory and in practice was the economic
dictator of the Reich. Shortly after the Pact of Munich,
he announced tﬁat he would embark on a five-fold expansion
of the Luftwaffe, énd speed rearmament with emphasis on
offensive weapons.

Coering was one of the five important leaders present

at the Hoszbach Conference of 5 November 1937, and he
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already discussed in this judgment. In the Austrian Anschluss, ke was
indeed the central figure, the ringleader. Fe szid in Court: "I must

take 100% responsibility ... I even overruled ebjections by the Fuehrer

and brought everything te its final develorment." In the seizure of the
Sudetenland, he played his role as Luftwaffe chief by planning an air
offernsive which proved vnnecessary, and his rele as a politician by lulling
the Czechs with false promises of friendship. The night before the
invasion of Czechoslovakia and the absorption of 3ohemia and Moravia, at

a conference with Fitler and Tresident Facha he threatened to bomb Prague
if Hacha did not submit, This threat he admitted inm his testimony.

Geering attended the Reich Chancellery meeting of 23 May 1939 when
Hitler teld his military leaders "there is, therefore, no questinn of
sparing Poland," and was present at the Cbersalzburg briefing of 22 August
1939, And the evidence chows he was active in the dipdomatic maneuvers
which fellowed. With Hitler's connivance, he used the Swedish businessman,
Dahlerus, as a go—-between to the Sritish, as described by Dahlerus to this
Tribunal, to try to prevent the =ritish Governmment from keening its
guarantee to the Poles.

Fe commanded the Iuftwaffe in the attack on Poland and throughout
the aggressive wars which followed,

Even if he opmwosed Hitler's planms agsinst NMorway and the Soviet
Union, as he zlleged, it is clear that he did so only for strategic
reasons; once Hitler had decided the issue, he followed him without
hesitation. He made it clear in his testimony that these differences
were never ideological or kegel, EHe was "in a rage! about the

invasion of Terway, but only because




he had not received sufficient warning to prepare the
Luftwaffe offensive, He admitted he approved of the

attack: "Iy attitude was perfectly positive." He was
active in preparing and executing the Yugoslavian and Greek
campaigns, and testified that "Plan Marita," the attack on
Greece, had been prepared long beforehand. The Soviet Union
he regarded as the "most threatening menace to Germany," but
said there was no immediate military necessity for the attack,
Indeed, his only objection to the war of aggression against
the USSR was its timing; he wished for strategic reasons to
delay until Britain was conquered. He testified: "My

point of view was decided by political and military reasons
only."

After his own admissions to this Tribunal, from the
positions which he held, the conferences he attended, and the
public words he uttered, there can remain no doubt that
Goering was the moving force for aggressive war second only
to Hitler. He was the planner and prime mover in the military
and diplomatic preparation for war which Germany pursued.

Wiar Crimes and Crimes against Humanity

The record is filled with Goering's admissions of his
complicity in the use of slave labor. "We did use this labor
for security reasons so that they would not be active in
their own country and would not work against us. On the
other hand, they served to help in the economic war." And
again: "Workers were forced to come to the Reich. That is
something I have not denied." The man who spoke these words
was Plenipotentiary for the Four Year Plan charged with the
recrultment and allocation of manpower. As Luftwaffe Commander
in-Chief he demanded from Himmler more slave laborers for his
underground aircraft factories: "That I requested inmates of
concentration camps for the armament of the Luftwaffe is

correct and it is to be taken as a matter of course."




As Plenipotentiary, Goering signed a directive concerning the
treatment 6f Polish workers in Germany aﬁ&“implemented it by regulations
of the SP, including "Special treatment.? He issued directives %o use
Soviet and French prisoners of war in the armament industry; he spoke of
seizing Poles and Dutch and making them prisoners of war if necessary,
and using them for work. He agrees Russian prisoners of war were used
to man anti-aircraft batteries.

as Plenipotentiary, Goering was the active authority in the

Spoliation of conqﬁefed territory. He madé plans for the spoliation of
Soviet territory long before the war on thé Soviet Union., Two months
prior to the in%asion of the Soviet Union, Hitler gave Goering the overall
direction for the economic administration in the territory. Goering set
up an economic staff for this function. As Reichsmarshal of the Greater
German Reich,Ythe orders of the Reich Marshal cover all ecornomic fields,
ireluding nutrition and agriculture." FHis so-called "Green®" folder,
printed by the Wehrmacht, set up an "Bconomic Executive Staff, East.”
This directive contemplated plundering and abandonment of all industry
in the food deficit regions and, from the food surplus regions, a
diversion of food to German needs. Goering claims its purposes have been
misunderstood but admits "that as a matter of course and s matter of duty
we would have used Russia for our purposes,” when conguered.

~nd he participated in the conference of 16 July 1941 when Hitler
said the National Socialists had no intention of ever leaving the occunied
countries, and "all necessary measures - shooting, desettling, etc.,-"
should be taken.

Goering persecuted the Jews, particularly after the November 1938

riots, and not only in Germany where he raised the billion mark fine
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as stated elsewhere, but in the pdnquered territoris as well. His own
utterange then and his testimony now SHOWS this interest was orimarily
economic ~— how to get their property and how to foree them out of the
eoononmic. life of Burcpe. 4As these countries fell before the Germany Army, he
extended the Reich's anti-Jewish laws tc them; the Reichsgesetzblatt for 1939,
1040 and 1941 contains several anti-Jewish decfees signed by Goering. A4l-
tiough their extermination was in Himler's hands, Goering was far from dis-
interested or inactive, despite his protestations in the witness bex. By
decree of 41 July 1931 he directed Himler and Heydrich to bring "ebout a com
plete soluticn of the Jewish question in the Germen sphere cf influence in
Burope. "

There is nothing to be said in mitigation. JFor Goering was .often,
indeed almost always, the moving force,seécond cnly to his leader, He was the
leading war aggressor, both a8 politicel and as military leader; he was the
director of the slave lsbor progrem and the creator of the oppreséive programme
against the Jews and other races, at home and abroad., A4ll of these crimes he
has frankly admitted. On some specific cases there may be conflict of testi-
mony but in terms of the broad outline, his own admissions are more than suffi-
eiently wide to be conclusive of his guiit., His guilt is unique in its en-

ormity. The record discbses no excuses for this man,
Conclusion

The Tribunal finds the defendant Goering guilty on all four counts of

the Indictment.
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MAJCR GEVZRAL IMIXITCEENXO:

IESS

Hess is indietéd under all four counts. He joined the Nazi Party
in 1920 and participated in the Munich Putch on November 9, 1923. EHe
was imprisoned with Hitler in the Landsherg fortress in 1924 and became
Hitler's closest personal confidant a relationship which lasted until
Hess! flight to the British Isles. Cn April 21, 1933, he was appointed
Deputy to the Fuehrer, and on December 1, 1933, was made Reichs Minister
without Portfolio. Ee was appointed Member of the Secret Cabinet Council
on February 4, 1938, and a member »f the Ministerial Council for the
Defense of the Reich on August 30, 1939, In September 1939, Hess
was officially announced by Hitler as successor designate to the Fuehrer

after Goering. On May 10, 1941, he flew from Germany to Scotland.

Crimes agalnst Peace

As Deputy to the Fushrer, Hess was the top man in the Nazi Party
with responsibility for handling all Party matters, and authority ‘to
meke decisions in Hitler's name on all questions of Party leadership.
As Reichs Minister without Portfolio he had the authority to aporove
all legislation suggested by the different Reichs lMinisters befsre it
cculd be enacted as law, In these positions, EHess was an active sup-
porter of preparations for war. FEis signature arpears on the law of
March 16, 1935, establishing compulsory military service. Throughout
the years he supoorted Hitler's policy of vigohrous rearmament in many
speeches, He told the people that they must sacrifice for armaments,
repeating the phrase, "Guns instead of butter.¥ It is true that bve-
tween 1933 and 1937 Eess made specches in which he expressed a desire

for peach and advocated




e . '

international economic cooperation. 2ut nothing which they contained
can alter the fact that of all the defendants none knew bettsér than
Zess how determined Fitler was to realize his ambitions, how fanatical
and violmnt a man he was, and how little liksly he was to refrain from
resnrt to foree, if this was the only way in which he could achieve
his aims,

Hess was an informed and willing participant in German aggres-
sion against Austria, Czechoslovakia and Poland., Fe was in touch with
the illegal Nazi Party in Anstria throughout the entire perind between
the murder of Dollfuss and the Anschluss, and gave instructions to it
during that period. Hess was in Vienna on March 12, 1938, when the Ger-
man troops moved in; and on March 13, 1938, he signed the law for the
Reunion of Austria within the German Reich. A law of June 10, 1939,
provided for his participation in the administration of Austria. On
July 24, 1938, he made a speech in commemoration of the unsuccessful
putsch by Austrian National Socialists which had been attempted four

l years before, praising the steps leading up to Anechluss and defending
the occupation of Austria by Germany.

In the summer of 1938 Hess wae in active touch with EHenlein,
Chief of the Sudeten German Party in Czechoslovakia. ©On September 27,
1938, at the time of the Munich crisis, he arranged with Xeitel to
carry out the instructinné of Hitler to make the machinery of the
kazi Party available for a secret mobilization. On April 14, 1939,
Eess signed a decree setting up the government nf the Sudesdenland as
an integral part of the Reich; and an ordinance of June 10, 1939,
provided for his participhtion in the administration of the Sudeter-
land., On Fypvember 7, 1938, Hess absorbed Henlein's Sudeten German

Party into the Wazi Party,



and made a speech in which he emphasized that Hitler had been prepared
to resort to war if this had been necessary to acquire the Sudetenland.

On August 27, 1939, when the attack on Poland had been temporarily
postponed in an attempt to induce Great Britain to gbandon its guarantee
to Poland, Hess publicly praised Eitler's "magnanimous offer® to Poland,
and attacked Poland for agitating for war and England for being re-
sponsible for Polandl's attitude. After the invasion of Poland Hess
signed decrees incorporating Danzig and certain Polish territories into
the Reich, and setting up the General Government (Poland).

These specific steps which this defendant took in supvort of
Hitler's plans for aggressive action do not indicate the full extent of
his responsibility. . Until his flight to England, Hess was Eitler's
closest personal confidant. = Thefr relationship was such that Hess must
have been informed of Hitler!s aggressive plans when they came into
existence. And he took action to carry out these plans whenever action
was necessary.

With him on his flight to England, Hess carried certain peace
proposals which he alleged Hitler was prepared to accept. It is sig-
nificent to note that this flight took place only ten days after the
date on which Hitler fixed June 22, 1941, as the time for attacking
the Soviet Union. 1In conversations carried on after his arrival in
Ingland Hess wholeheartedly supnorted all Germany's aggressive actions
up to that time, and attempted to Justify Germany's action in connection
with Austria, Czechoslovakia, Poland, Norway, Denmark, Belgium and

the Netherlands. He blamed England and France for the war.



War Crimes and Jrimes ageinst Pumenity

There is evidence showing the participation of ‘the Party Chancel-
lery, under Hess, in the distribution of orders connected with the com-
mission of war crimes; that Eess mey rave had knowledge of even if he
did not participate in the crimes that?gsfng committed in the East,
and proposed laws discriminating against Jews and Peles; and
that he signed decre=s forcing certain groups of Foles to accept German
citizenship. The Tribunel, however, does not find that the evidence
sufficiently connects Hess with these crimes to sustain 2 finding of
guilt.

As previously indicated the Tribunal found, after a full medical
examination of and report on the condition of this defendant, that he
should be tried, without any posiporement of his case. Since that time
further motions have »een made that he should again be examined. These
the Tribunal denied, after :aving had a renori from the prison psy-
chologist, That Hess acts in an abmorrael manner, suffers from loss of
memory, and has mentally debseriorated during this trial, may be true.
But there is nothing to show that he dnes not realize the nature of the
charges against him, or is incapalle of defending himself. He was
ably repressnted at the trial by counsel. avpointad for that purpose
by the Tribural. There is no sugzestioxn that Hess was nob comple tely sane

when the acts charged against him were committed.

Conclusion
The Tribunal finds the defendant Hess guilty on Counts One and

Two; and rot guilty ¢a Counts Three and Four.




